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GROUP AT A GLANCE

INTEGRATED
CAPABILITIES

Data Marketing

Database management
Data analysis
Data insight

Campaign management
Data intelligence
List & media planning
Media sales
Campaign delivery

Marketing Services

Field Marketing

Field sales services
Trade marketing
Sales training
Interim management

Consultancy Services

Customer insight consultants
Market research & analysis

Retail strategy
Investor services 

Digital Marketing

Strategy & creative services
Design & build 
Digital commerce & technology 
Integrated communications 
Global implementation & support

Design
Development
Search engine optimisation
Social media
Pay per click
Web analytics
Digital consultancy
Training
Events

Books

Monochrome books
Distribution
Logistics
Print on demand
Inventory management

Print Services

Direct Response

Outsourcing
Vendor management
Print management

Direct mail
Digital print
Personalisation
Commercial print

Point of Sale

Retail & brand POS
Store audits
Logistics
Digital screen media

Exhibitions & Events

Visual consultancy
Graphics production
Giant media
Outdoor graphics
Exhibition & events
Display products
Sports & sponsorship branding

Key Performance Indicators

At the heart of current and future success of the business  
is evaluating the Key Performance Indicators, allowing us  
to measure and manage each segment against expectations.  
Each year targets are set and monitored to ensure we continue to 
build on our success to date. These can be found on pages 2 and 
7 for the Group, page 8 for Marketing Services, and page 9 for 
Print Services.

http://www.occam-dm.com/
http://www.st-ives.co.uk/publisher_services
http://www.branded3.com/
http://www.incite.ws/
http://www.amaze.com/
http://www.tactical-solutions.co.uk/
http://www.responseone.co.uk/
http://www.pragmauk.com/home
http://www.servicegraphics.co.uk/
http://www.spgroup.co.uk/
http://www.st-ives.co.uk/about_st_ives/group_companies/472_sims


Figures represent contribution to 
the Group’s underlying revenue

GROUP STRUCTURE

How we operate

Our business operates in two distinct markets: Marketing and 
Publishing Solutions. Other than Clays, our Books business,  
all other businesses serve the Marketing Solutions market.

How we manage

We manage our business as two segments: Marketing Services, 
which is growth focused, and Print Services, which is primarily 
efficiency focused. 

St Ives’ growth strategy aims to develop its sector specific 
propositions by cultivating a range of services and a toolbox  
of delivery capabilities.
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£7.7m

22%
£69.3m

10%
£30.8m

26%
£81.6m

22%
£71.3m

9%
£27.1m

5%
£16.8m

2%

4%
£12.4m

http://www.st-ives.co.uk/
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6.4

* Before non-underlying items which comprise restructuring costs, provision releases, operating 
results of non-continuing sites, net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, acquisition 
costs, consideration required to be treated as remuneration, amortisation of acquired intangibles 
and other one-off items.

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on 
contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination services.

Financial Highlights
Underlying* 
revenue 

£317.0m

6.50
5.75

Total dividends 
per share

6.50p

2012 2013

Underlying*  
profit before tax 

£26.8m

317.0327.4

2012 2013

26.8
24.2

2012 2013

Profit  
before tax 

£7.1m
7.1

2012** 2013

16.93
15.61

Underlying*  
basic earnings 
per share

16.93p

2012 2013

Basic earnings  
per share 

4.73p

4.31
4.73

2012** 2013

Operational Highlights
Marketing Services now accounts for approximately 35% of Group 
Operating Profit including profit from acquisitions made during the 
year on an annualised basis.

Marketing Services Operating Profit of £7.6m is more than the 
Operating Profit of the entire Group in 2009.

Acquisitions of Amaze and Branded3 further enhanced the Group’s 
Marketing Services’ digital offering.

International expansion of Marketing Services into New York and 
Singapore in response to existing client demand.

Disposal of St Ives Direct Bradford Limited effectively completes  
exit from non-core printing.
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By focusing on customer service, and by working 
together, St Ives offers a unique combination of 
solutions for the marketing and publishing sectors.
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Good corporate governance 

During the recent period of growth 
and development, we have ensured 
that St Ives adheres to good 
corporate governance. In particular, 
we have good mechanisms for 
identifying and prioritising risk. 
Another core corporate governance 
discipline is to integrate new 
businesses into our robust financial 
system within three months of 
acquisition. We also recognise the 
need to manage people and talent 
for the future.

Given the progress in managing our 
transition away from commoditised 
print services, the Board took 
the opportunity to review Board 
composition. Lloyd Wigglesworth 
stepped down as a Director at 
the end of June and will leave the 
Group at the end of October. Lloyd 
served successfully on the executive 
Board since 2009. We now have 
a smaller executive management 
team that sees all businesses 
report to Patrick Martell, our Chief 
Executive, or Matt Armitage, our 
Chief Financial Officer and Group 
Managing Director – Marketing 
Services. We expect this to yield 
enhanced effectiveness as well  
as cost savings.

Tony Stuart reluctantly stood down 
as a Director during the year, 
for personal reasons. His strong 
corporate finance background was 
of great value to the Group since he 
became a Director in January 2011 
and we regret he was unable to 
serve for a longer period. We wish 
Lloyd Wigglesworth and Tony Stuart 
the very best for the future. 

We were very fortunate to be able 
to replace Tony Stuart with Ben 
Gordon, who joined the Board in 
July 2013. Ben spent nine years as 
CEO of Mothercare plc until 2011 
and also held senior retail roles 
with Disney Store, WHSmith Group 
and L’Oréal. Ben’s extensive retail, 
brand and digital experience will be 
invaluable to the Board. 

Strategic realignment 
continues 

After three years of strategic 
realignment of our business, 
we have built complementary 
marketing services capabilities and 
exited commoditised parts of the 
print market. Our remaining print 
operations are a key component 
of the overall business and St Ives 
remains a market leader in the print 
market sectors in which it chooses 
to operate.

After another successful year,  
I remain impressed by the quality 
of our new businesses. We have 
a number of people who are 
recognised leaders and opinion 
formers within their own area of 
expertise. 

Having examined the Group’s 
recent progress, our future aim  
is to combine selective organic 
growth with further acquisitions. 
I believe we can extend the 
operations both vertically and 
horizontally. Future acquisitions 
will either broaden our business 
portfolio or add depth to an existing 
business stream. We will invest 
in organic growth by recruiting 
high quality people that have the 
skills and experience to take our 
businesses forward. We will also 
consider expanding into new 
geographic territories, where  
this is justified by client demand. 

I believe there is now good 
understanding of St Ives’ strategic 
direction and future potential. 
St Ives has improved underlying 
operating profit and proved that 
it can change the shape of the 
business. We have a history of 
supporting the growth of the 
companies we acquire and are 
successfully accommodating 
the different cultures of these 
businesses. We have built good 
relationships right across our 
customer base.

New acquisitions 

During the year, we completed  
two important acquisitions.  
In March 2013, we agreed  
to acquire Amaze plc (Amaze), 
a leading digital marketing and 
technology consultancy. In May, 
we acquired Branded3 Search Ltd 
(Branded3), a leading search engine 
optimisation and digital marketing 
agency. These acquisitions 
continue our strategy to create a 
complementary range of digital and 
marketing services that will enable 
the Group to add further value to 
existing and new clients.

As the Group grows, our policy is 
to delegate certain responsibilities 
to each business, giving newly 
acquired operations the freedom  
to develop. Our role at the centre is 
to set the right climate, understand 
where key synergies lie and ensure 
there is a consistent and supportive 
corporate governance overlay. 

The power of the Group continues 
to require collaboration across our 
businesses. Given the Group’s 
recent growth, we began our 
2013/2014 financial year with a 
revised incentivisation framework 
that rewards collaboration 
among our business leaders, 
without setting specific business 
development targets. This approach 
has the strong support of all of our 
Group Managing Directors.

Our Group was founded as a print 
business and, while we have exited 
some print sectors, we regard our 
remaining print interests as being 
integral to delivering marketing 
services in their broadest sense. 
Clients are increasingly consulting 
with us on how best to use print 
within the marketing mix.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ANOTHER YEAR 
OF GROWTH

6.50

5.25
5.75

Group total dividends  
per share (p)

6.50p

2011 2012 2013

16.93

14.45
15.61

Group underlying earnings  
per share (p)*

16.93p

2011 2012 2013

* Before non-underlying items.
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“Future acquisitions will either broaden 
our business portfolio or add depth to 
an existing business stream.”

In March 2013, we acquired Amaze, a leading digital  
marketing and technology consultancy. Read our news 
bulletin on the acquisition here:
http://tinyurl.com/kawml4r

The Group continues to have a 
clear division of responsibilities with 
myself chairing the Board and the 
Chief Executive providing executive 
leadership with responsibility for 
strategy implementation and profit. 
This allows the Board to focus on 
corporate governance, succession 
to senior roles and developing 
future strategy. 

During the year, in common with 
many larger companies, we 
engaged external consultants to 
evaluate the Board’s performance 
and effectiveness. As Chairman, 
I also met with the Directors 
individually to discuss areas for 
improvement.

Going forward, we have a strong 
management team with talented 
Managing Directors at the heart of 
each business. We are managing 
succession planning very carefully 
and this will remain a key issue 
for the Group in examining future 
acquisition opportunities.

To support our continuing 
strategic realignment and revised 
responsibilities within the executive 
Board, we have made changes 
to our executive remuneration 
policy. These changes seek to 
be compatible with the Business 
Secretary’s reforms of Directors’ 
pay due to be enacted in 2013. 
Full details of the 2013/2014 
remuneration policy are set out in 
this Report and Accounts.

Our employees 

Finally, we continue to make the 
health and safety of our employees, 
and of visitors to our business 
sites, a priority. Employee safety 
is an important issue and we are 
also mindful of our responsibilities 
wherever we are a significant local 
employer.

Moreover, as the Group continues 
its transformation, I would like to 
thank all our employees for their 
unfailing support and their hard 
work during this period of change. 

Outlook 

Looking ahead, we now have the 
benefit of a proven track record 
with our management team having 
consistently delivered the strategy 
we articulated three years ago. 
Patrick Martell and Matt Armitage 
are well regarded among all our 
stakeholders.

While the strategic realignment of 
St Ives continues, we will manage 
the pace of change carefully. Our 
strategy provides for organic growth 
in selected parts of our business 
portfolio, which will require new 
investment in people and offices. 
Overall, we have good reason to 
expect our record of improving 
profit performance to continue.

Richard Stillwell  
Chairman

1 October 2013
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Our business model

At St Ives we believe that it is our 
role to help our clients change 
consumer behaviour. 

Whether online or in store, branch 
or dealership or at work or home 
we provide the skills that help 
our clients to understand their 
customers and deliver relevant 
products and interactions that in 
turn persuade individuals to do 
something different. This change 
can be purchasing new or different 
products, giving to charity, opening 
new bank accounts, promoting 
something they believe in or many 
other changes in behaviour that 
help our clients.

We believe that great marketing 
is a combination of innovation 
and execution. For us, innovation 
is based on deep consumer and 
market understanding which helps 
our clients to understand the future 
direction of travel for their business. 
St Ives then offers a combination of 
cross-media execution that creates 
relevant engagement between our 
clients and their customers. 

We are very proud to work with 
some of the biggest brands in the 
world: From Sainsbury’s and Marks 
& Spencer to HSBC and American 
Express, from Reckitt Benckiser and 
Heinz to Jaguar Land Rover and 
Penguin we work across a range of 
sectors providing in depth expertise 
and experience.

BUSINESS MODEL

WE SEE GREAT
OPPORTUNITIES

http://www.tactical-solutions.co.uk/
http://www.spgroup.co.uk/
http://www.servicegraphics.co.uk/
http://www.branded3.com/
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With over 50 clients now using more than one part 
of the Group, quality referrals and collaboration is 
proving to be successful.

http://www.incite.ws/
http://www.pragmauk.com/home
http://www.amaze.com/
http://www.responseone.co.uk/
http://www.occam-dm.com/
http://www.st-ives.co.uk/about_st_ives/group_companies/472_sims


06 St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Another strong financial 
performance 

The Group once again delivered  
a strong financial performance for 
the year.

Underlying profit before tax grew 
to £26.8 million (2012 – £24.2 
million) with underlying basic EPS 
increasing by 8.5% to 16.93 pence 
(2012 – 15.61 pence). Underlying 
Group revenue of £317.0 million 
was 3.2% lower than the previous 
year. On a like-for-like basis, 
removing the effect of acquisitions 
and the print sectors we have 
exited, Group revenue is in line  
with the previous year.

The improvements reflect growth  
in our Marketing Services segment, 
which contributed 27.7% of the 
Group’s operating profit during the 
financial year. Our integration of 
the Marketing Services businesses 
continues to add value.

Net debt rose slightly to £15.2 
million (2012 – £13.4 million) after a 
cash outflow of £22.3 million (2012 
– £22.0 million) for the acquisitions 
of Amaze and Branded3, almost 
entirely offset by a significant 
working capital driven cash inflow.

The Board is recommending a final 
dividend of 4.50 pence, making 
a full year dividend of 6.50 pence 
(2012 – 5.75 pence) to be paid on 
20 December 2013 to shareholders 
on the register at 29 November 
2013 with an ex-dividend date  
of 27 November 2013.

Patrick Martell
Chief Executive

COMPETITIVE
AND INNOVATIVE
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“Our business strategy is to continue to grow 
organically and through the acquisition of 
strategically relevant businesses that broaden 
and strengthen our client proposition and provide 
a platform for strong financial performance.”

Our strategy 

Our business strategy is to continue 
to grow organically and through the 
acquisition of strategically relevant 
businesses that broaden and 
strengthen our client proposition 
and provide a platform for strong 
financial performance. At our core, 
we maintain a focus on helping our 
clients to understand and influence 
customer behaviour.

We believe effective marketing 
requires a blend of innovation 
and execution. Innovation comes 
from intelligent consumer and 
market insights; execution builds 
engagement across the optimal 
range of media channels.

The Group’s senior management 
team, including the Managing 
Directors of the constituent 
businesses, is collaborative,  
open and straightforward.  
These qualities are essential  
as we develop our increasingly 
integrated offering, and will support 
the Group’s future successes.

Reaping the rewards of 
business realignment 

Three years ago, the Group set out 
to develop an integrated marketing 
services offering that would reverse 
the decline in revenue and profit in 
our commoditised print operations, 
while delivering growth through 
long-term relationships and higher 
margins. To support this, the Group 
made the decision to exit these 
failing print markets while making 
all of St Ives’ remaining Print 
businesses profitable. We have 
exited commoditised print markets 
such as magazines, the printing of 
corporate annual reports, CD/DVD 
insert printing, and direct mail. On 
30 September 2013, we completed 
the sale of St Ives Direct Bradford 
Limited, a Direct Response 
business.

We have achieved a fundamental 
realignment of our business and 
have clearly demonstrated the 
business case of our decision to 
diversify into marketing services. 

We have continued to invest 
in our Print businesses serving 
markets with a need for added 
value services. Other than Clays, 
our specialist book printing and 
distribution business, all other 
Group businesses now provide  
marketing related services,  
including marketing print. 

Our transition has been a success. 
We said in 2011 that within three 
years between 30% and 40% of 
the Group’s operating profit would 
come from Marketing Services.  
I am pleased to report that during 
the year under review we achieved 
approximately 35%, including profits 
from acquisitions made during 
the year on an annualised basis, 
ahead of our repositioning target. 
Our Marketing Services segment 
now makes more operating profit 
than the entire St Ives Group did in 
2009. In addition, the Print Services 
segment is significantly more 
profitable than in 2009.

Our acquisition of Amaze and 
Branded3, in March and May 
2013 respectively, created an 
additional pillar in our Marketing 
Services strategy. We already held 
strong positions in data marketing, 
consultancy services and field 
marketing, and have now added 
digital solutions.

The power of the Group continues 
to come from collaboration 
across our businesses. We have 
successfully created a commitment 
to cross-selling and this contributed 
to a number of key business wins 
during the year. 

Pragma, for example, supported 
investment company Rutland 
Partners in connection with the 
acquisition of the UK dine-in Pizza 
Hut business. The new Rutland 
Partners management team then 
engaged Amaze, another St Ives 
Group company, to energise Pizza 
Hut’s online offering with a new 
digital strategy.

* Before non-underlying items.

Group underlying  
operating margin (%)*

8.6%

2011 2012 2013

8.6

7.2 7.5

(3.2)

10.3

Group underlying  
revenue growth (%)*

(3.2)%

2011 2012

2013
1.8

Market outlook

Looking ahead, we aim to 
strengthen our individual businesses 
and develop further customer 
value propositions through the 
Group’s unique cross-media 
capabilities. With our existing blue-
chip customer base, we have an 
excellent platform for extending the 
scope of our products and services.
 
The Group is very well positioned 
to benefit from any upturn in the 
economy. We have well-established 
businesses, all of which are well-
regarded, and have built a strong 
position in the growth areas of 
digital marketing and research. 
We believe a number of important 
trends – omnichannel, big data and 
digital platforms – will assist our 
future growth.

Latest reports on marketing 
services provide encouraging 
indicators. The July 2013 Bellwether 
report, for example, reported that 
marketing budgets were sharply 
higher during Q2 of 2013. The 
net positive balance of marketing 
budget increases to cuts was the 
highest since Q3 2007.
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7.6

4.0

64.1

14.1

47.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

SEGMENT OVERVIEW

Marketing Services

Our Marketing Services segment 
comprises two data marketing 
businesses, two digital marketing 
businesses, two consultancies and 
a field marketing specialist.

Data Marketing
Our Data Marketing businesses 
– Occam and Response One – 
represented 42% of Marketing 
Services revenue at £27.1 million 
(2012 – £24.8 million). During the 
year we continued to be successful 
in winning new business and in 
creating synergies across the two 
businesses, with important wins 
including Johnston Press and 
the RAC Group where the two 
businesses worked together to 
provide a combined solution for 
both of these organisations.

During the course of the year, 
Response One were awarded the 
accolade of Supplier of the Year for 
best use of Insight by the Institute 
of Fundraising for work carried out 
for Battersea Dogs & Cats Home. 
The campaign exceeded all targets 
with a 27% increase in response 
and 24% increase in income against 
target. Occam has also had a 
successful year, adding new clients 
to their roster including Volvo and 
TD Investments.

Digital Marketing
We created a strong digital 
component to our operations  
during the year with the acquisitions 
of Amaze, a leading digital 
marketing and technology business, 
and Branded3, a successful search 
engine optimisation (SEO) and 
digital agency.

The acquisitions contributed  
12% of Marketing Services revenue 
of £7.7 million having joined the 
Group in the second half of this 
financial year.

These are two very strong 
businesses that bring highly  
talented teams into the Group  
and open up exciting opportunities 
in new markets and with new 
customers. There is significant 
potential for collaboration too,  

with Amaze and Branded3 working 
on joint pitches immediately after 
joining the Group. Our existing 
clients have shown significant 
interest in the capabilities of these 
newly acquired companies.

Consultancy Services
Our Consultancy Services 
businesses – Pragma and Incite – 
represented 26% of the Marketing 
Services segment revenue at  
£16.8 million (2012 – £7.3 million).

Pragma is a leader in its field of 
market research-led consultancy 
services and is particularly strong 
in the retail strategy sector, where 
it is one of the fastest-growing 
brands. Pragma is an award-winner 
in commercial due diligence and 
provides investor services to a 
number of banks and private equity 
clients. This business relocated 
to our central London head office 
during the year. We have invested  
in a 30% increase in headcount 
since acquiring the business in late 
2011 to capture growing demand.

Incite, our strategic market research 
business acquired in February 
2012, has opened offices in New 
York and Singapore in response to 
existing client demand and forms 
a base from which to pursue new 
international clients.

Field Marketing
Our Field Marketing business – 
Tactical Solutions – contributed 
19% of Marketing Services  
revenue at £12.4 million (2012  
– £14.9 million), 17% lower  
than last year as the extremely 
successful Christmas trading  
period experienced in 2011 was  
not repeated to the same extent  
in 2012. This business remains one 
of the UK’s leading field marketing 
companies providing outsourced  
in-store marketing for leading 
brands. We have seen closer 
integration this year between 
Tactical Solutions and SP Group, 
our point of sale (POS) print 
specialist. In servicing Sainsbury’s, 
to take one example, we now 
design, manufacture, distribute, 
install and audit POS material. 

Underlying revenue (£m)*

£64.1m

2011 2012 2013

Underlying operating  
profit (£m)*

£7.6m

2011 2012 2013

“The acquisitions contributed 
12% of Marketing Services 
revenue of £7.7 million having 
joined the Group in the second 
half of this financial year.”

0.4

MARKETING SERVICES

* Before non-underlying items.
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* Before non-underlying items.

19.7
20.9 20.4

253.0
282.7

“We will continue to encourage and reward 
successful collaborative behaviour, instilling 
a culture of collaboration across the Group.”

Print Services

Our Print Services segment 
comprises two customer offerings, 
Books, and Marketing Print.

Books
The Group’s Books business, 
trading under the Clays brand, 
accounted for 28% of the Print 
Services segment’s revenue. 
Books revenue was down by 5% 
compared to 2012 at £71.3 million 
(2012 – £75.0 million) although 
market share was maintained.

Clays is the market leader in 
producing monochrome books.  
It specialises in meeting demand 
for quick-response small print runs 
and delivering direct to retail outlets. 
We have invested in new digital 
production facilities that allow us 
to profitably print book quantities 
down to as low as a single unit.

Marketing Print
Our marketing print businesses 
consist of our POS specialist SP 
Group, our exhibitions and events 
business Service Graphics and 
direct response provider St Ives 
Direct. Our revenue from marketing 
print was £181.7 million (2012 – 
£205.2 million), 12% below last 
year and accounted for 72% of 
the overall Print Services segment 
revenue.

Service Graphics benefited from 
a strong flow of work following 
the London 2012 Olympic Games 
and won ongoing business from 
Transport for London on the back 
of this. 

SP Group performed well during 
the year and continues to grow, 
fulfilling demand for POS that can 
be produced quickly and cost 
effectively and distributed nationally 
for retailers that are running more 
frequent campaigns with shorter 
lead times. 

Direct Response continues  
to operate in an over-supplied 
market. The Group downsized 
the production of direct mail and 
commercial print to one site during 
the year and, subsequent to the 
year end, has sold this business.

Underlying revenue (£m)*

£253.0m

2011 2012 2013

Underlying operating  
profit (£m)*

£19.7m

2011 2012 2013

280.3

PRINT SERVICES
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Where we are going

Over the next three years we aim to grow the Marketing 
Services segment while continuing to grow the Group’s 
revenue and operating profit.

How we will get there

Our aim is to maintain profit levels from the Print 
Services segment while increasing profit in the 
Marketing Services segment through both acquisition 
and organic growth.

PRINT

MS

THE NEXT CHAPTER

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Where we are now

We have achieved approximately 35% of Group’s 
Operating Profit from our Marketing Services 
businesses which is ahead of schedule.

“We are targeting organic growth through 
our Marketing Services businesses 
through increased cross-selling, 
sector-based propositions, international 
expansion and investment to reap their 
full potential.”

Our future business model 

Our business model over the 
next three years is based on 
growth, with the Group providing 
financial support to its component 
businesses and fostering a culture 
of collaboration. The companies  
St Ives acquires will continue to run 
as separate brands, giving them 
the freedom to develop their own 
intellectual property and be leading 
players within their markets.

We are targeting organic growth 
through our Marketing Services 
businesses through increased 
cross-selling, sector-based 
propositions, international 
expansion and investment to reap 
their full potential. We also expect 
to supplement organic growth with 
further acquisitions. 

Our Marketing Services segment 
now offers data marketing, digital 
marketing, consultancy services 
and field marketing and further 
acquisitions will strengthen our 
integrated offering. The Group’s  
role will be to support the 
businesses with investment 
for growth and to facilitate 
collaboration. 

While print will continue to be a 
challenging market sector, it will 
remain integral to our offering. In 
books, large-format graphics and 
POS manufacturing, we are the 
market leader and are investing 
to retain that leadership. These 
markets are all strategically 
important to St Ives. However,  
our Print Services segment 

is expected to make a lower 
contribution proportionally to the 
Group in the face of continuing 
decreases in volume exerting 
downward pressure on prices  
and as Marketing Services  
continue to grow.

The overall picture from now to 
the end of 2016 therefore sees 
Marketing Services becoming our 
dominant business, contributing the 
majority of the Group’s operating 
profit by 2016. 

By the end of July 2013, more than 
50 of our customers were trading 
with us through more than one 
point of contact. The fact that this 
figure in 2009 was in single figures 
underlines the success of our 
culture of collaboration. 

We believe it is this growing synergy 
across our businesses that will 
be a strong foundation for our 
future growth. All our businesses 
can be successful as stand-alone 
units but they achieve much more 
when they work together. We will 
continue to encourage and reward 
successful collaborative behaviour, 
instilling a culture of collaboration 
across the Group for the benefit of 
our staff, our shareholders and our 
customers.

Patrick Martell
Chief Executive

1 October 2013

Year 1
2013

Year 2
2014

Year 3
2015

Year 4
2016

2013 2016

Acquired Growth

Maintain Profit Levels

Organic Growth
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2015

In May 2013, we acquired Branded3 Search Ltd (“Branded3”),  
a leading search engine optimisation and digital marketing 
agency. Read our news bulletin on the acquisition here:
http://tinyurl.com/mtczknc

2014
Our growth strategy

Our business strategy is to 
continue to grow both organically 
and through the acquisition of 
strategically relevant businesses 
that broaden and strengthen our 
client proposition and provide 
a platform for strong financial 
performance. 

Organic growth will come from 
a combination of investing in 
each business as required 
and continuing to build client 
centric account management 
that encourages our clients to 
both broaden and deepen their 
relationships with the Group. 

We have invested at Group level 
to provide resource and tools to 
encourage working and referrals 
between the businesses. This is 
starting to deliver benefits and 
we have seen many examples of 
our businesses working together 
to deliver innovative solutions 
for clients, some of which are 
highlighted in this report. We will 
continue to provide more resource 
and investment to develop these 
practices. 

At the same time, we will carry on 
investing in the individual business 
as required to help them grow 
and achieve their strategic goals. 
This investment will include further 
openings of offices. In addition, 
we will help businesses develop 
new offerings such as Digital Due 
Diligence for Pragma and Campaign 

2016

and Data Planning for Occam.  
We will also invest in people across 
the Group. 

We will invest as required to  
ensure our Print businesses 
continue to be market leading  
in their respective fields.

Our acquisitions will be relevant 
targeted companies that grow  
the four key pillars in Marketing 
Services that we have built or,  
at the appropriate time, add further 
related disciplines to complement 
the services we currently provide.

The outcome of this organic  
growth and acquisition activity  
will be an increase to both revenue 
and operating profit of the Group.

THREE-YEAR 
GROWTH PLAN
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

ENCOURAGING  
PERFORMANCE

Underlying revenue from the Print 
Services segment decreased by 
£27.4 million (9.8%). Revenue 
decreased by 5.0% in the Books 
business but market share was 
maintained. Exhibitions and Events 
revenue decreased by 19.4% due to 
the one-off nature of the Olympics 
work experienced in the previous 
financial year and revenue for the 
Point of Sale business decreased 
by 7.5%. Direct Response revenue 
declined by 12.2%, due to planned 
reductions in capacity and our exit 
from unprofitable markets.

From a geographical point of 
view, 95.8% (2012 – 96.6%) of 
our Marketing Services and Print 
Services’ revenue is generated 
within the UK.

Gross profit margin and 
underlying profitability 

Underlying gross profit margin has 
increased from 27.4% to 28.9%. 
Gross margins within the Marketing 
Services segment are significantly 
higher than those within the Print 
Services segment and therefore 
the growth of this segment has 
led to the overall improvement in 
margin at Group level. Despite the 
revenue decline within the Print 
Services segment, gross margins 
in the segment were maintained 
due to improved work mix, lower 
levels of outsourced work, improved 
production efficiencies, successful 
procurement initiatives and the 
labour cost reductions resulting 
from restructuring activities. 

Underlying selling and administrative 
overheads decreased by £1.2 
million with restructuring related 
overhead reductions within the Print 
Services segment partially offset by 
new acquisitions and investment 
within the Marketing Services 
businesses.

As a result of these management 
actions, underlying profit before 
taxation for the Group increased 
from £24.2 million to £26.8 million 
(7.4% to 8.5% of revenue).

“Underlying profit before taxation 
for the Group increased from 
£24.2 million to £26.8 million.”

Overview of revenue 

Underlying revenue for the Group 
decreased by £10.4 million (3.2%) 
to £317.0 million. On a like-for-like  
basis, removing the effect of 
acquisitions and the print sectors 
we have exited, Group revenue is  
in line with the previous year.

Underlying revenue for the 
Marketing Services segment 
increased by £17.0 million (36.2%). 
Within Data Marketing, revenue 
increased by £2.3 million (9.2%), 
primarily due to a number of 
successful new-business wins. 
The Digital Marketing businesses, 
Amaze and Branded3, acquired 
during the year delivered revenue 
of £7.7 million. Revenue for 
Consultancy Services increased 
by £9.5 million (130.7%) due to 
a combination of strong organic 
growth and the full year effect of  
the businesses acquired during  
the previous financial year. Revenue 
within Field Marketing reduced 
by £2.5 million (16.7%) as the 
extremely successful Christmas 
trading period experienced in the 
prior financial year was not repeated 
to the same extent in the financial 
year just ended. 
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Change in accounting 
policy

In January 2013, the International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
Interpretations Committee  
(IFRIC) issued revised guidance 
in respect of IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”. Under this 
guidance, contingent consideration 
for acquired subsidiaries where  
the selling shareholders continue  
to be employed by the Group,  
but which is automatically forfeited 
upon termination of employment, 
is now required to be classified 
as remuneration for post-
combination services. Prior to this 
revised guidance, the contingent 
consideration could be treated 
for accounting purposes as either 
consideration or remuneration 
depending on the substance of 
the transaction. The Group has 
accordingly changed its accounting 
policy to conform with the revised 
guidance, and the prior year 
comparatives have been re-stated.

Non-underlying items

The Group has undergone further 
restructuring during the year in 
order to mitigate the effects of 
the economic downturn, remove 
excess capacity, exit unprofitable 
markets and improve operating 
performance.

The £19.8 million net charge before 
tax (2012 – £17.8 million) relates to: 
redundancy, asset impairment and 
other restructuring related costs (net 
of associated asset disposals) within 
our Direct Response, Books, Point 
of Sale, Exhibition and Events, Head 
Office and Consultancy businesses 
of £8.7 million; acquisition related 
transaction costs of £0.7 million; 
the amortisation of acquired 
intangibles of £5.3 million; deferred 
consideration required to be treated 
as remuneration of £3.5 million; and 
the impairment of available for sale 
asset of £1.6 million. 

Balance sheet

The Consolidated Balance Sheet 
has strengthened with net assets 
increasing to £148.2 million  
(2012 – £131.9 million). The 
movement reflects the profit after 
taxation of £5.6 million; dividends  
of £7.2 million; actuarial gains 
on the defined benefits pension 
scheme (net of deferred tax) of 
£13.0 million; and the impact of  
the issue of shares of £4.9 million.

Net debt

Net debt increased during the year 
from £13.4 million to £15.2 million. 
The modest increase in debt was 
primarily due to the acquisition 
of Amaze and Branded3, partly 
offset by a strong working capital 
performance.

In May 2012, the Group concluded 
a new £55.0 million committed 
revolving multicurrency credit 
agreement which expires on 31 
October 2015. In June 2013 the 
committed facility was increased 
to £70.0 million in order to enable 
future growth. The undrawn portion 
of this facility at the end of the year 
was £25.0 million (2012 – £30.0 
million).

Capital expenditure  
and depreciation

Capital expenditure in cash flow 
terms on property, plant and 
equipment, together with additions 
to intangible assets, other than in 
the context of acquisitions, was 
£6.5 million (2012 – £7.0 million) 
and cash receipts from asset 
disposals were £0.3 million (2012 
– £4.9 million). Depreciation and 
amortisation (other than in the 
context of acquisitions) charged in 
the year was £8.3 million (2012 – 
£8.7 million). 

The Group’s businesses are very 
well invested and they are therefore 
able to operate at reduced levels of 
capital expenditure versus historic 
levels without any deterioration in 

competitive advantage. The Group 
will, however, continue to invest 
in those businesses that present 
opportunities for growth.

Acquisitions

On 28 March 2013, the Group 
acquired Amaze plc, one of  
the UK’s leading marketing  
and technology consultancies.  
The total consideration payable for 
the business, net of cash acquired, 
was £14.3 million.

On 16 May 2013, the Group 
acquired Branded3 Search Limited, 
a leading search engine optimisation 
and digital marketing business.  
The total consideration payable for 
the business, net of cash acquired, 
was £18.2 million.

Disposal

On 30 September 2013 the Group 
sold St Ives Direct Bradford Limited. 
Total consideration for the disposal 
will be £8.0 million comprising 
£3.0 million payable immediately 
and £5.0 million of deferred 
consideration. 

Tax

The Group’s tax rate on underlying 
profit before tax was 24.4% (2012 
– 26.1%).

The non-underlying tax credit of 
£5.1 million (2012 – £4.7 million) 
relates to the non-underlying items 
and the revaluation of deferred tax 
liabilities following the substantial 
enactment of the reduction in the 
corporation tax rate from 23%  
to 20%. 

Dividends

The Board is recommending a final 
dividend of 4.50 pence, bringing the 
total dividend for the year to 6.50 
pence, resulting in an underlying 
dividend cover of 2.6 times.

The Group remains cash- 
generative with a modest level  
of debt at the end of the financial 
year. Retained earnings in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at  
2 August 2013 were £77.9 million 
(2012 – £64.5 million).

Pensions

The surplus (on an IAS 19 basis) 
in the Defined Benefits pension 
scheme at the end of the year, 
excluding the related deferred tax 
liability, was £0.1 million (2012 – 
£20.0 million deficit). The elimination 
of the deficit is due, primarily, to an 
increase in corporate bond yields, 
which in turn increased the applied 
discount rate, from 4.5% to 4.75%, 
partially offset by an increase in the 
assumed rate of inflation.

The charge to underlying operating 
profit for this scheme was £0.2 
million (2012 – £0.2 million) 
which represents the costs of its 
administration. The Consolidated 
Income Statement also includes a 
net financing credit of £0.4 million 
(2012 – £1.1 million) which reflects 
the expected return on assets of 
the scheme based on market rates 
available at the start of the financial 
year, less the effect of the fact that 
the benefits are one year closer to 
being paid.

The Group currently contributes 
£2.2 million per annum in order to 
meet its obligations regarding the 
current level of deficit within the 
scheme. The scheme’s triennial 
valuation was as at April 2013 
and discussions with the scheme 
trustee are therefore underway for 
the future funding levels.

Matt Armitage  
Chief Financial Officer and  
Group Managing Director – 
Marketing Services

1 October 2013
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Head office: London

International experience:  
25 years’ experience in more  
than 30 countries

Global partner: The Ebeltolf  
Group including 18 members 
across 15 countries

World renowned expertise
In the discipline of airport retail 
space planning, Pragma is the 
world market leader and have 
recently implemented projects  
in places as diverse as Berlin  
and Santiago.

Omnichannel retailing
As the world of retailing moves from 
in-store to online and becomes one 
of multiple touchpoints, providing 
customers with a one touch, 
omnichannel solution, Pragma 
works with its network of global 
partners to provide global case 
studies of best practice.

Global potential 

An area where we see potential is 
in helping the Group’s businesses 
expand in overseas markets.  
As with all St Ives’ initiatives and 
investments, this will be scaled 
appropriately and client led. 

Some of our businesses, Incite, 
Pragma and Amaze, for example, 
already carry out projects for  
clients in many countries around  
the world. In general, these projects 
are carried out by teams based in 
the UK, but who travel to work in 
the location as required. 

Pragma, with its retail and airport 
experience, in particular have 
worked for many years in diverse 
regions around the world.

Amaze have developed an 
expertise in working with Japanese 
companies such as Bridgestone, 
Lexus and ASICS and are helping 
these businesses develop global 
digital strategies and initiatives.

Incite are the first of our Group 
companies to set up overseas, 
with new offices in New York and 
Singapore. These locations were 
selected based on strong client 
relationships which would be best 
developed by locally based staff.

INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION

ONE SUCCESS BUILDING
UPON ANOTHER

St Ives have supported these 
openings. It is expected that other 
offices will be opened both by Incite 
and other St Ives businesses over 
the next few years. 

http://www.pragmauk.com/home
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Head office: London

International presence:  
Work spans 104 countries  
and 28 languages

Recognition: Global industry 
experts, Forrester placed Amaze 
in the UK’s top ten interactive 
agencies

Localisation partner in Japan 
Amaze is the lead consortium 
partner and will work alongside 
neoworks, the award-winning 
eCommerce software solutions 
provider, and hybris, the top-rated 
provider of omnichannel commerce 
software and Eat Creative, as a 
localisation partner in Japan.

Technical strategies  
on a global scale
As strategic digital advisers, 
Amaze’s remit includes the 
development and implementation  
of solution architecture, brand, 
creative and technical strategies  
on a global scale.

Head office: London

International presence:  
Over 80% of work is conducted  
on a global stage

Reach: Research conducted  
in over 100 countries

International expansion
This year Incite opened new offices 
in New York and Singapore. Both 
offices are already fully staffed and 
delivering new projects within the 
first 6 months of their opening. 
St Ives have been instrumental in 
providing investment and support in 
developing this expansion for Incite.

More to come
With regular projects in many 
countries around the world, it is 
expected that there will be further 
openings over the next few years.

http://www.incite.ws/
http://www.amaze.com/
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A PRAGMATIC 
APPROACH

Pizza Hut engaged Amaze to  
re-energise the online Pizza Hut 
offering and presence.
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CASE STUDY PIZZA HUT

Surveys with  
casual diners2,000
Interviews in 
restaurants 400

Amaze launched the 
new digital strategy  
in August 2013

Rutland Partners 
acquired Pizza Hut  
in 2012

“At the heart of all Pragma 
projects is understanding 
consumers, this helped 
Rutland on their 
acquisition of Pizza Hut.”
Patrick Woodall
CEO, Pragma

AWARD WINNING PROCESS ON 
COMMERCIAL DUE DILIGENCE

Case study

Pragma was recently asked by 
Rutland Partners to undertake 
commercial due diligence on the  
UK dine-in Pizza Hut business,  
with a view to informing their 
potential investment decision.  
We focused particularly on the 
strategic initiatives the company 
was planning to implement 
in coming years, as well as 
consideration of the competitive 
landscape and brand perceptions.

We followed our award winning 
process of commercial due 
diligence, examining the business 
and its market, including in-depth 
discussions with the senior team 
and detailed reviews of marketing 
strategy, competition and an 
analysis of recent trading results. 

Our work highlighted the strength 
of the management team and the 
cohesiveness of their plans, which 
combined well with the nostalgic 
affection many families hold for  
the brand. 

It became apparent that Pizza Hut 
fulfils a consumer need which is not 
easily met elsewhere and which, 
with successful implementation of 
key initiatives, has the potential to 
take the company to new levels 
of service, offer, and customer 
satisfaction.

Rutland Partners acquired the 
restaurant business of Pizza Hut 
UK from Yum Brands in November 
2012. One of the very first needs  
for the management team of the 
new entity was to re-energise 
the online Pizza Hut offering and 
presence. To do so, Pizza Hut 
engaged Amaze, another St Ives 
company.

This new digital strategy, including 
a new mobile friendly website and 
social presence will be launched 
very soon.

Patrick’s focus is on developing 
business improvement strategies 
for retailers and their private 
equity investors.

Highlights
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SAME VALUE  
NEW CLOTHES
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CASE STUDY WILKO

Case study

Wilko, the family owned retail  
chain has been a shared client of 
SP Group, Service Graphics and  
St Ives Direct for a number of years. 
We have supported the impressive 
growth of the business through 
creative in-store point of sale 
material and helping create  
a unified customer shopping 
experience. We produce all their 
promotional retail event point of 
sale and ticketing; signage for new 
store openings; developments for 
concept stores and store leaflets, 
mini brochures, catalogues and 
press leaflets to support events. 

Tactical Solutions were given the 
opportunity to work with Wilko 
this year by developing supplier 
demonstrations in-store. This was 
an exciting new service for Wilko 
to sell to their customers helping 
drive sales and footfall. The brief 
was quite straightforward, to work 
alongside the Wilko team members 
in 100 Wilkinson stores on a 
Saturday in April to demonstrate 
Unilever’s new compressed 
deodorant. 

The product displays were 
supported by point of sale in-store, 
a pop up unit, and leaflets to hand  
to customers advertising an offer 
and testers for customers to 
sample. Before the day itself,  
calls were made to each store, 
followed up by an email to confirm 
the details.

From feedback, both before and 
on the day of the activity, store 
managers were very receptive  
to the demonstrating taking place  
in their stores. The most compelling 
store feedback was that some 
customers had not purchased the 
product due to thinking that the 
smaller cans contained less spray 
for their money. Demonstrating 
and communicating killer facts 
were essential in changing this 
perception.

Many stores sold their full allocation 
of the product with just a small 
amount of stock remaining overall. 
The most compelling statistic, 
though, was that the demo 
stores, i.e. the ones where we 
demonstrated the product, had  
an average daily sales increase  
of the product of 259% against  
the non-demo stores. A fantastic 
result for all.

Cathy Evans is Managing 
Director of Tactical Solutions; 
she has 10 years’ experience 
in Field Marketing and has 
personally developed the largest 
relationship in the Group in this 
area, with Heinz.

DEMONSTRATING VALUE WITH WILKO

The demo stores had 
an average daily sales 
increase of the product 
by 259% against the 
non-demo stores.

259%
Stores covered in  
the promotion. 1,000
100 stores covered 
(28% of Wilko stores)

28%

72%

Highlights

“This has proven to be a 
very successful project and 
is being rolled out across 
further Wilko stores.”
Cathy Evans
Managing Director, Tactical Solutions 
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LUCKY NUMBER
BRANDED3
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“Just nine months later, 
we’ve achieved a position 
one Google ranking for 
the keyword “Bingo” for 
Ladbrokes.” 

Vin Chinnaraja
CEO, Branded3

A GIRL’S NIGHT IN

Case study

Branded3 began working with 
Ladbrokes in October last year,  
with the task of increasing its 
market share in organic search, 
whilst at the same time attracting 
a younger demographic to the 
Ladbrokes’ website by creating  
and promoting engaging content.

The bingo market is ultra-
competitive and Ladbrokes’ bingo 
channel was struggling in particular 
with its big money keyword – 
“Bingo” – which was languishing 
down on the second page of 
Google’s search results.

We knew that in order to leverage 
the amount of links needed to rise 
above competitors at this level; 
we needed to invest heavily in 
content which would attract natural 
links. Focusing on this content-led 
approach, the team developed 
the content needed and planned 
campaigns to get the ideas out 
there and seen by Ladbrokes’  
bingo target audience of women 
aged 18-35.

Ideas created previously have 
included a “Which Soap Star Are 
You?” quiz and a “Girl’s Night 
In” survey, from which our team 
has been able to leverage some 
fantastic links on high-profile sites 
and gain invaluable coverage for  
the brand.

Just nine months later, we’ve 
achieved a position one Google 
ranking for the keyword “Bingo”  
for Ladbrokes, which – along  
with other keyword increases  
– has seen Ladbrokes’ Bingo 
dominance of the organic search 
bingo market increase from 2%  
to a staggering 32%.

This interdependent way of working 
has become an integral part of our 
team’s work ethos.

Vin founded Branded3 in 2003 
with the vision of creating an 
agency which would deliver 
business-changing results; an 
agency which clients would be 
proud to be associated with.

CASE STUDY LADBROKES BINGO

Ladbrokes Bingo’s 
dominance of the 
organic search bingo 
market has increased 
by 30%

30%
Non-brand sign-ups 
have increased by 15% 15%

Secured top 3 Google 
search positions for 10 
core search terms

Achieved number 1 
position on Google  
for “Bingo” and  
“Online Bingo”

Highlights

 1

3
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Case study

RAC first engaged with Occam  
in early 2011 to help them migrate 
from AVIVA to a new data platform 
that would enable the new owners, 
Carlyle Group, to scale and grow 
the business. Occam initially 
developed a simple database 
platform that has since scaled  
and grown to support the ambitions 
of RAC.

A Single Customer View was 
developed by pulling in data from 
disparate operational systems 
within RAC and AVIVA. Visualisation 
of the data was provided and all 
existing marketing campaigns were 
migrated into the new solution, 
automated where possible, giving 
RAC the control to execute their 
own communications.

As requirements have increased  
the solution has been sufficiently 
flexible to grow with these. The next 
major development of the system 
was the creation of a separate 
analysis database to sit alongside 
the Single Customer View, enabling 
RAC access to very granular data  
to build targeting models.

DRIVING SUCCESSFUL  
MEMBERSHIP GROWTH FOR RAC

Occam had been working 
previously with various data 
providers to purchase lists for 
acquisition campaigns but, 
subsequent to its acquisition  
by St Ives in September 2011, 
Response One now provides  
this service.

The relationship with Response  
One extended further to address  
a requirement raised by RAC to 
enrich the customer and prospect 
data within the existing solution  
and to add in new prospect data  
to improve the effectiveness of  
the campaigns. 

Occam worked closely with 
Response One to implement  
a prospect data management 
solution within the existing 
marketing database using  
cold and appended data.

Neil Evans is MD of Occam and 
has many years of experience in 
data led marketing roles across a 
range of businesses. Neil is very 
hands on and gets involved in 
strategic workshops with clients 
including RAC.

Highlights

Over 2,000 patrol 
vehicles2,000
Over 7 million 
members7m
Over 4 million calls 
per year

“By working together 
with Response One  
we have developed a 
solution that hugely 
benefits RAC.”
Neil Evans
Managing Director, Occam

CASE STUDY RAC
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Highlights

Implementation of a 
Global eCommerce 
Platform

Currently live and 
trading in America 
and Japan

“We are on an exciting 
journey with ASICS 
to develop a new global 
commerce platform for 
the brand, which clearly 
demonstrates Amaze’s 
expertise in this field.”
Natalie Gross
CEO, Amaze

Case study

In 2012, Amaze was appointed 
by True Sports Performance’s 
brand ASICS, to deliver a global 
eCommerce solution. 

Their core objective was to 
transition the business through 
developing a global direct to 
consumer sales model by 
establishing a new eCommerce 
platform for the brand. 

The solution was required to 
provide brand and customer 
experience consistency across 
ASICS’ key regions including 
the USA, Europe, China, Japan, 
Australia and South America, whilst 
also achieving economies of scale 
in the technology solution they 
implemented. 

Amaze led a consortium to bring 
appropriate technology, system 
integration and local delivery 
partners to the table while working 
in partnership with ASICS’ global 
headquarters in Japan and staff in 
each of the company’s key regions. 

As strategic digital advisers, 
Amaze’s remit includes the 
development and implementation 
of the solution architecture, brand, 
creative and technical strategies  

on a global scale. The platform  
we have delivered is built on hybris 
software, with local integration 
hubs, templates and merchandising 
configurations. 

Amaze has also advised on ASICS’ 
global brand platform. In doing so, 
we have harmonised their digital 
presence and brought brand 
consistency to the user experience 
and product representation. 

The first site went live in the 
US (http://www.asicsamerica.
com) in April 2013, followed by 
Japan (http://www.asics.co.jp) in 
September 2013. These form part 
of a global rollout that will see us 
deliver sites for Europe and  
Australia next.

As the solution rolls out, Amaze 
is working closely with ASICS to 
evolve and optimise the platform 
to respond to new insights and 
developments and improve 
conversion rates. 

Natalie is CEO of Amaze.  
She provides regular commentary 
on the future role of the digital 
agency, the industry’s challenge 
for skills and talent and delivering 
digital solutions globally.

CASE STUDY ASICS

GIVING GLOBAL E-COMMERCE  
A SPORTING CHANCE FOR ASICS
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500
We create 500 million 

call data records 
per annum

SEIZE THE MOMENT

“St Ives has been working 
in the data world for many 
years and has already dealt 
with some of the Big Data 
challenges on behalf of some 
of our clients.” 
Scott Logie 
St Ives Strategic Marketing Director

4.6
There are 4.6 billion 

mobile-phone 
subscriptions 

worldwide

85
33

30
30 billion pieces of 
content shared on 
Facebook every 

month

2
Every 2 days we create as 
much information as we 
did from the beginning  

of time up to 2003
Brands can  

reward people 
based on influence 

rather than just  
their behaviour

By 2020 analysts 
predict the amount 
of data will be 50x 

what it is today

2.7 
Zetabytes of data 
exist in the digital 

universe today

19

Between 1 and  
2 billion people  
are accessing  

the internet

In 2012 90% of  
all the data that 
existed in our 

entire history had 
been created in the 

previous 2 years

27

15
Petabytes of data are 
generated every day 

worldwide 350
We create 350 billion 

meter readings  
per annum1.06

Facebook has 1.06 
billion monthly  

active users
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Big Data by Scott Logie

One of the most talked about areas 
in data marketing at the moment is 
the potential provided by Big Data. 
Over the last few years the world 
has become more digital, this is 
most obvious with the increase in 
the use of mobile phones, social 
media and online banking and 
retailing. However, it also impacts 
many other areas such as loyalty 
cards, how we travel, going to 
concerts and the cinema – even 
our cars are now regarded as 
big computers on wheels. All of 
these digital changes generate 
data and all of that data is being 
held somewhere. Big Data is the 
collective name that is given to it. 

It has been said that more data  
was generated in the world last  
year than existed up until that point; 
that may or may not be true but it 
gives an idea of just how much data 
is being created every single day.  
In reality most of this data is 
not used, it is stored in secure 
environments and is kept in case 
it needs to be accessed at some 
point. However, companies are now 
starting to realise that some of this 
data might be useful in helping to 
better understand their customers 
and communicating with them in a 
more relevant and targeted way. 

The use of data by supermarkets  
to not only build loyalty in our 
weekly shopping but then to also 
sell us everything from clothes to 
mobile phones, financial services 
and funeral arrangements, is an 
example of how Big Data is starting 
to be used well. The volume of data 
that is actually analysed and used 
to understand customer behaviour 
is probably less than 1% which 
shows the potential of using widely 
available data.

IMPROVING LIVES 
WITH BIG DATA

St Ives has been working in the 
data world for many years and 
has already dealt with some of the 
Big Data challenges on behalf of 
some of our clients. Occam use 
very large data sets to generate 
real-time online offers in financial 
services. Response One has built 
models to target charity donors 
through facebook. Amaze look at 
social media transactions to engage 
consumers online to encourage 
them to buy what would generally 
be considered to be FMCG/retail 
products.

21

175
There are roughly  
175 million tweets 

every day

465
from more than 

465 million 
accounts

246
Brits have looked Big 

Data up on Google some 
246,000 times in the  

last month alone

THOUGHT PIECE BIG DATA

Scott is Strategic Marketing 
Director of St Ives and Chair of 
the Direct Marketing Association 
in the UK. He often presents on 
the topic of Big Data, appearing 
on both The Guardian Website 
and Radio 4 this year to discuss 
the topic, and also regularly 
blogs his views and opinions  
on Big Data.
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ENGAGE
WITH GEN Y

Gen Yers are aged between  
14-30 and comprises  
around 15m in the UK  

and 1.4bn globally

of Gen Yers say social  
media is critical to their  
brand selection process

43% 

76%
of Gen Yers buy  
the market leader

1

Make connections  
that go beyond  

function – generate  
a buzz around 

your brand

Gen Yers want to  
be different, but also 
safe in the knowledge 
that they will have 
peer approval at  
the same time

14-30
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Gen Y by Roger Banks

Gen Y are the next consumer 
powerhouse and are often ignored 
by organisations. We define them 
as anyone born between 1982 and 
1999, between 14 and 30 years 
old. That is about 15m individuals  
in the UK alone and approximately 
1.4 billion around the world.

There are three distinct reasons  
why this group of people are 
different to other generations;  
first of all we cannot ignore the 
recession and the impact it has 
had. Gen Y have been hit harder 
than anyone else by the economic 
downturn and this has created a 
group that are struggling today.

Secondly, technology plays a huge 
part in their lives. 78% of them use 
social networks every week and 
over half (56%) say that they could 
not live without Facebook.

Finally, the impact of this technology 
is that they are the first true global 
generation. They are connecting 
with each other and the rest of the 
world in a way that we have never 
seen before.

So why do we think this is such  
an important group and why  
brands should be interacting with 
them now? Well, the recession will 
end and, from our research, we see 
that Gen Y make a lot of decisions 
that stick. So missing the boat  
could be very costly.

Gen Y need to be convinced by 
compelling reasons to use brands. 
They also listen to each other –  
and then have a large influence  
on their parents. For example,  
we found that 76% said they 
would be influenced by friends and 
colleagues when choosing a credit 
card; 43% said they would be 
influenced by social media.

The challenge is that compared  
to previous generations, brands  
can no longer dictate the agenda 
and, as with any group of 
individuals, there is no silver bullet 
– you need to understand them as 
individuals and engage with them 
on their terms.

THE FIRST TRUE 
GLOBAL GENERATION

To do so you need to immerse 
yourself in their world, spend time 
with them and look at how they 
interact with technology, with  
each other and the rest of society. 
As they are often online and eager 
to talk, start conversations with 
them, but you need to earn the  
right to do so.

From a research point of view,  
we find it best to engage them  
and work with them where they 
are comfortable and not to assume 
they are sitting around waiting for 
surveys.

This is a group of individuals that 
are hungry to be engaged and  
learn more, they make lasting 
choices and missing out on them 
now could be costly.

THOUGHT PIECE GEN Y

Technology-enabled and tribal in outlook, 
Gen Y have the buying power to make  
or break brands. Learn more about  
Gen Y on our microsite here:  
http://www.incitegeny.co.uk

As Incite Managing Director, 
Roger sets the standards for 
passion and drive to ensure 
everyone continually challenges 
themselves and the work done 
for clients. Prior to joining 
Incite Roger spent 20 years at 
Research International, in various 
positions in the UK, USA and 
Singapore, latterly as the Global 
CEO based in London.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

DELIVERING 
GROWTH

OPERATIONAL

GROUP

As with any business, the Group 
may be affected by a number of 
risks and uncertainties, some of 
which are beyond its control. The 
table below sets out the principal 
risks and uncertainties which could 
have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s ability to deliver 
growth, identified through the risk 
management framework which is 
discussed on page 35.

The Group maintains a high level 
register of risks and uncertainties 
that is reviewed by the Board 
twice-yearly. The following table 

MARKET

Risk

Mitigation

summarises those risks, which 
fall into the following categories 
– strategic, market, operational, 
financial, legislative, regulatory, 
contractual and reputational risk – 
the possible consequences of each 
and examples of mitigating actions.

Every business that was part of the 
Group throughout the period has 
in place its own, business-specific, 
risk register which is kept under 
review by its management team 
which each year confirms to the 
Board that it has formally reviewed 
its business’s risk register. Any risk 

at local level that may have a 
significant effect on the Group  
is escalated to the Board. 

During the year, the processes 
put in place to mitigate the 
potential impact of these risks 
and uncertainties on the Group 
were effective, and none of them 
had a material unplanned effect 
on the Group’s results for the 
period under review.

 Acquisitions not fitting in 
to the Group’s strategic 
direction.

 Follow strict criteria for 
selecting acquisitions. 
Undertake detailed due 
diligence. Hold Board 
strategic reviews annually 
to monitor progress against 
the business model to, as 
necessary, refresh and adapt 
the Group’s strategy for 
delivering growth.

 Inability to successfully 
integrate and grow the newly 
acquired Marketing Services 
businesses. 

 Suitable incentives to 
key management and 
implementation of succession 
plans. Regular discussion 
of strategy at Board 
meetings and meetings 
of representatives from 
the Marketing Services 
businesses to develop the 
Group’s proposition and 
cross selling opportunities.

 A market decline in revenue 
from Books, due to emergence 
of eBooks; reduced print run 
lengths; and consolidation 
of the UK’s book publishing 
market.

 Extend the range of pre- and 
post-production added value 
services to book publishers, 
including minimising customers’ 
risk arising from holding 
stock. Increase market share 
and invest in digital book 
production to accommodate 
more numerous, shorter, book 
production runs. Secure long-
term client relationships.

 Poor economic conditions 
inhibit growth and create 
uncertainty.

 Diversify into marketing 
services that are capable 
of delivering profit growth. 
Pursue opportunities to open 
overseas offices, where client 
demand warrants it. Exit the 
commoditised print market  
and invest in a wider range  
of services to enable clients  
to improve their return on 
spend. Continually review  
the Group’s cost base. Secure 
long-term client relationships. 
Seek to increase market share. 

Regularly review performance 
of all businesses against their 
budgets and implement timely 
remedial action, where needed.

 Competitive pressure, resulting 
in the loss of a key client.

 Encourage collaborative 
behaviour across the Group’s 
businesses and create a 
commitment to cross-selling 
that will distinguish the 
Group’s marketing offering 
from its competitors’. Achieve 
or exceed service level 
agreements with clients. 
Broaden our capabilities, 
providing marketing solutions 
in support of our clients’ 
marketing strategies. Avoid 
over reliance on any single 
client. Implement bespoke 
propositions for securing  
the renewal of key accounts, 
providing Group support where 
appropriate. Conduct client 
satisfaction surveys.

 Increases in the cost of 
materials, consumables or 
utilities; or the failure of a key 
supplier.

 Avoid dependence on any key 
supplier and continually monitor 
their financial strength. Conduct 
arms length procurement 
tendering processes; enter into 
long-term agreements where 
appropriate for paper, ink and 
other consumables; Group 
Commercial Director reports 
monthly to the Executive 
Directors on procurement 
matters. Reduce the risk 
through implementing the 
realignment of the Group’s 
business.

 A loss of facility due to 
catastrophe.

 Have in place business 
continuity planning and maintain 
a comprehensive Insurance 
programme, including business 
interruption cover.

 A failure to attract, develop 
and retain employees with 
the necessary talent for our 
businesses.

 Implement appraisals and fulfil 
training needs where identified. 
Develop a collaborative culture 
across the Group’s businesses. 
Operate all-employee and 
discretionary LTIP share-based 
incentive schemes, and other 
benefits. 
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FINANCE 
AND TREASURY LEGISLATIVE  

AND REGULATORY, 
CONTRACTUAL  
AND REPUTATIONAL 

During the year, the processes put in place to 
mitigate the potential impact of these risks and 
uncertainties on the Group were effective, and 
none of them had a material unplanned effect 
on the Group’s results for the period under review.

 The Group’s trading position 
suffers as a result from an 
unplanned liquidity, interest  
or foreign exchange risk.

 Meet the Group’s funding 
requirement through a multi-
currency facility of £70.0 million 
which runs until 31 October 
2015 (as disclosed in note 22 
to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements). Ensure interest 
as a proportion of profit before 
tax is relatively small and so 
the impact of changes in 
interest rates on profit is limited 
(note 28 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements). Conduct 
the Group’s trading, including 
purchases of property, plant 
and equipment, principally in 
Sterling. Use foreign currency 
forward contracts to manage 
foreign exchange risk relating to 
material transactional business. 
Ensure the Group’s treasury 
function keeps these matters 
under review.

 The Group’s ability to trade is 
compromised by lack of cash 
funds.

 Conduct ‘going concern’ 
reviews on a twice yearly 
basis; continually monitor the 
Group’s performance against its 
banking covenants. Undertake 
monthly working capital reviews 
and quarterly cash forecasts. 
Periodically review the Group’s 
financial KPIs with its bankers.

 Changes in legislation affect the 
ability of the Group to operate 
effectively.

 Identify the principal laws and 
regulations that affect the 
Group’s day-to-day business 
and markets it serves covering: 
Employment; Health and 
Safety; the Environment; 
Planning; Data Protection; 
Taxation; Defamation; Bribery 
& Corruption; and Competition 
Law. Maintain systems to 
comply with these and keep 
developments under review.

 Contractual liabilities assumed 
under contracts with its clients 
or suppliers. 

 Involve the Group’s in-house 
legal team and, where 
appropriate, take external legal 
advice. Require Board approval 
of major contracts (of more than 
three years’ duration and/or of 
a value in excess of £5.0 million) 
and contracts with potentially 
significant risks arising.

 Exposure to reputational 
or financial damage due to 
accident, unethical trading, 
non-compliance with 
legislation or regulation  
or disputes.

 Ingrain robust health and 
safety culture throughout 
the Group, supported by 
rigorous health and safety 
and environmental policies; 
monitor compliance; measure 
performance and investigate 
major incidents. Monitor 
changes in legislation and 
regulations, take legal 
advice and provide training 
where necessary. Apply the 
Group’s policies on Ethical 
Trading, Share dealings, 
Equal Opportunities, Dignity 
at Work and Whistle-blowing. 
Have in place business 
continuity plans and a 
procedure for dealing with 
‘leaks’ of Insider Information.

 A material unrecoverable debt 
arises from the Group’s practice 
of trading with the majority of its 
clients on credit. 

 Grant credit only to clients who 
agree to follow the Group’s 
credit verification procedures. 
Apply a rigorous system of 
credit control and payments 
monitoring. Maintain credit 
insurance covering the Group’s 
larger trade debtors. Bad debt 
provisions represented 2.4% 
(2012 – 3.0%) of gross trade 
debtors at the period end.

 The volatility of the Defined 
Benefits Pension Scheme 
deficit.

 Agree deficit recovery plan with 
the pension Scheme Trustee. 
Regularly engage the Trustee 
Directors in discussions on the 
Group’s performance. Manage 
possible Section 75 debts 
arising from business disposals 
and closures. Contribute to 
discussions on the Scheme’s 
investment strategy. Proactively 
seek to limit the growth in the 
pension liability.
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Burmese Delta: metrics

Total population: 3,000,000 

State education: Once the 
government has adopted or 
sanctioned a school, it is required 
to provide paid, trained teachers 
(although often not enough), but 
there is usually little budget to renew 
or rebuild the schools themselves.

Medical care: Most delta villages 
have no health care, not even 
traditional midwives.

Mean temperature: 32°C (90°F) 

Average annual rainfall: 
Approximately 2,500 mm 

Environmental issues: On 2 May 
2008, the delta suffered a major 
disaster, devastated by Cyclone 
Nargis, which reportedly killed over 
at least 77,000 people with over 
55,900 missing, and left about  
2.5 million homeless.

Helping The Burmese Delta (HTBD) 
works to improve the lives of 
children and adults in some of the 
poorest and most remote villages in 
the Irrawaddy delta region of Burma 
(Myanmar). HTBD’s mantra is ‘go 
where others don’t, do what others 
won’t’ – little aid reaches these  
far off places.

Roger Banks, the Global CEO  
of Incite, is a trustee of the charity,  
dedicating much of his spare  
time to this worthy cause. St Ives  
is paying £3,500 each year for  
three years to fund one school. 
Incite is doing likewise, so the 
Group is funding the establishment 
of two schools in total.

CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

FOCUS: BURMESE DELTA

The charity focuses on education 
and health, working to give children 
access to a decent education by 
building primary schools (sixteen  
to date, plus a high school,  
serving over 1,000 children),  
and sponsoring very poor orphans 
to middle school and beyond. 
HTBD provides free primary 
health care (non-existent in most 
villages) by training and equipping 
villagers as Community Health 
Care Volunteers. The first group 
of graduates is now serving over 
5,000 people.

HTBD aims to produce work of the 
highest quality, as attested to by 
many very positive comments from 
the villagers and local authorities 
where it operates. As one education 
head put it: “You are one of the very 
few NGO’s who actually do what 
you say you will.” 

St Ives donations

Pledged 
donations  
to HTBD£21k
2 Schools 
built with St 
Ives money
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Patrick Sargeant, CEO of 
Response One, has been 
newly appointed as a trustee 
for Fight for Sight (www.
fightforsight.org.uk). Fight for 
Sight is the largest UK charity 
dedicated to funding research 
to prevent sight loss and 
treat eye disease. They are 
currently funding 90 research 
projects conducted by teams 
attached to universities and 
hospitals across the UK 
as well as Africa, Asia and 
Central America. The Board 
of Trustees meet at least four 
times a year to agree the 
strategy and areas of activity 
for the charity including 
consideration of grant-making, 
fundraising, investments, 
reserves, and risk management 
policies and performance. 
Patrick will also use his vast 
experience in Fundraising 
and Marketing to help guide 
strategy in these areas.

Clients and suppliers

We aim to utilise our resources, 
the skills of our employees and 
suppliers to benefit our clients. In 
its dealings with clients, the Group 
adheres to an Ethical Trading Policy. 
The Group’s approach for retaining 
clients is to deliver consistency and 
reliability of service and quality: no 
client is tied in to an agreement that 
cannot be terminated in the event  
of under-performance.

It is the Group’s practice to agree 
payment terms with all suppliers, 
which will be adhered to, provided 
that they perform in accordance 
with the agreed terms.

What we are doing
All subsidiaries report on how they 
manage their relationships with key 
clients. Their Managing Directors 
have signed up to the Group’s 
Anti-corruption and Bribery Policy 
which, together with the Ethical 
Trading Policy, is publicised to all 
employees.

The Group deals with its clients 
and suppliers on an arm’s length, 
commercial, basis. It is a disciplinary 
offence for any employee to breach 
the Group’s Anti-corruption and 
Bribery Policy in their dealings with 
clients and suppliers. Payment 
terms granted to clients are 
negotiated according to the amount 
at risk and the financial strength of 
the client concerned. 

How we are performing
The average creditor days 
outstanding at 2 August 2013 for 
the Group and the Company were 
69 and 65 days, respectively (2012 
– 66 and 56 days).

The Company Secretary maintains 
a Bribery Risk Register which 
is refreshed annually and then 
reviewed by the Board together with 
a report from the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Company Secretary 
on how the Group’s Anti-corruption 
and Bribery Policy has been applied 
during the year.

Employees

The Group is an Equal Opportunities 
Employer and no job applicant or 
employee receives less favourable 
treatment on the grounds of age, 
sex, marital status, race, colour, 
religion or belief. Individuals with 
disabilities, whether registered 
disabled or not, receive full and fair 
consideration for all job vacancies 
for which they are suitable 
applicants. Employees who become 
disabled during their working life 
will be retained in employment 
wherever possible and will be given 
help with necessary rehabilitation 
and retraining. Wherever practicable 
the Group will modify procedures or 
equipment so that full use can be 
made of an individual’s ability.

What we are doing
The Group seeks to pay 
its employees competitive 
remuneration packages and 
incentives. We operate a Dignity 
at Work Policy to ensure that the 
Company and its subsidiaries 
provide a working environment free 
from harassment and bullying and 
in which employees do not behave 
in a manner which may be offensive 
to others.

Employees of the Company  
and its subsidiaries are regularly 
consulted by local managers  
and kept informed of matters 
affecting them and the overall 
development of the Group. This  
is supplemented by regular email 
and other communications to staff 
from the Board on how the Group is 
performing, plans for the future and 
how individuals can contribute to 
achieving the Group’s aims.

Details of the Group’s pension 
schemes are set out on pages  
46, 93 and 94.

How we are performing
We measure voluntary employee 
turnover, sickness absence 
and absence from work due to 
accidents. Each subsidiary applies 
appraisal systems relevant to their 
business and identify training needs, 
as they arise.

The Board recognises that, in managing the 
Group’s activities, it has responsibilities to a 
broad range of stakeholders.

In this report we outline how we seek to meet 
these responsibilities and measure the Group’s 
performance, now and in the future.

Charitable and  
political donations

As in prior years, the Group has 
made charitable donations in line 
with its policy. Donations can be 
financial or the provision of time  
and material to provide added  
value services for charities.

What we are doing
The Group supports charities in 
four ways. The first way is to set 
and then donate an annual budget 
to charities serving communities 
in which the Group operates or to 
which employees or clients have 
a particular affinity, where even 
a modest donation can make a 
big difference; the second is by 
matching contributions made by 
the Chairman from foregoing a 
proportion of his fees, to registered 
charities that he nominates; and 
the third is to adopt a particular 
charitable project each year.  
This year the charity adopted was 
‘Help the Burmese Delta’. Finally, 
individual subsidiaries arrange fund-
raising events, such as Response 
One’s 130-mile bicycle ride in 
support of BLESMA (see pages 30 
and 33 for further details of these 
two stories).

How we are performing
The Group made charitable 
donations of £49,080 during the 
year (2012 – £43,339) to a wide 
spectrum of charities, the most 
prominent being cancer research, 
treatment and support charities; 
others included the St Mungo 
Community Housing Association, 
which helps homeless people,  
and Katherine House Hospice.

The Company has never made 
donations to any political party and 
the Board has no intention to seek 
shareholders’ approval to permit the 
Board to make political donations.



32 St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Shareholder relations

The Board attaches considerable 
importance to maintaining good 
relationships with shareholders. 
Effective two-way communication 
with institutional shareholders and 
analysts is established through 
regular presentations involving 
the Chief Executive and the Chief 
Financial Officer.

What we are doing
The Board receives an investor 
relations report at each of its 
regular meetings. The Chief 
Executive and the Chief Financial 
Officer conduct bi-annual analysts’ 
briefings and, where appropriate, 
meet with the Company’s major 
shareholders to further explain the 
Group’s investment proposition. 
Major shareholders are given the 
opportunity to meet with the senior 
Non-Executive Directors.

How we are performing
The Company’s top twenty 
shareholders hold approximately 
67% (2012 – 68%) of the 
Company’s issued share capital. 
Year on year, we have seen little 
change in the make-up of our major 
shareholders. Those in the top 
twenty which have an obligation to 
notify the Company of their voting 
interests are shown on page 40. 

The Annual General Meeting 
is regarded as an opportunity 
to communicate directly with 
shareholders and the chair 
of the Audit, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees will  
each be available at the meeting  
to answer shareholders’ questions.

CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY CONTINUED

Environment

St Ives is committed to continuous 
improvement in its environmental 
performance and accepts that 
its responsibilities with regard to 
environmental protection rank 
equally in importance with other 
key performance indicators. The 
Board is responsible for setting the 
Group’s Environmental Policy.

What we are doing
We continually monitor and attempt 
to reduce the Group’s overall 
energy consumption, emissions 
from energy, waste sent to landfill 
and water consumption and the 
Board receives monthly reports on 
environmental initiatives and any 
issues arising. 

The offices of the Group’s Marketing 
Services businesses and London 
headquarters have minimal effect 
on the environment. Nevertheless, 
we apply good house-keeping 
practices such as segregating 
waste for recycling; the use of 
lighting timers and low voltage 
lighting where practicable; and 
managing the consumption of 
photocopying paper. Carbon 
emissions from Group’s fleet of 
company cars are being separately 
managed as part of the Group’s 
carbon reduction programme, 
which will be reported on next year.

Businesses in our Print segment 
apply an ISO14001:2004 – certified 
environmental management system 
to manage their performance 
against the Group’s KPIs on the 
basis of consumption per square 
metre of substrate used.

How we are performing
The Group’s environmental KPIs 
generally show improvements, year 
on year, primarily due to improved 
efficiencies in the Group’s printing 
processes and site closures, but 
waste sent to landfill increased 
during the year. 

The Print segment otherwise 
continues to make improvements 
against its KPIs attributable, in the 
main, to improved efficiencies in  
our print production processes.  

FOCUS: 
BLESMA

An improvement plan has been 
put in place to try to reduce the 
waste substrates (non-paper) sent 
to landfill, and we work closely with 
our clients and suppliers to seek 
and develop alternative substrates. 
Details of this improvement plan 
are included in the Group’s latest 
Environmental Performance Report.

The Group’s overall performance 
and the Print segment’s 
performance against KPIs for 2013 
and the previous two years* are set 
out in the charts below. Full details 
are available from the Group’s 
Environmental Performance Report, 
2013, which will be made available 
on the Group’s website (www.st-
ives.co.uk) from 23 October 2013.

For our Annual Report and 
Accounts this year we have 
used paper produced using pulp 

sourced from sustainable forests 
independently certified according  
to the rules of the FSC. The paper  
is produced at a mill accredited to 
the Environmental Management 
System ISO14001 using Elemental 
Chlorine Free (ECF) pulp. The inks 
used in printing the document as a 
whole are all vegetable-based.

* Restated for 2010/2011  
and 2011/2012 to exclude 
discontinued sites.

Health and safety 

St Ives is committed to  
continuous improvement of its 
health and safety management 
performance and accepts that  
its responsibilities with regard to 
health and safety management  
rank equally in importance with 
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0.037

Print waste sent to landfill
(grams per square metre  
of substrate)

1.172g/m2

2011 2012 2013

Print water consumption 
(millilitres per square metre  
of substrate)

44.241ml/m2

2011 2012 2013

Total Group emission  
from energy
(million CO2  emissions kilograms)

23kg

2011 2012 2013

Total Group energy 
consumption (million kWh)

53m kWh

2011 2012 2013

Total Group waste sent  
to landfill (tonnes)

1,668t

2011 2012 2013

Total Group water 
consumption  
(thousand cubic metres)

65m3

2011 2012 2013

Total energy used per square metre

Electricity used per square metre

Gas used per square metre

Print energy consumption
(kWh per square metre of 
substrate)

0.037kWh/m2

2011 2012 2013

2323 24

5354 54
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57

45

0.038
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0.011

0.027

0.010

0.037

0.026

0.011

Since 2010 Response One  
have supported BLESMA  
(British Limbless Ex-Service 
Mens’ Association). BLESMA  
is the national charity for  
all limbless serving and  
ex-Service men and women,  
their dependants and widows.

In September 2012, four 
Response One employees took 
on a challenge in aid of BLESMA 
to cycle 130 miles on and off-
road from their offices in Bath to 
Barnstaple in just 15 hours. With 
bikes fully loaded they travelled 
through Somerset and North 
Devon, via Glastonbury and the 
Somerset Levels, Bridgwater, 
Taunton, Bampton, Dulverton 
and the dramatic landscape of 
Exmoor National Park. Battling 
severe weather conditions they 
arrived in Barnstaple exhausted, 
exhilarated and on schedule, 
having raised over £3,000.

other Key Performance Indicators. 
The Board is responsible for setting 
the Group’s Health and Safety 
Policy.

What we are doing
The Board ensures that 
responsibilities for health and safety 
management are properly assigned, 
understood and accepted within the 
organisation. The Board’s Health 
and Safety Policy statement sets 
out its approach to health and 
safety and is publicised at all of 
the Group’s sites. A standard set 
of health and safety procedures is 
applied throughout the Group. 

The first item on the parent Board’s 
meeting agenda is to receive a 
report on:

• the Group’s Injury Incidence Rate 
(IIR) as defined by the HSE;

• the circumstances of any 
accidents resulting in ‘plus three’ 
day absences, as defined by the 
Health and Safety Executive,  
and management action taken  
as a result;

• monthly and cumulative statistics 
defining the total number of days 
lost from all accidents;

• the total number of near miss 
reports; and

• Group initiatives for improving 
health and safety performance.

How we are performing
The total number of ‘plus three’ 
day (old RIDDOR rules) absence 
accidents at the Group’s sites for 
the period ended 2 August 2013 
was 19 (2012 – 14), but ‘plus 
seven’ day absence accidents (new 
RIDDOR rules) reduced to 11 (2012 
– 14). The number of work days lost 
from all accidents at work was 515 
days (2012 – 176). This increase in 
days lost was due to four individuals 
to whom 336 days’ absence was 
attributed. In future years St Ives 
will report only on ‘plus seven’ day 
absence accidents, which is in line 
with the revised RIDDOR rules. 
The number of ‘near miss’ events 
recorded was 1,906 (2012 – 2,167). 
These data relate to the Company’s 
subsidiaries at 2 August 2013.

A copy of the Group’s Health  
and Safety Policy and performance 
data for 2012/2013 will be made 
available on the Group’s web  
site (www.st-ives.co.uk) from  
23 October 2013.

Approved by the Board of Directors 
and signed on its behalf by

Patrick Martell  
Chief Executive

1 October 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
The Company is required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code (June 2012) (‘the Code’), to the extent that it applies to ‘small-cap’ 
companies, or explain the reasons for non-compliance. The Code is the corporate governance code to which the Company is subject and a copy  
can be found on the FRC’s website (www.frc.org.uk).

In the opinion of the Board throughout the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013 (‘the year’) the Company has been in compliance with the Code. 

The following section, together with the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 60, describes how the Board has applied the Main and 
Supporting Principles contained in the Code and, where appropriate, it has adopted elements of corporate governance good practice.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board meets at regular intervals and is responsible to the shareholders for overall Group strategy, acquisitions and divestments, major capital 
projects, risk and financial matters. All Directors receive agendas and papers in advance of each meeting, detailed minutes are recorded and actions 
followed up.

The Board’s membership throughout the year and the Directors’ attendance at pre-arranged meetings of the Board is set out on page 35. 

It is the opinion of the Board that, throughout the year, each of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors was independent for corporate governance 
purposes and free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of his or her judgement. In reaching this 
opinion, the Board has carefully considered the balance between applying good practice and what it believes is in the shareholders’ best interests.  
The Non-Executive Directors each have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities, which are appropriately documented. The Non-Executive 
Directors met during the year, without any Group executive being present. Simon Marquis fulfilled the role of Senior Independent Director until his 
retirement from the Board on 27 November 2012 and he was succeeded by Mike Butterworth. 

During the year, the Board carried out a review of matters reserved to it for decision. The Executive Directors meet regularly with the Managing Directors 
of the businesses within the Group’s business segments to discuss major customers, sales growth (including cross selling opportunities), people issues 
and Group-wide procurement initiatives.

In conducting the annual evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board and of individual Directors, a consultancy – The People Stuff – were engaged 
to prepare a fresh questionnaire and conduct interviews with the Directors and the Company Secretary. The Chairman then interviewed Directors 
individually and the senior Non-Executive Director interviewed the Chairman. The Non-Executive Directors also met without the Chairman to review  
his performance and provide feedback to him. Key points arising from the evaluations were then debated by the full Board.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and distinct and an appropriate division of responsibilities between the two has been set out  
in writing and approved by the Board.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information needed to enable them properly to discharge their responsibilities and have 
unrestricted access to other executives within the business to discuss any matter of concern to them. A procedure exists for Directors to seek 
independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties and to be reimbursed their reasonable legal fees and each has access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary. Senior executives within the Group make regular presentations to the Board on issues affecting their businesses 
and future challenges and how they propose to address them.

On appointment, each Director receives an induction appropriate to their previous experience as a Director and their knowledge of the industry.

The Company’s articles of association set out detailed provisions for the retirement of Directors and their election or re-election at the forthcoming  
Annual General Meeting. Although not required under the Code, all of the Directors have, however, voluntarily agreed to retire at the 2013 Annual  
General Meeting and seek election or re-election. 

The Board confirms, following a performance review, that all of the Directors standing for election or re-election continue to perform effectively and 
demonstrate commitment to their roles.

OTHER BOARD ISSUES
The Company has made qualifying third party provisions for the benefit of its Directors (as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) which 
continue in force at the date of this report. The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in favour of each of its Directors (on identical terms) who 
served during the year, under which the Company has granted Directors an indemnity, to the extent permitted by law, in respect of liabilities incurred by 
virtue of their office.

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has procedures in place to deal with the situation where a Director has a 
conflict of interest and the Nomination Committee regularly reviews conflict authorisation. Directors take no part in discussions on matters in which they 
are interested and they may be requested to leave a meeting at which a matter in which they are interested is to be discussed.

Helen Stevenson was appointed Chair of the Remuneration Committee on 1 July 2013, in succession to Tony Stuart and Ben Gordon was appointed  
to the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees on 15 July 2013. Details of Directors’ attendance at Board and committee meetings based  
on their maximum possible attendance during the year are as follows: 
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    Audit Nomination  Remuneration 
   Board Committee Committee Committee

Matt Armitage   9/9 – 2/2 – 
Mike Butterworth 
  (Senior Non-Executive Director from 27 November 2012. Chair, Audit Committee)  9/9 3/3 2/2 4/4 
Ben Gordon (Appointed 15 July 2013)   1/1 – – 1/1 
Simon Marquis  
  (Senior Non-Executive Director until 27 November 2013)    3/3 1/1 1/1 2/2 
Patrick Martell   9/9 – 2/2 – 
Richard Stillwell  
  (Chair, Nomination Committee)    8/9** – 2/2 – 
Helen Stevenson  
  (Chair, Remuneration Committee from 1 July 2013)    9/9 3/3 2/2 4/4 
Tony Stuart  
  (Chair, Remuneration Committee until 30 June 2013)    7/7 3/3 2/2 2/2 
Lloyd Wigglesworth   7/7 – 2/2 –

This table only shows details of attendance at meetings in the pre-arranged annual meeting calendar. Other ad-hoc meetings were held during the year, including an annual strategic review away  
day at which, inter alia, the Board discussed succession and undertook an analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of, opportunities for and threats to, the Group’s businesses.

** The original planned date for one of the Board meetings was changed and Richard Stillwell was unavailable on the newly determined date. That meeting was chaired by Mike Butterworth  
as the Senior Independent Director.

Throughout the year at least three independent Non-Executive Directors served on each of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has in place a corporate reporting and risk management framework in compliance with Principle C3 of the Code after having due regard  
to the Financial Reporting Council Guidance.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management,  
and for reviewing its effectiveness. A workable and realistic system can only be designed to manage and mitigate, rather than eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and, therefore, can only provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Directors consider themselves collectively responsible for ensuring that strategic, market, operational, financial and legislative, regulatory, 
contractual and reputational risks are suitably managed and are referred to the Board, as necessary. 

The Group recognises that taking and managing risks is inherent in any business and in delivering its strategy. On pages 28 and 29 we set out the 
principal risks and uncertainties that have been identified from the reporting and risk management framework; their possible impact on the business; 
and what mitigating actions the Board has implemented.

The Board at least once per annum reviews, both from a top-down and bottom-up perspective, the impact that these principal risks might have on  
the business. 

The process by which the Board exercises control is by holding (a) nine scheduled Board meetings per annum; (b) regular meetings of senior 
management drawn from each of the Print and Marketing Services segments which are chaired by an executive Board Director and attended by the 
Group’s Deputy Finance Director; and (c) regular management meetings of each operation within these segments. Risk is reported on and monitored 
at these meetings with senior management and any new areas of significant risk to the businesses are then raised at the next meeting of the Board if 
considered appropriate. 

The Group’s internal audit function consists of two qualified accountants who, as necessary, draw on additional resource from BDO LLP. The work 
planned for the internal audit team to undertake is linked to the risk management framework, with the internal audit plan designed to give assurance 
around key risk areas.

During the year the internal audit function performed work on the Group’s internal controls; reviewing the control environment and the testing of those 
controls. Controls testing of procurement, accounts payable, payroll and credit control cycles took place at selected sites, including work at the 
Group’s nascent shared services centre which has been set up during the year to provide centralised accounts payable, credit control and general 
ledger services to a number of the Group companies. 

Annual internal control questionnaires are completed by all the Group’s businesses and reviewed by the Company Secretary and Head of Internal 
Audit. Any significant inconsistencies with the Group’s established corporate governance regimes which are identified are disclosed to the Audit 
Committee.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Richard Stillwell 
Chairman
1 October 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the Board existed throughout the year, each with written terms of reference. Copies of the 
terms of reference for these committees can be obtained from the Company Secretary and may be viewed on the Group’s corporate website  
(www.st-ives.co.uk). 

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to these committees and ensures that committee members receive agendas and papers in advance  
of each meeting so that they are adequately prepared to transact the business in hand.

Evaluations of the effectiveness of the Board’s committees were carried out during the financial year.

The membership of each committee throughout the year and their attendance at pre-arranged meetings are set out on page 35. In the opinion of 
the Board these committees each met sufficiently frequently to properly discharge the responsibilities set out in their respective terms of reference. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee carries out the functions required by DTR 7.1.3R of the UKLA Disclosure and Transparency Rules. The Board is of the opinion 
that throughout the period the Audit Committee had sufficient relevant financial experience and that its membership was made up of independent 
Non-Executive Directors.

During the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its functions by:

• agreeing an internal audit plan for 2012/2013;
• considering reports from the Group’s Head of Internal Audit on work carried out during 2012/2013;
• considering a report on the conclusions reached by the Company Secretary and the Head of Internal Audit from annual internal controls 

questionnaires completed by management within the Group’s operating sites;
• receiving a report at the half year end from Deloitte on agreed procedures they had undertaken to review certain subsidiaries’ balance sheets  

and income statements and controls; 
• reviewing the Group’s Interim Management Statements and Half Year Report prior to release;
• agreeing the nature and scope of the external annual audit for 2012/2013;
• considering accounting and reporting issues pertinent to the preparation of the 2012/2013 Financial Statements;
• reviewing and safeguarding the independence of Deloitte and reviewing its performance;
• recommending the re-appointment of Deloitte as external auditors at the 2012 AGM; 
• reviewing the policy on fees for audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditor;
• approving Deloitte’s fees for services provided in respect of 2012/2013; 
• conducting a review of the Committee’s effectiveness;
• reviewing the Group’s ‘whistle-blowing’ policy; and
• reviewing the findings of the external audit for the period 2012/2013

The Executive Directors and the Head of Internal Audit were also invited to attend meetings of the Committee to ensure that its members were fully 
informed and supported in carrying out their duties.

The members of the Audit Committee have been given specific approval by the Board to meet with the Group’s external auditors whenever they,  
or the auditors, consider it appropriate. During the year, the Committee’s members had private meetings with representatives of Deloitte and with 
the Head of Internal Audit.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The main role of the Nomination Committee is to lead the process for Board appointments and make recommendations to the Board. 

During the year the Committee’s principal task was to identify and recommend the appointment of an independent Non-Executive Director to  
fill a vacancy which arose from the resignation of Tony Stuart. A summary of requirements for the candidate was agreed by the Committee which 
then engaged the services of Hanson Green LLP, an executive search consultant, to assist in the process. Hanson Green produced a short list of 
potential candidates for the Committee members to interview. The process resulted in the appointment of Ben Gordon to the Board on 15 July 
2013.

The Committee discharged its other duties by:

• deciding on which Directors should retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting;
• considering and approving potential conflicts in Directors’ interests;
• considering whether the Non-Executive Directors were sufficiently independent for corporate governance purposes; 
• approving the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive; and
• reviewing its effectiveness.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to set the broad policy for remunerating the Executive Directors and certain members of the executive, 
and recommended a remuneration policy which supports the creation of value for shareholders and supports the delivery of the Group’s strategic 
priorities.

During the period the Committee:

• approved the payment of bonuses to certain Directors for 2011/2012;
• approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2011/2012;
• approved the structure of the Directors’ bonus scheme for 2012/2013;
• approved the grant of awards under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan 2010 to certain executives and the performance conditions 

attached to their vesting;
• approved proposals to introduce ‘net-settlement’ of HMRC unapproved share options exercised under the ESOS 2001 scheme;
• approved the terms offered to Lloyd Wigglesworth on the termination of his employment;
• approved a revised guidelines on Directors’ share dealing;
• approved the Executive Directors’ salaries and pension provision for 2013/2014;
• reaffirmed the Company’s policy that Directors’ service contracts should make no specific provision for the payment of compensation in the 

event of termination; and
• considered the effect and timing of the new Directors’ remuneration reporting regulations.
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Patrick Martell 
 
Chief Executive

Patrick Martell joined the Board on 2 August 2003. 
Patrick started with the Group in 1980, was appointed 
a Director of Clays in 1994 and became its Managing 
Director in 2000. Since 2003 Patrick has held the 
positions of Managing Director – Media Products, then 
Managing Director – UK Operations and was appointed 
Chief Executive in April 2009. 

3

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESPONSIBLE STEWARDSHIP

Matt Armitage 
 
Chief Financial Officer & Group Managing  
Director – Marketing Services

Matt Armitage, ACMA joined the Board on  
3 September 2007, having previously worked for 
Tequila London Ltd – a below-the-line marketing 
services business owned by Omnicom Inc – for 5 years 
as their Finance Director. Matt has also headed up the 
Group’s Marketing Services businesses since March 
2012. Prior to joining the Company, Matt had held 
various financial management positions with companies 
operating in the telecommunications, technology and 
fast-moving consumer goods industries, including ten 
years with Unilever plc.

Executive Directors

1 Member of the 
Audit Committee

2 Member of the 
Remuneration Committee

3 Member of the 
Nomination Committee

3
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Richard Stillwell 
 
Chairman

Richard Stillwell joined the Board on 1 September 2006 and was appointed Chairman  
of the Company on 26 April 2011. Richard is a qualified barrister (non-practising) and  
holds Non-Executive Directorships with Fiberweb plc, Scott Bader Company Ltd 
(Chairman) and TBI Ltd. Until 2000 Richard was Executive Vice President of ICI plc,  
where he had held various posts for 26 years. Richard chairs meetings of the  
Nomination Committee. 

3

Mike Butterworth 
 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mike Butterworth, ACA joined the Board on 1 August 2010. Until December 2012 Mike 
served as Group Finance Director of Cookson Group plc for 8 years, a FTSE250 company 
supplying products, processes and services to the ceramics, electronics and precious 
metals industries. Previously, Mike was Group Finance Director of Incepta Group plc for 
5 years, an international marketing and communications group, prior to which he spent 
5 years as Group Financial Controller at BBA Group plc, the international aviation and 
materials technology group. Mike is senior Non-Executive Director and chairs meetings  
of the Audit Committee.

The Board is dedicating more time to the strategic 
development of the business, whilst continuing 
to maintain high levels of corporate governance.

Non-Executive Directors

1 2 3

Ben Gordon 
 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ben Gordon joined the Board on 15 July 2013. Ben spent nine years as CEO of Mothercare 
plc until 2011 and the previous three years as Senior Vice President and Managing Director, 
Disney Store, Europe and Asia Pacific. Ben had previously held senior positions within 
WHSmith Group in the UK and USA and with L’Oreal S.A. in France and the UK. Ben is 
a Non-Executive Director of Britvic plc and Senior Partner and Non-Executive Director of 
Powerleague Group Limited. 

1 2 3

Helen Stevenson 
 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Helen Stevenson joined the Board on 1 May 2012. Helen was Chief Marketing Officer 
UK at Yell Group PLC from 2006 to 2012 and, prior to this, served as Lloyds TSB 
Group Marketing Director. Helen started her career with Mars Inc where she spent 19 
years, culminating in her role as European Marketing Director, leading category strategy 
development across Europe. Helen has in the past served as a Non-Executive Director 
on the main board of the Department of Work and Pensions. Helen currently holds Non-
Executive Directorships with the Skipton Building Society and NavitasIP, a boutique private 
equity partnership, and serves on the Strategic Advisory Board of Henley Business School. 
Helen chairs the Remuneration Committee. 

1 2 3
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their Directors’ Report and the audited financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013 (‘the year’). This Directors’ 
Report covers the year and the period up to the date of signature.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Group are set out on pages 6 to 10 of the Chief Executive’s Performance Review.

The subsidiaries principally affecting the profits or net assets of the Group in the year are listed in note 35 of the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS AND OPERATING REVIEW
A detailed review of the performance of the Group and its future prospects can be found in the Chief Executive’s Performance Review and the Financial 
Review which should be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 and 3, Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 28 and 29 
and the report on Corporate and Social Responsibility on pages 30 to 33, all of which are incorporated by reference into and forms part of this  
Directors’ Report.

Certain sections of this Annual Report and Accounts contain forward-looking statements with respect to the strategy, financial condition, results, 
operations and businesses of the Group or markets in which the Group operates. These statements and forecasts involve risk and uncertainty because 
they relate to events and depend on circumstances that occur in the future and relate to events, not all of which are within the Group’s control. Although 
the Group believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there are a number of factors that could cause 
actual results or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. The Group undertakes no 
obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group profit for the year before taxation amounted to £5,593,000 (2012 – profit (restated) £4,813,000). The Directors propose a final dividend of 
4.50 pence for each ordinary share payable on 20 December 2013 to holders on the register as at 29 November 2013. If approved, the final dividend  
will make total dividends for the year of 6.50 pence per ordinary share:

      £’000

Ordinary dividends        
Interim      2,378 
Proposed final      5,469

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to the financial statements. The Company’s share capital is comprised of one class of 
ordinary shares of 10 pence each. The shares carry no rights to fixed income and each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings. All shares 
are fully paid. There are no specific restrictions on the size of a shareholding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both covered by the provisions of 
the articles of association and prevailing legislation.

MAJOR INTERESTS IN SHARES
As at 2 August 2013 the Company had been notified, in accordance with chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, of the following voting 
rights as shareholders of the Company: 
     Number of 
     voting rights %

Silchester International Investors Limited and its subsidiaries     14,987,795 12.36 
Delta Lloyd NV and subsidiaries     10,939,326 8.99 
Standard Life Investments Limited     8,143,429 6.72 
RWC Asset Management     6,186,607 5.10 
Schroder plc     5,979,904 4.99

On 6 August 2013 Standard Life Investments Limited notified the Company that it had in interest in the voting rights of 7,143,178 shares (5.87% of the 
issued share capital in the Company at that date).

ACQUISITION OF THE COMPANY’S OWN SHARES
Further to the authority given at the 2012 Annual General Meeting, the Company purchased 40,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £4,000,  
and representing approximately 0.03% of the Company’s called up ordinary share capital, for a consideration of £62,044. These shares will be held  
in treasury.
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DIRECTORS
The present membership of the Board is set out on pages 38 and 39. 

Richard Stillwell holds a number of external Non-Executive Directorships (set out on page 39) which, in the opinion of the Board, does not prevent  
him from devoting sufficient time to his responsibilities as Chairman of the Board. 

Tony Stuart and Lloyd Wigglesworth each resigned as a Director with effect from 30 June 2013. Ben Gordon was appointed an independent Non-
Executive Director on 15 July 2013. The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 56.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The notice of Annual General Meeting 2013 included with the copy of the Annual Report and Accounts mailed to shareholders on 29 October 2013,  
sets out the following non-routine business in addition to routine business:

Allotment of share capital
The Board will seek to renew the shareholders’ authority to permit it to allot relevant securities within the limits laid down by the Companies Act 2006 
and the December 2008 guidelines issued by the Association of British Insurers.

Disapplication of statutory pre-emption rights
The Directors also seek authority to allot shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the foregoing authority granted, subject to certain stringent 
conditions.

Authority for the Company to purchase its own ordinary shares
It will also be proposed to renew the shareholders’ approval for the Directors to effect market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares on behalf  
of the Company under the authority of the Companies Act 2006 and subject to certain limits and restrictions.

Notice for calling a general meeting
It will be proposed that a general meeting, other than an Annual General Meeting, may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.

Full explanations of the foregoing non-routine business are given in the Chairman’s letter which accompanies the notice of Annual General Meeting.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES
The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities with regard to employment, free from discrimination and harassment and in a healthy and safe 
working environment. Details of how we deliver on these commitments are provided in the Report on Corporate and Social Responsibility.

Pension Scheme
The Group’s companies contributed during the year to a number of defined contribution schemes which were available for all qualifying employees  
to join. 

Those employees who were active members of the Group’s defined benefits scheme on 1 September 2008 were each invited to participate in an 
alternative defined contribution scheme and their benefits in the closed to future accrual.

The investments of the Group’s defined benefits scheme are managed separately, partly passively and partly actively under the direction of a trustee 
company (‘the Trustee’). The fund managers of the actively managed portfolios are proscribed from holding any investment in, or lending to, the Group. 
The number of Directors of the Trustee is split equally between member-nominated and Company-nominated Trustee Directors, subject to casual 
vacancies which may arise from time to time. 

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS
Details are given in the Report on Corporate and Social Responsibility on page 31.

CREDITOR PAYMENTS
Details are given in the Report on Corporate and Social Responsibility on page 31.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

AUDITORS
The Company held a competitive tender in 2009 and retained Deloitte LLP (‘Deloitte’) at that time as the Group’s Auditor.

The Audit Committee has considered the effectiveness of the external audit undertaken by Deloitte in the light of their internal quality control procedures, 
the promptness and accuracy of their work, and other services obtained from them. The Committee also considered the robustness of Deloitte’s 
safeguards and procedures to counter threats or perceived threats to their objectivity, the application of their independence policies and their adherence 
to the Ethical Standards published by the Auditing Practices Board. In all these respects the Committee was satisfied with Deloitte’s objectivity and 
independence. During the year, the Committee satisfied itself that the Company’s policy on the provision by the Group’s external auditors of non-audit 
services had been appropriately applied.

Based on a review of Deloitte’s performance during 2012/2013 and after reviewing their independence, the Committee has recommended to the Board 
that Deloitte be re-appointed. The recommendation was accepted and therefore a resolution to re-appoint them as the Group’s auditors will be proposed 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

GOING CONCERN
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the  
Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Performance Review and report on Corporate and Social Responsibility. The financial position of the 
Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review. In addition, note 28 to the financial statements 
includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital 
risk. The foregoing statement, review and report are to be found on pages 2 to 37 and note 28 to the financial statements on pages 95 to 97.

As highlighted in note 28 to the financial statements, the Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through an overdraft facility  
of £15.0 million that is part of an overall funding facility of £70.0 million which falls due for renewal on 31 October 2015. 

The current economic conditions create uncertainty, particularly over the level of demand for the Group’s products, but the Group’s forecasts and 
projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the Group should be able to operate within the level  
of its current facility and obtain further financing when the current facility expires. 

After making enquiries, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources and borrowing facilities to continue in operational existence  
for the foreseeable future. Consequently, they have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ DISCLOSURES TO THE AUDITORS
Each of the Directors of the Company as at 1 October 2013 has confirmed that:

• so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
• the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information  

and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Philip Harris
Company Secretary

1 October 2013
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1 October 2013

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to be able to take this opportunity to provide a summary of the Company’s remuneration policy and to describe 
the context in which the policy has been implemented during the year under review. 

In accordance with the new regulations governing the disclosure and approval of Directors’ remuneration, our report this year has been split into two 
sections: a Policy Report and an Annual Report on Remuneration. The Policy Report sets out the forward-looking policy on the remuneration of the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the Annual Report on Remuneration discloses how the remuneration policy has been implemented in the 
2012/2013 financial year and how it will be implemented for the year ahead. As required by current legislation, we will be seeking your support for both 
parts of the report by way of a single advisory vote at the forthcoming AGM on 26 November 2013. From next year, when the new legislation becomes 
binding, we will hold separate votes on the Policy Report and the Annual Report on Remuneration.

PERFORMANCE AND REWARD FOR 2012/2013
The year under review has been one of significant progress, during which we have achieved further success in repositioning the Group to offer an 
extended range of added value marketing services at the same time as exiting commoditised print markets. Our acquisitions of Amaze and Branded3 
continue our strategy to create a complementary range of digital and marketing services. Looking ahead, we now aim to strengthen our individual 
businesses and develop further customer value propositions through the Group’s unique cross-media capabilities.

At the same time as executing a successful strategic realignment of the business, we have once again delivered strong financial performance, despite 
the challenging trading conditions. Good progress has been made, with underlying Group profit before tax increasing by 10.7% and basic underlying 
earnings per share increasing by 8.5%. 

In light of the performance of the Executive Directors during the year under review, against the very challenging EPS annual bonus targets set, annual 
bonuses were 120.33% of salary (out of a maximum of 125% of salary). Any bonus payable above 50% of salary will be paid in shares which will need 
to be held by Directors for at least two years. 

With regard to our long-term performance, the LTIP awards made on 5 January 2011 were made subject to three performance measures: EPS (50% 
of the award); non-print added value (25% of the award); and TSR (25% of the award). Based on the results in the financial year 2012/2013, the EPS 
and non-print added value portions shall vest in full (i.e. 75% of the potential award). The TSR-based portion of the award is measured over the three 
years from the date of award and so will not be measured until 5 January 2014. Full details of the outcome of the 5 January 2011 LTIP award are 
disclosed in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 55.

The levels of performance described above, achieved against a challenging economic background, are a reflection of the motivated and talented 
executive management team at St Ives.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR 2013/2014
We have made amendments to our remuneration policy in light of restructuring of the Board that has taken place during the year under review and 
which Richard Stillwell has described in his Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 and 3. We expect these changes to yield enhanced efficiency and 
effectiveness as well as a lower overall cost associated with the Board. The changes also reflect feedback in relation to our Remuneration Policy  
from institutional investors. 

To better support our current phase of development, and recognising the revised responsibilities within the executive Board, the Remuneration 
Committee has reviewed remuneration with a view to:

• implementing a market consistent policy that achieved the Committee’s overriding aim of retaining and motivating our highly regarded management 
team; and

• further strengthening alignment between the Company’s shareholders and the management team. 

Key principles adopted by the Committee were to match pay appropriately with increased responsibilities but otherwise broadly retain the same 
expected value of remuneration, and to increase the long-term component of the reward package. 

As a result of the above, we have made the following changes for both Executive Directors:

• introduced a market consistent level of pension provision for both Executive Directors (a 15% Company contribution). This is considered to aid  
in the retention of our executives;

• reduced the annual bonus opportunity from 125% of salary to 100% of salary so that our bonus opportunity is aligned with comparable market 
norms for companies of comparable size. It is the Board’s view that this is a more appropriate annual bonus structure as the business continues  
to implement its strategy. EPS remains the key performance metric with bonuses earned based on a challenging sliding scale of targets with 
bonuses part deferred and subject to clawback provisions; 

• increased the Executive Directors’ share ownership guidelines from 100% of salary to 150% of salary in the case of the Chief Financial Officer  
& Group Managing Director – Marketing Services and to 200% of salary in the Case of the Chief Executive; and

• introduced clawback provisions for future long-term incentive awards.

LETTER FROM CHAIR OF REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
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LETTER FROM CHAIR OF REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CONTINUED

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR 2013/2014 CONTINUED
The other key change that we have made is in relation to the Chief Financial Officer & Group Managing Director – Marketing Services, where we  
have increased his base salary by 11.1%. This increase has been awarded after careful consideration of his dual roles as both Chief Financial Officer  
& Group Managing Director – Marketing Services and his revised salary is considered to reflect the size of the dual roles that he now is fulfilling on  
a permanent basis and the increase is considered a one-off ‘right-sizing’. No increase in base salary has been awarded to the Chief Executive as  
his responsibilities remain the same as they were prior to the Board restructuring. 

No changes have been made to any other aspect of our remuneration policy.

In setting the above packages the Committee considers an appropriate balance to have been struck between retention (via setting fixed pay at a 
market competitive level in light of the individual responsibilities of each Executive Director) and motivation (through providing a market consistent 
incentive opportunity). 

We would also reiterate that we have not sought to increase the expected value of the total package for the Chief Executive, only that of the Chief 
Financial Officer & Group Managing Director – Marketing Services, to reflect his enhanced role within the Group. In both cases, however, we have 
further focused the executives on the long-term objectives of the Group through materially higher share ownership requirements.

The Committee remains comfortable that, following these amendments, the current policy does not encourage undue risk taking. In particular,  
the performance metrics used are fully aligned with targeted improvements in the Company’s key performance indicators, incentive pay is subject  
to clawback provisions and part of the annual bonus is subject to mandatory deferral into the Company’s shares. These features of current policy, 
allied to the operation of robust share ownership guidelines, ensure that risk is mitigated and that remuneration policy is aligned with long-term 
shareholders’ interests. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ VIEWS
The Committee actively seeks to engage with shareholders and takes close account of developments in ‘best practice’ guidance. The Committee 
will continue to take the views of shareholders into account when setting remuneration policy in future years. Shareholders’ current best practice 
expectations will be taken into account when the Committee undertakes its review of remuneration policy during the year ahead. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank shareholders for their continued contribution and I hope we can rely on the support of our shareholders  
for our Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2013 AGM.

Helen Stevenson
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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This Report has been prepared in accordance with the relevant recommendations contained within the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code  
(‘the Code’) relating to Directors’ remuneration and the Companies Act 2006. The relevant legislation requires the auditors to report to the Company’s 
members on certain disclosures contained in this Report and to state whether in their opinion that part of the Report has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006. The information on pages 54 to 60 has been audited. In addition, in advance of the requirement to fully 
comply next year, this Report has been partially prepared in accordance with The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013.

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, a resolution to approve this Report will be proposed at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 
Tuesday, 26 November 2013. Details of the resolution may be found in the Notice accompanying this Annual Report. The vote will be advisory but 
will be considered carefully by the members of the Committee and the Board in the formulation and approval of the Company’s future remuneration 
policies.

REMUNERATION POLICY REPORT
This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the remuneration policy of the Company which has been developed taking into account the 
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code and the views of our major shareholders.

OVERVIEW OF REMUNERATION POLICY
The Committee’s policy for the remuneration of the Company’s Executive Directors is that it should be structured so as to attract and retain executives 
of a high calibre with the skills and experience necessary to develop the Company successfully. It aims to recommend strategies which support the 
creation of value for shareholders and reflect and support the delivery of the Company’s strategic priorities while taking due account of market and  
best practice. 

When determining levels of remuneration, the Committee periodically reviews the remuneration practices adopted by appropriate comparator 
companies both in the market generally and in the same business sector as the Company.

The Committee believes that a significant portion of the remuneration package of senior executives should be linked to performance, while ensuring 
that an appropriate balance is struck between (i) fixed and variable pay (ii) short-term and long-term variable pay and (iii) the delivery of rewards in 
cash and shares. The Committee will regularly review the Company’s remuneration policies to ensure that these polices neither encourage nor reward 
inappropriate operational risk-taking that may be to the detriment of shareholders’ interests and that these remuneration policies are, therefore, 
compatible with the Company’s general risk policies and systems.

CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS
The Remuneration Committee considers shareholder feedback received in relation to the AGM each year at a meeting immediately following the AGM. 
This feedback, plus any additional feedback received during any meetings from time to time, is then considered as part of the Group’s annual review  
of remuneration policy. 

In addition, the Remuneration Committee seeks to proactively engage directly with major shareholders and their representative bodies and takes 
seriously their views. In the event that the Committee makes material changes to the remuneration policy, appropriate dialogue will take place with  
the Company’s major shareholders. 

Details of votes cast for and against the resolution to approve last year’s remuneration report are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP
The Committee considers the general basic salary increase for the broader UK employee population when determining the annual salary increases for 
the Executive Directors. The Committee also considers environmental, social and governance issues, and risk when reviewing executive pay quantum 
and structure.

The table on pages 46 to 49 summarises the key aspects of the Company’s remuneration policy for Executive Directors that is intended to operate 
during the current financial year and in future years. A description of how the Company intends to implement the policy is set out in the Annual  
Report on Remuneration on pages 50 to 60. 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT 
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

REMUNERATION POLICY
BASIC SALARY

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics

To provide competitive fixed 
remuneration that will attract and 
retain key employees of a high 
calibre and which will reflect their 
experience and position in the 
Company.

Normally reviewed annually with 
increases effective from 1 August.

Salaries are paid monthly.

In setting salaries, the Committee 
takes into account the following: 

• capability of the individual;
• any changes in responsibility;
• increases awarded across the 

workforce; and
• external economic factors such  

as inflation.

Salaries for 2013/2014 are as 
follows:

Chief Executive: £350,000; and

Chief Financial Officer & Group 
Managing Director – Marketing 
Services: £275,650.

Increases in future years will 
generally be in line with the range 
(in percentage of salary terms) 
awarded across the Group. 

In accordance with normal practice 
at all levels in all parts of the 
Group, increases above this level 
(in percentage of salary terms) may 
be made in certain circumstances 
such as where there is a change 
in responsibility or a significant 
increase in the scale of the role or 
size and complexity of the Group.

Not applicable.

BENEFITS

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics

To provide market competitive 
benefits to attract and retain high 
calibre executives. 

Benefits generally include provision 
of a car, fuel allowance and 
private medical cover but may 
include other ancillary benefits as 
required in order to remain market 
competitive.

The values, expressed as a cost 
to the Company of providing 
the benefits are described in the 
Directors’ Remuneration table on 
page 54. This maximum cost may 
vary each year subject to changes 
in the Company’s insurance 
premiums or changes to the  
terms of the benefits provided. 

Not applicable.

PENSION

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics

To provide market competitive 
benefits, to act as a retention 
mechanism and reward service.

Only basic salary is pensionable.

A company contribution to a 
defined contribution pension 
scheme, a personal pension  
or provision of a cash payment  
in lieu of pension may be  
provided at the discretion of  
the Remuneration Committee. 

Up to 15% of salary. Not applicable.



O
verview

B
usiness R

eview
C

o
rp

o
rate G

o
vernance

O
ur Figures

St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013 47

ANNUAL BONUS

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics and Period

Incentivises achievement of annual 
objectives which support the short-
term performance goals of the 
Company.

Targets reviewed annually. 
Bonus level is determined by the 
Committee after the end of the 
relevant financial year, subject to 
performance against targets set  
at the start of the year.

At the start of each year the 
Committee determines the choice 
of measures to ensure they reflect 
the short- to medium-term KPIs  
of the business at that time.

Payments under the annual bonus 
plan are subject to:

• compulsory payment of any 
bonus earned over 50% of  
salary (on an after tax basis) in 
the Company’s shares under the 
Company Deferred Bonus Shares 
(DBS) arrangement which are 
subject to a holding period of  
two years; and

• the element of the annual 
bonus paid in shares is subject 
to clawback in the event of a 
material misstatement of the 
Company’s financial position.

Deferred shares will generally be 
forfeited if a Director leaves the 
Group (unless in certain situations 
or if the Committee determines 
otherwise).

Dividends are payable on the 
deferred bonus shares in relation  
to the two year holding period.

100% of basic salary.

(reduced from 125% of salary  
in the 2012/2013 financial year).

Performance is measured  
over one financial year.

Bonus awards are subject to 
achievement against a sliding 
scale of challenging financial 
targets and personal objectives. 

Bonuses will be predominantly 
earned against challenging 
financial targets aligned with the 
Company’s key performance 
indicators (e.g. EPS).

Bonuses become payable  
once a threshold level of 
performance is achieved  
against the targets(s) which 
triggers a bonus payment of 
25% of salary, rising to 100% of 
salary for meeting (or exceeding) 
the maximum target(s) set. 
Measurement is made on  
the basis of audited figures.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics and Period

Incentivises executives to achieve 
superior financial growth and 
returns to shareholders over the 
longer-term.

Provides alignment with 
shareholders through awards  
of shares.

Promotes retention of key 
individuals.

The Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(LTIP) which was approved by 
shareholders in 2010.

Eligibility to receive awards is at  
the discretion of the Committee 
each year.

Awards are normally made on an 
annual basis and vest three years 
from grant subject to continued 
employment and the satisfaction of 
challenging three-year performance 
targets.

The Committee reviews the 
quantum of awards annually and 
monitors the continuing suitability  
of the performance measures. 

Where TSR performance 
conditions are set, performance 
against the condition is monitored 
independently on the Committee’s 
behalf and where financial targets 
are set performance against the 
condition is tested based on 
numbers derived from the audited 
financial statements.

Participants benefit from the value 
of dividends paid over the vesting 
period to the extent that awards 
vest. This benefit is delivered in the 
form of cash or additional shares at 
the time that awards are exercised.

In future all awards shall be 
subject to clawback in the event 
of a material misstatement of the 
Company’s financial position.

Awards with a face value of up to 
125% of basic salary (or 200% if 
the Committee believes there are 
exceptional circumstances) can 
be made on an annual basis.

The Company operates within a 
10% in 10 years ABI (new share 
issue) dilution limit.

Performance is measured over  
a three-year period.

A balanced approach to target 
setting is taken with at least 
half of an award subject to 
challenging financial targets 
linked to the Company’s key 
performance indicators (e.g.  
EPS, targets set to reflect 
strategic objectives, etc) with  
the balance of an award subject 
to a relative Total Shareholder 
Return measure.

25% of an award vests at 
threshold performance (0%  
vests below this), increasing  
to 100% pro-rata for maximum 
performance.

Further details of the 
performance metrics to apply to 
awards are set out in the Annual 
Report on Remuneration.

ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics and Period

Encourages long-term shareholding 
in the Company.

Invitations made by the Committee 
under the Approved Sharesave 
Scheme.

Executive Directors may participate 
on the same terms as other 
employees of the Group.

As per HMRC limits (maximum 
monthly savings towards share 
purchases is limited to £250 per 
calendar month).

Not applicable.
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SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value Performance Metrics and Period

To provide alignment between 
executives and shareholders.

A shareholding of:

• 200% of salary for the Chief 
Executive; and

• 150% of salary for other 
Executive Directors.

is expected to be achieved over  
a period of 5 years.

50% of the net of tax number of 
deferred bonus shares or vested 
shares under the Company’s LTIP 
will normally be required to be 
retained until the guideline is met.

The Committee may take account 
of progress towards this target 
when determining LTIP awards.

This guideline has been increased 
from 100% of salary in the 
2012/2013 financial year.

Not applicable. Not applicable.

Notes:
1. While the remuneration policy for Executive Directors is designed having had regard to the policy for employees across the Group as a whole, there are some differences in the structure for senior 

employees which the Committee believes to be necessary to reflect the different levels of responsibility within the Company. The following key differences exist between the Company’s policy for the 
remuneration of Executive Directors as set out in the table above and its approach to the payment of employees generally:
• there is an increased emphasis on performance related pay and, in particular, for share based incentives at the Executive Director level; 
• eligibility to participate in, and the maximum opportunity, in relation to annual bonus varies based on individual role and local practice;
• participation in the LTIP is limited to the Executive Directors and certain selected senior managers. Executive Directors and other employees are all eligible to participate in the Company’s 

Sharesave Plan, details of which are provided on page 53; and
• benefits offered to other employees vary by subsidiary to take account of relevant market conditions.

2. The choice of the performance metrics and range of targets applicable to the annual bonus scheme reflect the Committee’s belief that any incentive compensation should be appropriately 
challenging and tied to both the delivery of robust performance relating to the Group’s financial KPIs and, where appropriate, specific individual objectives. The choice of performance metrics 
applicable to the LTIP (EPS and relative TSR for awards to be granted in 2013/2014, further details of which are provided on pages 53) have been selected on the basis that they reward the delivery 
of long-term returns to shareholders and the Group’s financial growth and are consistent with the Company’s objective of delivering superior levels of long-term value to shareholders. 

3. The share ownership guideline level has been increased (as detailed above). The shares that an Executive Director may count towards the shareholding guideline include: those held in the name  
of the Director; those held in the name of the Director’s spouse, partner or children; any shares held in a family trust for the benefit of the Director and/or his/her spouse, partner or children; and any 
shares held in a personal pension plan on behalf of the Director. The Committee may, in its absolute discretion, approve the holding of shares by alternate means (e.g. shares held under a deferred 
share bonus award) and, if permitted, on such terms determined by the Committee, acting fairly and reasonably. 

4. For the avoidance of doubt, in approving this Directors’ Remuneration Policy, authority is given to the Company to honour any commitments entered into with current or former Directors (such as 
the payment of a pension or the vesting/exercise of past share awards) that have been disclosed to and approved by shareholders in previous remuneration reports. Details of any payments to 
former Directors will be set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration as they arise.
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REWARD SCENARIOS
The charts below show how the composition of each of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages varies at different levels of performance under 
the policy set out above, as a percentage of total remuneration opportunity and as a total value:

The assumptions used in the above chart at the ‘on-target’ performance level are (i) half of maximum bonus is earned and (ii) 55% of the LTIP award  
vests which is based on an assessment of the likelihood of meeting the performance targets at the date of grant based on standard option/long-term 
share award pricing models. No share price growth is included at the point of vesting under any scenario for the LTIP to ensure the above provides a 
simplistic overview of the current value of remuneration payable under the different performance scenarios.

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT AND PROMOTIONS
Base salary levels will be set on appointment after having had due regard to the Company’s general remuneration policy but adjusted, as appropriate,  
to reflect the experience and calibre of the individual. If it is considered appropriate to appoint a new Director on a below market salary (e.g. in the event 
of an internal promotion), they may be the subject of a series of increases to a desired salary positioning over an appropriate time frame (e.g. two to  
three years) subject to performance in post. 

Should it be appropriate to recruit an executive from overseas or for the individual to relocate, then reasonable expenses and payments may be paid  
in relation to such a relocation which would then be subject to disclosure in due course.

The Committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based elements to replace deferred or incentive pay forfeited by an executive leaving a previous 
employer or to take account of other opportunities or commercial interests that the individual was party to prior to joining the Company. The Committee 
would seek to ensure, where possible, that these awards would be consistent with awards and or potential value forfeited/lost in joining the Company 
and in terms of time horizons, vesting periods, expected values and that the potential impact of performance conditions was recognised in determining 
the quantum of such compensation. 

For an internal Executive Director appointment, any variable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role may be allowed to pay out according to  
its terms, adjusted as relevant to take into account the appointment. 

For external and internal appointments, the Committee may agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses as appropriate.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LOSS OF OFFICE PAYMENTS
Summaries of the Directors’ contracts are disclosed below. Directors’ contracts are available for inspection in accordance with Provision A.4.4  
of the Code.

      Unexpired term/ 
     Date of contract Notice period

Executive 
Matt Armitage     1 June 2007 12 months 
Patrick Martell     1 August 2003 12 months 
Lloyd Wigglesworth     11 February 2009 12 months*

* Lloyd Wigglesworth ceased to be a Director on 30 June 2013.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors should serve under rolling service contracts of twelve months’ duration or less and that there should 
be no special provisions for compensation in the event of termination (neither in the normal course nor following a change in control of the Company)  
and that any compensation payments made should take account of the executive’s duty to mitigate his loss. The current Directors’ service contracts  
all comply with this policy. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews the contractual terms for new Executive Directors to ensure these reflect best practice. 

In summary, the contractual provisions are as follows:

Provision  Detailed Terms
Notice Period  12 months
Termination Payment  Limited to a maximum of base salary and benefits, paid monthly and subject to mitigation
Change of control  No Executive Director’s contract contains additional provisions in respect of a change of control

In a leaver event, the following payments may also be made to departing Executive Directors:

1. Any share-based entitlements granted to an Executive Director under the Company’s share plans will be determined based on the relevant plan rules. 
In certain prescribed circumstances, however, such as death, ill-health, disability, retirement or other circumstances at the discretion of the Committee, 
‘good leaver’ status may be applied. For good leavers, awards will normally become eligible to vest on cessation, subject to the satisfaction of the 
relevant performance conditions and be reduced pro-rata to reflect the proportion of the performance period actually served rounded-up to the next 
complete financial year. In such circumstances, the Remuneration Committee has discretion to determine that awards vest at a later date and/or to 
disapply time pro-rating;

2. A pro-rata bonus may be payable for the period of active service in certain prescribed good leaver circumstances at the discretion of the  
Committee; and 

3. At the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, a contribution to reasonable outplacement costs in the event of termination of employment due  
to redundancy. 

EXTERNAL NON-EXECUTIVE APPOINTMENTS
Executive Directors may accept appointments outside the Company with the permission of the Board. The extent to which any fees are retained by  
the individual or are remitted to the Company will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Neither of the current Executive Directors currently holds any 
outside directorships.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The table below summarises the fee policy for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors.

Non-Executive Directors

Purpose and Link to Strategy Operation Maximum Potential Value

To attract and retain high calibre individuals 
without prejudice to the application of 
independent views. 

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration is 
decided by the Executive Directors and the 
Chairman.

The Chairman’s fee is set separately by the 
Committee.

Fees are set by taking account, from time to 
time, of the time required to fulfil the role and 
fees payable in the market.

Any increases in fees also take account of 
increases payable to Executive Directors and  
to the general workforce.

Non-Executive Directors may not participate 
in the Group’s cash or share-based incentive 
arrangements.

For 2013/2014, the fees comprise a base fee of 
£35,000 p.a. plus additional fees of £5,000 p.a. 
for the Senior Independent Director position 
and £5,000 p.a. for chairing the Remuneration 
and Audit Committees.

The Chairman’s fee is set at £120,000 p.a. 

These fees may be revised periodically in line 
with the Company’s policy.



52 St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS CONTINUED
The policy on Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment is that they shall be for an initial period of no more than three years, but subject to notice 
at any time (six months’ notice in the case of the Chairman and three months’ in the case of other Non-Executive Directors). The letters of appointment 
are summarised below and are available for inspection in accordance with Provision A.4.4 of the Code.

     Date of letter of  
     appointment Notice period

Non-Executive 
Mike Butterworth     14 July 2010 3 months 
Ben Gordon     4 July 2013 3 months 
Helen Stevenson     3 April 2012 3 months 
Richard Stillwell     11 August 2006 6 months

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY FOR PERIOD ENDING 1 AUGUST 2014
BASIC SALARY
Patrick Martell’s basic salary has been unchanged since April 2009 and will remain unchanged for the current financial year.

The basic salary of Matt Armitage remained unchanged from 1 August 2009. However, as detailed in the Remuneration Committee Chair’s letter to 
shareholders, his salary has been increased with effect from 1 August 2013. This change was effected after assessing the breadth of his responsibilities 
in light of his now permanently enlarged role, and taking due account of salary levels prevalent in other roles in companies of similar size where a 
combined Chief Financial Officer and Operational Director role operated. After considering comparative data, the Committee considered it appropriate  
to increase his base salary by 11.1%. 

In light of the above, current basic salary levels are as follows:

     From 1 From 1  
      August 2012  August 2013 % Increase

Patrick Martell Chief Executive Officer    £350,000 £350,000 0% 
Matt Armitage Chief Financial Officer & Group Managing 
 Director – Marketing Services    £248,000 £275,650 11.1%

ANNUAL BONUS
The Committee will operate a modified annual bonus plan for Executive Directors during 2013/2014 as compared against that which operated  
in 2012/2013. 

As detailed in the Remuneration Committee Chair’s letter to shareholders, a number of changes to remuneration policy have taken place for 2013/2014 
that take account of feedback from institutional investors and the leading shareholder protection bodies at the same time as ensuring that our overall 
remuneration structure is consistent with comparable market practice.

The primary change is a reduction in our maximum bonus opportunity for the 2013/2014 financial year from 125% of salary to 100% of salary.  
Payments under the bonus plan will be determined solely against a sliding scale of EPS growth targets (25% is payable for meeting the threshold 
performance target, through to 100% for achieving a stretch target with bonus earned on a straight line basis between performance points) for both 
Patrick Martell and Matt Armitage. While actual the targets are considered to be commercially sensitive at the current time, full retrospective disclosure 
will be provided in next year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

Bonuses earned by Directors in excess of 50% of basic salary will be the subject of deferral through payment by way of Company’s shares which need 
to be held by the executive for a period of two years. Other than in certain good leaver circumstances, deferred share awards would lapse in the event 
that an executive ceased employment. The net of tax value of deferred shares shall form part of the Director’s shareholding qualification under the 
Committee’s share ownership guideline for Executive Directors. Part, or all, of the deferred portion of the bonus, however, would be forfeited if it  
became apparent during the holding period that the bonus had been paid by reference to materially misstated results.



O
verview

B
usiness R

eview
C

o
rp

o
rate G

o
vernance

O
ur Figures

St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013 53

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
The 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) is the Group’s primary long-term incentive arrangement. Awards in relation to the period ended 1 August 
2014 are expected to be at 100% of basic salary in the case of both Executive Directors. It is also currently intended that these awards will be subject  
to EPS and TSR performance conditions as follows:

• half of awards are subject to an absolute adjusted EPS target. For these purposes the EPS target will be calculated by reference to the adjusted  
EPS as set out in the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts for 2015/2016 (subject to such further adjustments as the Committee considers fair 
and reasonable). 25% of this part of an award vests for EPS for 2015/2016 of 20.00 pence with full vesting of this part of an award for 23.00 pence.  
A straight-line sliding scale operates between these points;

• half of awards are based on a target measuring the relative TSR of the Company against a comparator group comprising those companies listed in 
the FTSE All-Share Support Services sector (excluding FTSE 100 companies) on the award date and the satisfaction of an EPS underpin. The TSR 
condition will be measured over a fixed three-year performance period, from the start of the year in which the award is made and ending with the 
financial reporting period 2015/2016. The TSR will normally be averaged over the three-month period immediately prior to the commencement of 
the performance period and the three month period immediately preceding the end of the performance period. 25% of this part of an award vests 
for median performance with full vesting of this part of an award for upper quartile performance. A straight line sliding scale operates between these 
points; and

• in addition, no part of the award subject to the TSR condition will vest if EPS is less than 19.00 pence for the 2015/2016 financial year – unless the 
Committee, in its discretion, determines otherwise.

The Committee has agreed to apply a “clawback” provision to future LTIP awards which will enable the Committee to reclaim value that should not have 
been received in the event that, if within the two year period following the year of vesting a material misstatement of the Company’s financial results 
relating to the year of vesting is identified. In such circumstances a clawback would be based on the extent to which the first testing was overpaid based 
on new information.

SAVE AS YOUR EARN SHARE OPTION PLAN (“SHARESAVE PLAN”)
The Company operates a standard HMRC-approved all-employee Sharesave Plan under which eligible employees, including Executive Directors,  
may from time to time be invited to participate. The Sharesave Plan was approved by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting and a second 
invitation was issued to all eligible employees on 23 April 2013. The option price set by the Committee was 108.60 pence per share, which represented 
a 20% discount to the market price of the shares at the date of invitation. Due to the popularity of the Sharesave Plan, applications were scaled-back 
and grants of options adjusted to ensure that the maximum number of options awarded as a result of this year’s invitation did not exceed one million 
shares. The Directors’ interests arising from the award of options under the Sharesave Plan, after scale-back, are disclosed in the table on page 57.

BENEFITS
Executive Directors may receive benefits in kind, which may include the provision of a car, fuel and medical expenses insurance costs, or their cash 
equivalent.

PENSION
As part of a reworking of the current remuneration policy in light of the Board restructuring described in the Remuneration Committee Chair’s letter to 
shareholders, a market related pension policy has been introduced with the Company contributing up to a maximum of 15% of salary in relation to 
retirement provision for Executive Directors.

Matt Armitage participates in the Group’s defined contribution pension scheme. The defined contribution pension scheme has a normal retirement age 
of 65. The Company will make a contribution of 15% of salary into this arrangement in the 2013/2014 financial year. In prior years he has received a 
contribution at 4% of salary.

Patrick Martell will receive salary in lieu of pension at a rate of 15% of salary after taking a transfer of his benefits out of the Company’s defined benefits 
pension scheme (as disclosed in last year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report).

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES
In tandem with revising the annual bonus opportunity and Company pension contributions to Executive Directors, higher share ownership guidelines will 
also operate going forward.

The revised guidelines, reflecting the feedback from institutional shareholders and the shareholder protection bodies, will operate (up from 100% of 
salary) at the following levels:

• Chief Executive: 200% of salary; and
• other Executive Directors: 150% of salary.

These higher guidelines are considered appropriate to ensure that there is robust long-term alignment achieved between Executive Directors and 
shareholders. It is anticipated that the guideline will be met within five years from the commencement of the revised guideline through a combination  
of the retention of vested LTIP shares (half the after tax number of vested shares must be retained) and the net of tax deferred shares earned under the 
Company’s annual bonus plan, which will also count towards the guideline, following consideration of this issue by the Committee. 

The Executive Directors’ holdings and their achievement against the guidelines as at 27 September 2013 are shown on page 56.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company’s approach to Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration is set by the Board with account taken of the time and responsibility involved in 
each role, including where applicable the Chairmanship of Board Committees. 

Fees had remained unchanged since 2007. The Board, following independent advice being sought, recognise that these fees have now become  
out of line with the market rate. As a result the Board has agreed to increase the base responsibility fee for Non-Executive Directors with effect from 
1 January 2013 from £30,000 to £35,000 per annum plus additional fees of £5,000 per annum for the post of Senior Independent Director (previously 
£8,000 per annum) and £5,000 per annum (previously £4,000 per annum) for chairing the Audit or Remuneration Committee. 

The fee paid to the Chairman is set separately by the Committee and has remained set at £120,000 per annum. 

AUDITED INFORMATION
Directors’ remuneration
The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration were as follows:

     2013 2012 
     £’000  £’000

Emoluments     1,945.4 2,095.2 
Termination payments     2.8 – 
Gains on exercise of share options (note)     1,565.5 – 
Money purchase pension contributions     18.6 19.4

     3,532.3 2,114.6

Note: Gains arose during the year on the exercise of share options by Directors (see note 1 to the table on page 57).

Patrick Martell is the highest paid Director of the Company.

Individual Directors’ emoluments from the Group were as follows:
 
 Total emoluments

     Benefits 
   DBS shares  in kind   
 Basic salary/fee Cash bonus (note 1) Termination (note 2) 2013 2012 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 payments £’000  £’000  £’000

Executive 
Matt Armitage 248.0 124.0 174.4 – 14.2 560.6 556.5 
Patrick Martell 350.0 175.0 246.2 – 16.9 788.1 804.3 
Non-Executive        
Mike Butterworth 40.4 – – – – 40.4 34.0 
Ben Gordon (note 3) 1.7 – – – – 1.7 – 
Helen Stevenson  33.3 – –   33.1 7.5 
Richard Stillwell (note 4) 110.0 – – – – 110.0 110.0 
Past Directors 
Simon Marquis (note 5) 12.3 – – – – 12.3 38.0 
Tony Stuart (note 6)  34.2 – – – – 34.2 34.0 
Lloyd Wigglesworth (note 7) 227.3 124.0 – 2.8 13.9 368.0 510.9

 1,057.20 423.0 420.6 2.8 45.0 1,948.6 2,095.2

Notes
1. In respect of Matt Armitage and Patrick Martell bonus earned in excess of 50% of basic salary shall be satisfied with Deferred Bonus Share Awards equivalent to the value, after deduction of income  

tax and employees’ national insurance contributions, of £92,442 and £130,462 (gross pay of £174,400 and £246,200) respectively, which will be held under the terms of the DBS. A description of the 
DBS is given on page 47.

2. Benefits in kind constitute additional payments lieu of the provision of a company car and fuel benefit; and medical expenses insurance cover.
3. Ben Gordon joined the Board on 15 July 2013.
4. Richard Stillwell has elected to forego £10,000 per annum of this fee. Richard Stillwell’s fees are shown above after foregoing this proportion of his fees during 2012/2013. The Company donates the 

sum so withheld to registered charities nominated by Mr Stillwell, with such contributions being matched by contributions by the Company. 
5. Simon Marquis retired from the Board on 1 December 2012.
6. Tony Stuart resigned as a Director with effect from 30 June 2013.
7. In addition Lloyd Wigglesworth was paid basic salary of £20,667 and benefits in kind of, £1,068 in lieu of the provision of a company car and £241 in respect of medical expenses insurance, as an 

employee after the cessation of his directorship on 30 June 2013. The Termination Payment made to Lloyd Wigglesworth comprises £2,700 statutory redundancy pay and £100 in consideration for 
entering into additional confidentiality undertakings. Full disclosure is set out on pages 55 and 56.
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BONUSES FOR 2012/2013 
The Committee decided at the beginning of the year that delivering growth in EPS should be the sole determinant of Executive Directors’ bonus-earnings 
potential for 2012/2013. Therefore, a range of EPS targets was set at the beginning of the year which, if fully delivered, may have resulted in a maximum 
potential bonus of 125% of basic salary:

25% of basic salary could have been earned for a 2012/2013 EPS of 15.50 pence and thereafter a further bonus, subject to a maximum bonus of 125% 
of basic salary on attainment of an EPS of 17.00 pence or more: bonus earned within this range of 1.50 pence is measured on a sliding scale between 
these two points.

The Group’s reported underlying EPS for 2012/2013 is 16.93 pence and the Committee has decided that bonus target set for Patrick Martell  
and Matt Armitage has been met in part, resulting in an EPS performance-related bonus of 120.33% of basic salary. 

In the case of Lloyd Wigglesworth, as he will be leaving the Company’s employment on 30 October 2013 the Committee used its discretion to  
determine that his bonus payment in respect of the year under review would be limited to the maximum cash payment that may be earned under the 
bonus plan (i.e. 50% of salary) irrespective of the performance-related bonus out-turn. In respect of deferred shares to which he may have been eligible 
to receive as a continuing employee beyond 30 October 2013, the decision was taken that these should lapse. Therefore, in total, notwithstanding the 
achievement against the performance targets detailed above, his bonus award in respect of the year under review was limited to £124,000, which was 
paid in cash. The deferred shares to which he would have been eligible to receive based on performance during the year under review to the value of 
£147,418 shall lapse. A compromise agreement has been agreed with Mr. Wigglesworth which includes payments by the Company in full and final 
settlement of all claims arising from the termination of his employment on the grounds of redundancy, provided that Mr. Wigglesworth adheres to the 
terms of the compromise agreement. Full details of the compromise agreement are disclosed under “Termination Payment” below.

Details of the 2012/2013 bonuses paid to Directors are disclosed on page 54. 

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES VESTING FOR 2012/2013
The LTIP award granted on 5 January 2011 was based on EPS (50% of the award) and non-print added value performance (25% of the award) to the 
end of 2012/2013 and on a relative TSR condition measured over the three years from the date of award (25% of the award). The notes on page 58 set 
out the full terms of the performance conditions. 

The Committee, having reviewed the Group’s results for 2012/2013 has decided that EPS and non-print added value performance measures have been 
met in full:

• the EPS range set on grant for the achievement of EPS was 14.00 to 16.00 pence, and the actual adjusted EPS* was 16.93 pence
• the non-print added value range set on grant for 2012/2013 was16 to 20%, and the actual outcome was 25.3%

and, therefore, on 5 January 2014, 75% of the awards granted on 5 January 2011 shall vest in full.

(*Adjusted EPS is determined by the Committee and is generally consistent with underlying basic EPS as disclosed in the Annual Report.)

The TSR portion of the award is measured over the three years from the date of the award and so is not due to be measured until 5 January 2014. 
Achievement of the relative TSR condition is measured against a comparator group comprising those companies listed in the FTSE All-Share Support 
Services sector (excluding FTSE100 companies). To provide a degree of context on the performance delivered to date against the comparator group, 
had the performance period been completed at the start of September 2013 vesting would have been approximately 65% for this portion of the 
award. The Company’s TSR, from the start of the performance period to that date exceeded 90%, which was well above the median achieved by the 
comparator group (which was approximately 60%). Final vesting shall be determined on completion of the performance period for the TSR portion.

TERMINATION PAYMENT
Under the terms of a compromise agreement entered into between the Company and Lloyd Wigglesworth dated 25 June 2013 (‘the compromise 
agreement’), his employment under a service contract dated 11 February 2009 will terminate on 30 October 2013 by reason of the redundancy of 
his role of Managing Director, Print and Publishing Services. The compromise agreement provided, inter alia, for Mr. Wigglesworth to resign from his 
directorship of the Company and all relevant Group companies with effect from 30 June 2013 and requires him to work for four months of his notice 
period (until 30 October 2013) on specific projects, during which time he will be paid his normal salary and benefits, but he will not be eligible for any 
bonus payment for 2013/2014. After completion of these projects Mr. Wigglesworth will be paid in lieu of the remainder of his notice, by eight equal 
instalments of the salary otherwise due to him during that period. He will, however, be subject to an ongoing duty to seek to mitigate his loss by actively 
seeking alternative employment during this period and any earnings he receives from new engagements during that period will reduce the balance due  
of his payment in lieu of notice. 

Pursuant to the compromise agreement, Mr. Wigglesworth shall also receive a statutory redundancy payment of £2,700 and £100 as consideration for 
certain confidentiality and related obligations imposed upon him for the benefit of the Company. The Company also made a contribution of £2,000 plus 
VAT to his solicitors for advice that they gave him in connection with the compromise agreement. The Company has also agreed to pay up to £30,000  
to a provider or providers of outplacement advice to Mr. Wigglesworth.
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TERMINATION PAYMENT CONTINUED
The compromise agreement also sets out the treatment of Mr. Wigglesworth’s entitlements under the Company’s LTIP and deferred bonus  
entitlements as determined by the Committee exercising its discretions, and subject to the other terms and conditions of the compromise agreement.  
Mr. Wigglesworth’s 5 January 2011 LTIP award shall vest in accordance with the rules of the LTIP if and to the extent that the relevant performance 
targets are met. The Committee, exercising its discretion in this regard, has decided that two-thirds of Mr. Wigglesworth’s 11 November 2011 LTIP 
award shall vest and one third of his 12 November 2012 LTIP shall vest in accordance with the rules of the LTIP (i.e. they are both being pro-rated  
for time), in either case only if and to the extent that the relevant performance targets are met. 

The compromise agreement also sets a revised holding period for deferred shares held by the EBT in trust in respect of Mr. Wigglesworth’s 2011/2012 
deferred bonus, such that the holding period will now expire on 1 November 2013, the same date as the holding period for his 2010/2011 deferred 
bonus. 

PENSION
Pension contributions made by the Company to defined contribution scheme in respect of Executive Directors are shown below:

     2013 2012 
      £’000 £’000

Matt Armitage     9.7 9.7 
Lloyd Wigglesworth (note)     8.9 9.7

     18.6 19.4

Note: In addition, the Company paid £808 in pension scheme contributions in respect of Lloyd Wigglesworth’s employment after the cessation of his directorship.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
Interests of Directors and their connected persons in 10 pence ordinary shares (fully paid) of the Company at 2 August 2013 were as follows:

      Expressed as a 27 July 2012 
      percentage of or date of 
      annual basic appointment 
     2 August 2013 salary (note)  if later

Executive 
Matt Armitage     286,149 177% 205,879 
Patrick Martell     315,139 154% 191,555 
Non-Executive        
Mike Butterworth     11,000 – 11,000 
Ben Gordon (Appointed 15 July 2013)     – – – 
Helen Stevenson      3,469 – – 
Richard Stillwell     42,000 – 42,000

Note: Calculated by reference to the mid-market closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares and the Directors’ annual rate of basic salary on 27 September 2013.

All the above share interests were held beneficially and the information given is accurate as at 1 October 2013. The share interests of Matt Armitage  
and Patrick Martell disclosed above include shares purchased from their 2010/2011 and 2011/2012 bonuses which are held in the Company’s EBT 
under the rules of the Company’s DBS. 

DIRECTORS’ SHARE OPTIONS AND LTIP AWARDS
Details of the share options held by Directors who served during the year under review are shown below. All options were granted for nil consideration.
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SHARE OPTIONS – ESOS 2001 AND SHARESAVE PLAN

(note 1)    Number of options

      2 August  Date  
  27 July Exercised Lapsed Granted  2013 Exercise from which Expiry
 Date of grant 2012 during year  during year during year (note 2) price pence exercisable date

Matt Armitage
ESOS 2001 3 Nov 2009 544,000  (544,000) – – – 66.17 3 Nov 2012 2 Nov 2019
Sharesave Plan 18 Apr 2012 2,576 – – – 2,576 65.67 1 June 2015 1 Dec 2015 
 23 Apr 2013 – – – 6,596 6,596 108.60 1 June 2016 1 Dec 2016

  546,576 (544,000) – 6,596 9,172

Patrick Martell 
ESOS 2001 3 Nov 2009 544,000 (544,000) – – – 66.17 3 Nov 2012 2 Nov 2019 
Sharesave Plan 18 Apr 2012 2,576 – – – 2,576 65.67 1 June 2015 1 Dec 2015 
 23 Apr 2013 – – – 6,596 6,596 108.60 1 June 2016 1 Dec 2016

  546,576 (544,000) – 6,596 9,172

Lloyd Wigglesworth 
ESOS 2001 3 Nov 2009 544,000 (544,000) – – – 66.17 3 Nov 2012 2 Nov 2019 
Sharesave Plan 18 Apr 2013 2,576 – – – 2,576 65.67 1 June 2015 1 Dec 2015

  546,576 (544,000) – 2,576 2,576

Notes
1. The ESOS 2001(which has both HMRC ‘approved’ and ‘unapproved’ elements) provided for the grant of options to participants over shares having a market value of up to 150% of salary in any year 

(400% in exceptional circumstances). Options granted and outstanding under the ESOS 2001 are capable of exercise three years after grant, subject to continued employment and the satisfaction of 
performance conditions. The final award of options to Executive Directors under this plan was made on 3 November 2009. Options were granted on 3 November 2009 and vesting was conditional 
on the Group achieving a profit before tax of at least £15m in 2011/2012 (for 20% of the Awards to vest) – with 100% of the options vesting if the Group’s underlying profit before tax exceeded £21m 
in 2011/2012. On a like for like basis, the Group’s underlying profit before tax for 2011/2012 was £24.2m and the Committee resolved that the options should therefore vest in full. During the year the 
Rules of the ESOS 2001 were amended to allow the Company to ‘net settle’ HMRC Unapproved options on exercise, with the agreement of the participant, utilising existing issued share capital of  
the Company. With the agreement of each Director the options, upon exercise on 21 May 2013, were ‘net settled’ with shares held by the Company’s EBT which the Directors sold on the same day  
at 160.50 pence per share, resulting in gains of £511,870, £511,870 and £541,770, respectively, for Matt Armitage, Patrick Martell and Lloyd Wigglesworth. 

2. On date of cessation of directorship in the case of Lloyd Wigglesworth.

LTIP AWARDS
  Market price     End of   
  per share at 27 July Awarded  2 August performance Vesting Expiry
 Date of award date of award 2012  during year Lapsed 2013 period date date

Matt Armitage 5 Jan 2011 97.5p  232,600 – – 232,600 July 2013 5 Jan 2014 4 Jan 2021 
 11 Nov 2011 95.25p 266,800 – – 266,800 July 2014 11 Nov 2014 11 Nov 2021 
 12 Nov 2012 104.00p – 240,800  240,800 July 2015 12 Nov 2015 12 Nov 2022

   499,400 240,800 – 740,200

Patrick Martell 5 Jan 2011 97.5p 410,500 – – 410,500 July 2013 5 Jan 2014 4 Jan 2021 
 11 Nov 2011 95.25p 470,800 – – 470,800 July 2014 11 Nov 2014 11 Nov 2021 
 12 Nov 2012 104.00p – 339,900  339,900 July 2015 12 Nov 2015 12 Nov 2022

   881,300 339,900 – 1,221,200

Lloyd Wigglesworth 
(note 2) 5 Jan 2011 97.5p  232,600 – – 232,600 July 2013 5 Jan 2014 4 Jan 2021 
 11 Nov 2011 95.25p 266,800 – 88,933 177,867 July 2014 11 Nov 2014 11 Nov 2021 
 12 Nov 2012 104.00p – 240,800 160,533 80,267 July 2015 12 Nov 2015 12 Nov 2022

   232,600 240,800 249,466 490,734
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LTIP AWARDS CONTINUED
Notes 
1. The vesting of LTIP awards made on 5 January 2011 is subject to performance conditions (a), (b) and (d) below; the vesting of awards made on 11 November 2011 is subject to performance conditions 

(a), (c) and (d) below; and the vesting of awards made on 12 November 2012 is subject to performance conditions (a) and (d), set by the Committee over the relevant three-year period as follows: 

(a) The EPS target 
 One half of the total number of shares over which an award is granted is subject to an absolute adjusted EPS target as detailed below. For these purposes the EPS target will be calculated by reference 

to the adjusted EPS as set out in the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts for the relevant financial year, (subject to such further adjustments as the Committee considers fair and reasonable). 

5 January 2011 Award 11 November 2011 Award 12 November 2012 Award

EPS for the 2012/2013  
financial year

16 pence or more

From 14 pence to 16 pence

Less than 14 pence 

EPS for the 2013/2014  
financial year

17.80 pence or more

From 16.00 pence to 17.80 pence

Less than 16.00 pence

EPS for the 2014/2015  
financial year

20 .00 pence or more

From 17.80 pence to 20.00 pence

Less than 17.80 pence

% of this part of the award vesting

100%

Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line 
basis

0%

(b) Non-print added value target
 One quarter of the total number of shares over which an award is granted is subject to a target based on the increase in ‘added value’ attributable to non-print activities for the 2012/2013 financial year 

and an absolute EPS underpin. For these purposes added value attributable to non-print activities for the 2012/2013 financial year will be defined as sales less the costs of materials and bought-in 
costs attributable to non-print activities such as database marketing, pre-retail services and retail consultancy. Vesting takes place as follows:

Added value attributable to non-print activities  
for the 2012/2013 financial year

% of this part of the award vesting subject  
to satisfaction of the EPS underpin

20% or more 

From 16% to 20%

Less than 16%

100%

Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis

0%

(c) Marketing Services segment underlying operating profit target
 One quarter of the total number of shares over which an award is granted is subject to achieving at least 25% of the Group’s underlying operating profit (i.e. profit before non-underlying items) from the 

Marketing Services segment in the 2013/2014 financial year as follows:

% of Group Operating Profit attributable to the
Marketing Services segment for the 2013/2014 financial year

% of this part of the award vesting subject to satisfaction 
of the EPS underpin

40% or more 

From 25% to 40%

Less than 25%

100%

Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis

0%

(d) Relative TSR target
 One quarter of the total number of shares over which an award is granted is subject to a target measuring the relative Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) of the Company against a comparator group 

comprising those companies listed in the FTSE All-Share Support Services sector (excluding FTSE100 companies) on the award date and the satisfaction of an absolute EPS underpin.
  

The TSR condition will be measured over a fixed three-year period from the date of the award and TSR will normally be averaged over the three-month period immediately prior to the commencement 
of the performance period and the three month period immediately preceding the end of the performance period.

  
Vesting takes place as follows:

Rank of the Company’s TSR against the comparator group 
at the end of the performance period

% of this part of the award vesting subject to satisfaction 
of the EPS underpin

Upper quartile or above 

Between median and upper quartile

Median

Below median

100%

Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis

25%

0%

In addition, no part of the award subject to conditions (b), (c) and (d) described above will vest if EPS is less than 12.00 pence for the 2012/2013 financial year (for the 5 January 2011 award); less than 
14.50 pence for the 2013/2014 financial year (for the 11 November 2011 award); and less than 16.50 pence for the 2014/2015 financial year (for the12 November 2012 award) – unless the Committee,  
in its discretion, determines otherwise.

2. The Committee decided, in its discretion, that the LTIP granted to Lloyd Wigglesworth will be reduced, pro-rata, to the period that has elapsed between the date of grant and 30 October 2013, 
rounded up to a full year, in accordance with the terms of the compromise agreement and the Rules of the LTIP. The Awards made on 11 November 2011 and 12 November 2012 are therefore 
reduced, respectively, to 177,866 and 80,266 shares and will be tested against the relevant performance conditions on 11 November 2014 and 12 November 2015. The balance of the original  
grants lapsed on 30 June 2013. The vesting of any shares to Lloyd Wigglesworth under the LTIPs will be dependent on his continued adherence to the terms of the compromise agreement.

The market price of St Ives plc ordinary shares of 10 pence each at 2 August 2013 was 169.75 pence and the range during the financial year was  
70.25 pence to 169.75 pence.
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DILUTION
Under the ESOS 2001, LTIP and the Sharesave Plan, awards of options over no more than an aggregate 10% of the Company’s issued share capital 
may be granted over new issue shares in any rolling ten year period (with awards made under any other share plans also being counted).

As at 2 August 2013, excluding lapsed options and options exercised and satisfied from utilising existing issued shares, options over 6,942,951  
shares (5.70 % of the Company’s issued share capital) remain outstanding under all share plans and so count towards this limit.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The graph below shows the Company’s performance, measured by Total Shareholder Return, compared with the performance of the FTSE Small Cap 
Index over the past five years. The FTSE Small Cap has been chosen as a comparator as it represents a broad equity index of which the Company  
has been a constituent member for the majority of the relevant five year period. 

St Ives plc vs FTSE Small Cap - Total Shareholder Return Index
Source Thomson Reuters 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This graph shows the value, by 2 August, of £100 invested in St Ives plc on 1 August 2008 compared with that of £100 invested in the FTSE  
Small Cap Index. The other points plotted are the values at the intervening financial year-ends.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE
Mike Butterworth and Helen Stevenson, both independent Non-Executive Directors, served on the Committee throughout the year. Tony Stuart chaired 
the Committee until his resignation from the Board on 30 June 2013. Helen Stevenson succeeded him as Chair and Ben Gordon joined the Committee 
on 15 July 2013. The number of meetings held, attendances and a description of the principal matters considered by the Committee in carrying out its 
duties during the year are detailed in the corporate governance section on pages 35 to 37.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and agreeing with the Board the overall remuneration policy and its implementation, 
including setting the individual remuneration packages and contractual arrangements for the Executive Directors, senior management and the Chairman 
of the Board.

When undertaking its duties, the Committee ensures that due account is taken of pay and employment conditions throughout the Group by keeping 
abreast of matters such as (i) the general level of salary increases (if any) applied throughout the Group, (ii) the levels of bonuses paid (and bonus 
opportunity offered) to the workforce as a whole and (iii) any widespread changes that are proposed to Group-wide employment conditions.

The full terms of reference for the Committee are available on the Company’s website (www.st-ives.co.uk).
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

COMMITTEE’S ADVISERS
To assist in fulfilling its responsibilities, throughout the year the Committee was advised by New Bridge Street (NBS), an Aon plc company. Other than 
in relation to advice on remuneration, neither NBS, nor any other part of Aon plc provided other services to the Company. The terms of engagement 
between the Company and NBS are available from the Company Secretary on request. NBS is also a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group 
and abides by its Code of Conduct. 

The Committee recognises that, although the Committee fully accepts the independence of NBS, there may be occasions when there could be a conflict 
of interests when proposals are put by management on the recommendation of NBS. It therefore retains PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) to act 
solely for the Committee to review proposals where appropriate. 

PwC has provided pensions consulting services to the Company in relation to the Group’s defined benefits pension scheme and due diligence work 
in respect of potential acquisitions. The Committee is satisfied that the provision of these services to the Company does not affect PwC’s ability to 
comment on proposals for remunerating its Executive Directors and certain members of senior management. 

During the year under review, the Committee also, where appropriate, sought advice and assistance from the Company Secretary and members of  
the Board, including the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer & Group Managing Director – Marketing Services  
in connection with carrying out its duties. None of these persons took part in decisions relating specifically to their own remuneration.

Voting at the AGM     2012 AGM 

Votes cast in favour     73,457,032 98.90% 
Votes cast against     815,750 1.10% 
Total votes cast     74,252,496 100.0% 
Abstentions     8,020,398

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Helen Stevenson
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

1 October 2013
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to prepare the group 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. 

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; 
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact  

of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and
• make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the Parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 

statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors confirm that to the best of our knowledge the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole; and the management reports, which is incorporated into the Directors’ Report, includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced 
and understandable and provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Patrick Martell
Chief Executive

1 October 2013

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ST IVES PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of St Ives plc for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013 which comprise the Consolidated Income 
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, 
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 35. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the group financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 2 August 2013 and of its profit for the 53 weeks then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB
As explained in note 1 to the Group financial statements, the Group in addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In our opinion the Group financial statements 
comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the Group financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
• the directors’ statement, contained within the Director’s Report in relation to going concern; and
• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 

Code specified for our review; and
• certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on directors’ remuneration.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial statements of St Ives plc for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013 and on the information  
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

Kate J. Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London

1 October 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

 53 weeks to 2 August 2013  52 weeks to 27 July 2012 (Restated)**

   Non-underlying*   Non-underlying*
  Underlying (note 8) Total Underlying (note 8) Total
 Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 3, 4 317,036 5,643 322,679 327,376 2,083 329,459
Cost of sales  (225,495) (7,394) (232,889) (237,686) (4,066) (241,752)

Gross profit/(loss)  91,541 (1,751) 89,790 89,690 (1,983) 87,707
Selling costs  (20,969) (908) (21,877) (24,469) (739) (25,208)
Administrative expenses  (43,283) (17,375) (60,658) (40,952) (16,535) (57,487)
Other operating income  9 271 280 184 1,421 1,605

Profit/(loss) from operations 4, 5 27,298 (19,763) 7,535 24,453 (17,836) 6,617
Investment income 9 12,598 – 12,598 15,239 – 15,239
Finance costs 10 (13,073) – (13,073) (15,464) – (15,464)

Profit/(loss) before tax  26,823 (19,763) 7,060 24,228 (17,836) 6,392
Income tax (charge)/credit 11 (6,557) 5,090 (1,467) (6,316) 4,737 (1,579)

Net profit/(loss) for the period  20,266 (14,673) 5,593 17,912 (13,099) 4,813

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company  20,291 (14,616) 5,675 17,795 (12,879) 4,916
Non-controlling interests  (25) (57) (82) 117 (220) (103)

   20,266 (14,673) 5,593 17,912 (13,099) 4,813

Basic earnings per share (p) 14 16.93  (12.20) 4.73 15.61 (11.30) 4.31

Diluted earnings per share (p) 14 16.41 (11.82) 4.59 15.44 (11.18) 4.27

* Non-underlying items comprise restructuring costs, provision releases, operating results of non-continuing sites, net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, acquisition 
costs, consideration required to be treated as remuneration amortisation of acquired intangibles and other one-off items.

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 6).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

       52 weeks to
       53 weeks to 27 July
      2 August 2012
      2013 (Restated)**
       £’000  £’000

Profit for the period      5,593 4,813

 Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefits pension schemes     17,199 (11,256)
 Tax (charge)/credit on items taken directly to equity      (4,201) 2,063

      12,998 (9,193)
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Transfers of gains on cash flow hedges to hedged items     (66) (5)
 (Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges      (50) 66
 Tax credit/(charge) on items taken directly to equity      2 (14)

      (114) 47
 Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the period     12,884 (9,146)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period     18,477 (4,333)

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company      18,559 (4,230)
Non-controlling interests      (82) (103)

       18,477 (4,333)

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 6).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

  Additional   Share Hedging   Non-
  paid-in   option and  Retained controlling
 Share capital† ESOP Treasury reserve translation Other earnings interest
 capital (Restated)** reserve shares (Restated)** reserve reserves (Restated)** (Restated)** Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 30 July 2011 10,585 48,778 (1,144) – 656 4 48,294 74,686 477 134,042
Profit/(loss) for the period – – – – – – – 4,916 (103) 4,813
Other comprehensive  
 income/(expense) for the period – – – – – 47 47 (9,193) – (9,146)

Comprehensive  
 income/(expense) for the period – – – – – 47 47 (4,277) (103) (4,333)
Adjustment in respect of  
 acquisition of subsidiary – – – – – – – – (13) (13)
Dividends – – – – – – – (5,774) – (5,774)
Issue of share capital 1,398 2,250 788 – – – 3,038 (607) – 3,829
Transfer of contingent  
 consideration deemed  
 as remuneration – 43 – – (532) – (489) 448 – (41)
Recognition of  
 share-based payments – – – – 4,227 – 4,227 – – 4,227

Balance at 27 July 2012 11,983 51,071 (356) – 4,351 51 55,117 64,476 361 131,937

Profit/(loss) for the period – – – – – – – 5,675 (82) 5,593
Other comprehensive  
 (expense)/income for the period – – – – – (114) (114) 12,998 – 12,884

Comprehensive (expense)/income  
 for the period – – – – – (114) (114) 18,673 (82) 18,477
Dividends – – – – – – – (7,170) – (7,170)
Issue of share capital 188 393 1,967 – (221) – 2,139 (1,369) – 958
Transfer of contingent  
 consideration deemed  
 as remuneration – 401 – – (3,344) – (2,943) 3,331 – 388
Exchange differences – – – – – (11) (11) – – (11)
Purchase of own shares – – (1,811) (62) – – (1,873) – – (1,873)
Recognition of  
 share-based payments – – – – 4,919 – 4,919 – – 4,919
Deferred tax on  
 share-based payments – – – – 564 – 564 – – 564

Balance at 2 August 2013 12,171 51,865 (200) (62) 6,269 (74) 57,798 77,941 279 148,189

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 6).

† Additional paid-in capital includes share premium, merger reserve and capital redemption reserve (note 30).
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

      27 July 29 July
      2 August 2012 2011
     2013 (Restated)** (Restated)**
    Note £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment    15 56,232 56,361 62,376
Goodwill    16 90,148 70,824 62,253
Other intangible assets     16 33,039 31,325 11,522
Available for sale    17 1,517 3,050 –
Retirement benefits surplus    27 84 – –
Other non-current assets    19 724 – 2,429

      181,744 161,560 138,580

Current assets
Inventories    18 8,106 7,038 7,182
Trade and other receivables    19 67,597 89,498 65,110
Derivative financial instruments     20 735 76 4
Cash and cash equivalents    19 15,581 12,109 16,262

      92,019 108,721 88,558

Total assets     273,763 270,281 227,138

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases    23 169 – –
Trade and other payables    21 75,098 80,119 69,363
Derivative financial instruments     20 44 – –
Income tax payable     2,104 1,752 3,283
Deferred consideration payable     2,051 2,221 851
Deferred income    24 4,320 824 376
Provisions    25 1,625 1,348 1,626

      85,411 86,264 75,499

Non-current liabilities
Loans    22 30,000 25,550 –
Obligations under finance leases    23 576 – –
Retirement benefits obligations    27 – 19,991 12,295
Deferred consideration payable     – – 688
Provisions    25 1,156 1,190 687
Deferred tax liabilities    26 8,431 5,349 3,927

      40,163 52,080 17,597

Total liabilities     125,574 138,344 93,096

Net assets     148,189 131,937 134,042

Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital    29 12,171 11,983 10,585
Other reserves     57,798 55,117 48,294
Retained earnings     77,941 64,476 74,686

Attributable to shareholders of the parent company      147,910 131,576 133,565
Non-controlling interests     279 361 477

Total equity     148,189 131,937 134,042

** The results for the prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 6).

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 October 2013 and signed on its behalf by

Patrick Martell Matt Armitage
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer
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       52 weeks to
       53 weeks to 27 July
      2 August 2012
      2013 (Restated)**
     Note £’000  £’000

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations     31 35,932 8,108
Interest paid      (1,056) (1,442)
Income taxes paid      (3,557) (5,700)

Net cash generated from operating activities      31,319 966

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment      (6,110) (6,426)
Purchase of other intangibles      (420) (613)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment     326 4,917
Disposal proceeds of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed     2,537 2,255
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired     12 (22,204) (21,978)
Disposal of available for sale financial assets      596 –
Purchase of available for sale financial assets      (517) (2,500)

Net cash used in investing activities      (25,792) (24,345)

Financing activities
Dividends paid     13 (7,170) (5,774)
Increase in finance lease obligations      676 –
Increase in bank loans      4,450 25,000

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities     (2,044) 19,226

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     3,483 (4,153)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period     12,109 16,262
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes      (11) –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period     31 15,581 12,109

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 6).

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
St Ives plc is a company incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is One Tudor Street, 
London, EC4Y 0AH. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Chief Executive’s Performance Review, pages 6  
to 10.

These consolidated financial statements (‘the financial statements’) are presented in Pound sterling because this is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates.

In the current period, the following revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted:

Amendments to IAS 1 (1 July 2012) Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income

Amendments to IAS 12 (1 January 2012) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards, Amendments and Interpretations which have not been applied in 
these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU). The Group has not applied these 
standards in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

IAS 19 (revised) Employee Benefits; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IAS 27 (revised) Separate Financial Statements; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IAS 28 (revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after  
 1 January 2013

IAS 32 (amendments) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after  
 1 January 2014

IFRS 1 (amendments) Government Loans; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2013

IFRIC 21 Levies; this standard is mandatory for accounting periods effective after 1 January 2014

In addition, ‘Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle’ includes amendments to a number of Standards and Interpretations including IAS 1, IAS 16,  
IAS 12, IAS 32, IAS 34, IFRS 1 and IFRS 8. The effective date of all the amendments is for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Except for the IAS 19 (revised) standard, the Group does not currently believe the adoption of these pronouncements will have a material impact on 
the consolidated results, financial position or cash flows of the Group. The revised IAS 19 standard which will be adopted with the effect from 3 August 
2013, requires retrospective adoption and therefore the prior periods are required to be restated. Additional IAS19 (revised) will have no impact on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet or Consolidated Cash Flow Statement. Had IAS19 (revised) been in effect for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013, the 
impact on the Financial Statements would be as follows:

       2013

     As reported Adjustments New basis
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Profit from operations     7,535 (391) 7,144
Profit before tax     7,060 (1,604) 5,456
Profit for the period     5,593 (1,224) 4,369
Other comprehensive income for the period     12,884 1,224 14,108
Total comprehensive income for the period     18,477 1,224 19,701
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) adopted by the European Union 
and IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) and Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments. The significant accounting 
policies adopted are set out below.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made judgements as to the policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The accounting estimates and assumptions that management considers to be its critical accounting 
estimations are detailed and explained in the Financial Review.

Going concern
The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements. Further detail is contained in the Directors’ Report on pages 40 to 42.

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiary 
undertakings) for each period. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the period are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to 
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the results of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those of the Group. All intra-Group 
transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Columnar classification in the Consolidated Income Statement
Income statement items are presented in the middle column under the heading ‘non-underlying items’ if they are significant in size and do not occur 
in the normal course of business, or if they comprise of restructuring costs, or if they comprise the operating results of a site arising after a formal 
decision on its closure has been taken where that site does not meet the definition of a discontinued operation under IFRS 5 – Assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations (in which case the site and its activities are referred to as a ‘non-continuing operation’), or if they comprise amortisation charges 
on acquired intangible assets, or if they comprise contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration (note 6).

(c) Change in accounting policy
In January 2013, the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued guidance in respect of IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”. Under this guidance, contingent consideration for acquired subsidiaries where the selling shareholders continue to be employed by the 
Group, but which is automatically forfeited upon termination of employment, is to be classified as remuneration for post-combination services. 

Previously when the Group acquired a subsidiary from a selling shareholder who continued to be employed by the Group, the Group reached an overall 
conclusion that payments to those individuals were consideration for the business and not remuneration for post acquisition services. This was based on 
a balanced assessment of all indicators set out in paragraph B55 of IFRS3, including whether the payments were dependent on continuing employment. 

The Group has accordingly changed its accounting policy to conform to this guidance, and the comparatives have been restated (note 6).

(d) Revenue recognition
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable and comprises amounts receivable for goods and services, net of trade 
discounts, up-front payments, VAT and other sales-related taxes. 

Revenue for goods is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
customer, normally on shipment of the product. 

Revenue for service is recognised as services are delivered or in proportion to the level of services performed. Revenue for the level of services 
performed is recognised using the stage of completion method when the outcome can be measured reliably. The stage of completion is determined 
using relevant criteria including service performed as a percentage of total services or as proportion of costs incurred. 

Income from advance billings is deferred and released to revenue when conditions for its recognition have been fulfilled.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(e) Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary at the date of the acquisition. Fair value is finalised within 12 months of the date of the acquisition. 
Goodwill is not amortised but reviewed for impairment annually in accordance with the impairment of goodwill policy set out below.

Other intangible assets – computer software
Computer software that is not integral to an item of property, plant or equipment is classified as an intangible asset and is held on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet at cost. These assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is generally two to five years.

Other intangible assets – customer relationships
Customer relationships identified as separable intangible assets in the context of business combinations are capitalised at their fair value at the date  
of acquisition. They are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is generally five to ten years.

Other intangible assets – proprietary techniques
Proprietary techniques identified as separable intangible assets in the context of business combinations are capitalised at their fair value at the date  
of acquisition. They are fully amortised over their estimated useful life which is generally three to eight years.

(f) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods, or for administration purposes is stated in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at deemed cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Costs are recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement during the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees. Depreciation of these 
assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is charged, other than on freehold land and assets under the course of construction, so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following basis:

Freehold buildings       2% – 4%
Long leases       Period of lease
Plant and machinery       10% – 331/3%
Fixture, fittings and equipment       10% – 331/3%
Motor vehicles       20 – 25%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount  
of the asset and is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

(g) Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered any impairment loss.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an expense in the Consolidated Income 
Statement. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior periods. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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(h) Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to the group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
A cash-generating unit represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by the Group’s Board of Directors for internal management purposes. 
The recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually on a consistent 
date during each financial period, or more frequently when such events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Impairments of goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

(i) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those production overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is valued on a first in, first out (‘FIFO’) basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price  
less the estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling and distribution.

(j) Tax
The tax expense in the Consolidated Income Statement comprises tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Consolidated Income 
Statement because it excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the accounts and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit; and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise on goodwill or from 
the initial recognition (other than business combinations) of other assets or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting 
profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is 
charged or credited to the Consolidated Income Statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current assets against current liabilities and when they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

(k) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle 
the obligation, and its value can be reliably estimated. When a provision needs to be released, the provision is taken back to the Consolidated Income 
Statement within the line where it was initially booked.

Provisions for repairs
Provisions for repairs are made where the Group is committed under the terms of the lease to make repairs to leasehold property. The provision is made 
for the estimated cost over the period of the lease.

Provisions for restructuring costs
Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been communicated to 
affected parties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(l) Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies other than Pound sterling are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Pound sterling at the exchange rate ruling at that date.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation or settlement of monetary items are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction and not retranslated each period end. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to Pound sterling at exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined. Exchange gains and losses arising on the retranslation  
of non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised directly in a separate component of equity. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into Pound sterling at the rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Income and expense items and the cash flows of foreign operations are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, except for 
individually material items which may be translated at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising on retranslation of 
non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised directly in a separate component of equity. 

Such translation differences are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the closing rate.

(m) Borrowing costs
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(n) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts. Allowances are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement when there is objective evidence that their asset is impaired.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded as the proceeds receivable, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges are accounted for on an 
accruals basis to the Consolidated Income Statement using the effective interest rate method and are included in creditors to the extent that they are not 
settled in the period in which they arise.

Available for sale investments
Unlisted shares held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair values of unlisted shares are calculated  
with reference to exit price. All available-for-sale investments carried at fair value have been fair valued using a level 3 measurement as per the fair  
value hierarchy defined in IFRS 7. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the security is disposed of or  
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the Consolidated Income Statement 
for the period.

Unsecured loan notes
Floating Rate Guaranteed Loan Notes are recorded at their nominal value. Interest payable is accounted for on an accruals basis to the Consolidated 
Income Statement using the effective interest rate method and is included in creditors to the extent that it is not settled in the period in which it arises.

Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group uses derivative 
financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange for the purchase of capital equipment denominated in foreign currencies and the sale of 
goods similarly denominated.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on the use 
of financial derivatives consistent with the Group’s risk management strategy. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
speculative purposes.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges of forecast transactions are recognised 
directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of an asset or liability, then, at the time the asset or liability 
is recognised, the associated gains and losses on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurements 
of the asset or liability. For the hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the 
Consolidated Income Statement in the same period as gains or losses are recognised on the hedged item.

The gain or loss on hedging instruments relating to the effective portion of a net investment hedge is recognised in equity and the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Gains or losses accumulated in equity are included in the Consolidated Income 
Statement when the foreign operations are disposed of.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.

At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecast transition occurs. If a 
hedge transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the Consolidated Income 
Statement for the period.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are 
not closely related to those of their host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in the 
Consolidated Income Statement.

Those derivatives which are not designed as hedges are classified as held for trading and gains and losses on those instruments are recognised 
immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

(o) Retirement benefits
The Group operates both defined benefits and defined contribution schemes for its employees. Payments to the defined contribution schemes are 
expensed to the Consolidated Income Statement as they fall due.

For the defined benefits pension scheme full actuarial calculations are carried out every three years using the projected unit credit method and updates 
are performed for each financial period end. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised 
outside the Consolidated Income Statement and presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The retirement benefits obligation recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet represents the present value of the defined benefits obligations and 
unrecognised past service costs, and as reduced by the fair value of the scheme’s assets.

Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to past service costs, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions to the scheme.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over  
the average period until the benefits become vested.

(p) Share-based payments
The Group makes equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees, which are measured at fair value at the date of the grant. The fair value 
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value of share options issued is measured using a binomial model, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The cumulative expense is reversed when an employee in receipt of the share options terminates service prior to the completion of vesting period.  
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified on termination of the employment, the total fair value of the share-based payments is recorded 
in the Consolidated Income statement as non-underlying item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
(q) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in equal amounts over the terms of the lease.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments; 
each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.

(r) Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the 
aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed by the Group together with the equity instruments 
issued at the average mid-market share price for the five days prior to completion, in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, measured 
at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement 
period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset, liability or equity are 
accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRSs.

An asset or liability from a contingent consideration arrangement where the selling shareholders continue to be employed by the Group, but which is 
automatically forfeited upon termination of employment, is classified as remuneration for post-combination services and is recorded in the Consolidated 
Income Statement.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (2008) are recognised at their 
fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with 
IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards are measured in accordance 
with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports 
provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and circumstances 
that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.

The value of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries is calculated initially as their share of identifiable net assets, and is subsequently adjusted by their 
share of comprehensive income.
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(s) Critical accounting judgements
In the course of applying the Group’s accounting policies the following estimations have been made which could have a significant effect on the results  
of the Group were they subsequently found to be inappropriate.

Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units for which goodwill has been identified. 
In arriving at the value in use an estimation of the future cash flows of cash-generating units and selecting appropriate discount rates is required to 
calculate present values, a process which involves estimation. The recoverability analysis indicates that the carrying amount of goodwill will be recovered 
in full. The situation will be monitored closely should future developments indicate that adjustments are appropriate. The carrying value of goodwill at the 
balance sheet date was £90.1 million (2012 – £70.8 million).

Impairment of acquired intangibles and plant and machinery
The Group considers the recoverability of acquired intangibles and plant and machinery which is included within the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 
£30.1 million and £20.0 million respectively. The key areas of judgement when assessing the recoverability of these assets are in relation to the forecast 
growth rates and discount rates to be applied to forecast cash flows. 

Contingent consideration and consideration required to be treated as remuneration
Contingent consideration and consideration required to be treated as remuneration have been based on the fair value of the most likely outcome.

Retirement benefits obligations
The calculation of retirement benefits obligations requires estimates to be made of discount rates, inflation rates, future salary and pension increases  
and mortality. The net surplus in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for retirement benefits scheme is £0.1 million (2012 – a deficit of £20.0 million).

Allowances against amounts receivable
The Group considers the recoverability of certain customer and other receivable balances. Determining whether an allowance against these balances 
is required involves an assessment of the ability of counterparties to make required payments. If the financial positions of the counterparties were to 
deteriorate, affecting their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required in future periods. The Group maintains credit insurance 
covering its larger trade debtors, a rigorous system of credit control is applied and amounts receivable are continually monitored. Management 
specifically monitors historical bad debt, counterparty creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in payment patterns when evaluating  
the adequacy of the allowances in place.

3. REVENUE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations as defined by International Accounting Standard 18 − ‘Revenue’ is as follows:

       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Continuing operations
Sale of goods      258,617 282,410
Rendering of services      64,062 47,049

Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services     322,679 329,459
Investment income (note 9)      12,598 15,239

Total revenue      335,277 344,698
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group manages its business on a market segment basis. The nature of the market segments is described in the Chief Executive’s Performance 
Review. The Marketing Services segment comprises the Data Marketing, Digital Marketing, Consultancy Services and Field Marketing businesses.  
The Print Services segment comprises the Group’s Books, Exhibition and Events, Point of Sale and Direct Response businesses.

During the current year the Group acquired a marketing and technology consultancy business, Amaze plc and a search engine optimisation and digital 
marketing business, Branded3 Search Limited. The acquired entities are recorded as Digital Marketing businesses within Marketing Services. 

Inter-segment sales are charged at arm’s length prices. Corporate costs before non-underlying items are allocated to revenue-generating segments  
as this better reflects their profitability.

Business segments
     53 weeks to 2 August 2013

    Marketing Print
     Services Services Eliminations Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue
External sales    64,062 252,974 – 317,036
Group sales    2,174 352 (2,526) –

Underlying revenue    66,236 253,326 (2,526) 317,036
Non-underlying revenue (note 8)    – 5,643 – 5,643

Total revenue    66,236 258,969 (2,526) 322,679

Result
Result before non-underlying items    7,567 19,731 – 27,298
Non-underlying items (note 8)    (10,028) (9,735) – (19,763)

(Loss)/profit from operations    (2,461) 9,996 – 7,535

Investment income        12,598
Finance costs        (13,073)

Profit before tax        7,060
Income tax charge        (1,467)

Profit for the period        5,593

     52 weeks to 27 July 2012 (Restated)

     Marketing Print
    Services Services Eliminations Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue
External sales    47,049 280,327 – 327,376
Group sales    608 211 (819) –

Underlying revenue    47,657 280,538 (819) 327,376
Non-underlying revenue (note 8)    – 2,083 – 2,083

Total revenue    47,657 282,621 (819) 329,459

Result
Result before non-underlying items    4,011 20,442 – 24,453
Non-underlying items (note 8)    (12,228) (5,608) – (17,836)

(Loss)/profit from operations    (8,217) 14,834 – 6,617

Investment income        15,239
Finance costs        (15,464)

Profit before tax        6,392
Income tax charge        (1,579)

Profit for the period        4,813
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Other information
     53 weeks to 2 August 2013

      Marketing  Print
     Services Services Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital additions     1,180 6,537 7,717
Depreciation and amortisation     7,369 6,262 13,631
Impairments     – 624 624

     52 weeks to 27 July 2012

      Marketing Print
     Services Services Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital additions     1,084 4,999 6,083
Depreciation and amortisation     4,588 7,805 12,393
Impairments     – 832 832

Balance sheet
     2 August 2013

      Marketing Print
     Services Services Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets
Segment assets     96,630 159,951 256,581

Unallocated corporate assets        17,182

Consolidated total assets        273,763

Liabilities
Segment liabilities     21,976 63,063 85,039

Unallocated corporate liabilities        40,535

Consolidated total liabilities        125,574

     27 July 2012 (Restated)

      Marketing Print
     Services Services Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets
Segment assets     69,745 185,377 255,122

Unallocated corporate assets        15,159

Consolidated total assets        270,281

Liabilities
Segment liabilities     13,996 71,706 85,702

Unallocated corporate liabilities        52,642

Consolidated total liabilities        138,344
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED
Geographical segments
The Marketing Services and Print Services segments both operate primarily in the UK, deriving more than 90% of their revenues and profits from 
operations and customers located in the UK.

The largest customer of the Group accounted for £28.6 million (2012 − £32.2 million) of revenue in the current period.

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities
       27 July
       2 August 2012
      2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Unallocated corporate assets comprise:
Financial assets      1,517 3,050
Cash and cash equivalents      15,581 12,109
Retirement benefits surplus      84 –

Unallocated assets as per balance sheet      17,182 15,159

 
Unallocated corporate liabilities comprise:
Deferred tax liabilities      8,431 5,349
Current tax payable      2,104 1,752
Loans and bank overdrafts (non-current)      30,000 25,550
Retirement benefits obligations      – 19,991

Unallocated liabilities as per balance sheet      40,535 52,642

5. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) from operations has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration 
Audit fees:
– Audit of the Company accounts       105 68
– Audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries     191 197
Other assurance      45 25
Non-audit fees:
Corporate finance services      – 85

       341 375

Staff costs (note 7)      105,413 110,314
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15)     7,482 7,837
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 15)     624 832
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16)      6,149 4,556
Operating lease rentals
– land and buildings      2,121 1,309
– plant and equipment      598 1,356
– other      1,898 1,488
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment      (280) (1,605)
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6. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
In January 2013, the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued revised guidance in respect of IFRS 3 
“Business Combinations”. Under this guidance, contingent consideration for acquired subsidiaries where the selling shareholders continue to be 
employed by the Group, but which is automatically forfeited upon termination of employment, is now required to be classified as remuneration for post-
combination services. Prior to this revised guidance, the contingent consideration could be treated for accounting purposes as either consideration or 
remuneration depending on the substance of the transaction. 

Previously the Group reached an overall conclusion based on a balanced assessment of all indicators, including whether payments are dependent 
on continuing employment and determined that these amounts were consideration rather than remuneration. The Group has accordingly changed its 
accounting policy to conform with the revised guidance and the prior period comparatives have been re-stated. This change in accounting policy has  
no impact on net cash flow or net debt.

The impact of the prior period adjustment on the previously reported Consolidated Income Statement is summarised as follows:

   52 weeks to 27 July 2012

     Previously
     Reported Adjustments Restated
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Administrative expenses – non underlying items     (8,019) (8,516) (16,535)
Net profit attributable to:     
Shareholders of the parent company     13,263  (8,345) 4,916 
Non-controlling interests     66  (169) (103)

     
Underlying basic earnings per share     15.61  –  15.61 
Non-underlying items     (3.97) (7.33) (11.30)

Basic earnings per share     11.64  (7.33) 4.31 

Underlying diluted earnings per share     15.44  –  15.44 
Non-underlying items     (3.93) (7.24) (11.18)

Diluted earnings per share     11.51  (7.24) 4.27

The contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration of £6,827,000 recorded to non-underlying items for the 52 weeks to 27 July 2012 
represents a remuneration charge of £8,516,000 and the reversal of a credit of £1,689,000 in relation to a previous release of deferred consideration 
payable for the Tactical Solutions acquisition that was recognised under the previous Group policy. 

The impact of the prior period adjustments on the previously reported Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is summarised as follows:

   52 weeks to 27 July 2012

     Previously
     Reported Adjustments Restated
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at beginning of period in:     
– Additional paid-in capital      49,778 (1,000) 48,778
– Share option reserve      344  312  656
– Retained earnings      76,352  (1,666) 74,686
– Non-controlling interest      662  (185) 477

Issue of shares in:     
– Additional paid in capital     9,467 (7,217) 2,250

Transfer of contingent share consideration in:     
– Additional paid-in capital     – 43 43
– Share option reserve     – (532) (532)
– Retained earnings     –  448  448

Recognition of share based payments in:     
– Share option reserve     767  3,460  4,227
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6. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY CONTINUED
The impact of the prior period adjustments on the previously reported Consolidated Balance Sheet is summarised as follows:

 52 weeks to 27 July 2012  52 weeks to 29 July 2011

  Previously   Previously
  Reported Adjustments Restated Reported Adjustments Restated
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goodwill  87,169  (16,345) 70,824  67,443  (5,190) 62,253 
Trade & other payables  79,101  1,018  80,119  69,255  108  69,363 
Consideration payable less than one year  4,731  (2,510) 2,221  1,677  (826) 851 
Consideration payable greater than year  – – – 2,621  (1,933) 688 
Other reserves  60,050  (4,933)  55,117  48,982  (688) 48,294 
Retained earnings  74,042  (9,566) 64,476  76,352  (1,666) 74,686 
Non-controlling interest  715  (354) 361  662  (185) 477 

The impact of the prior period adjustments on the previously reported Consolidated Cash Flow Statement is summarised as follows:

   52 weeks to 27 July 2012

     Previously
     Reported Adjustments Restated
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Profit from continuing operations      15,133  (8,516) 6,617 
Increase in contingent consideration required to 
 be treated as remuneration      –  4,113 4,113 
(Decrease)/increase in payables     (157) 1,689 1,532
Cash flow from operations     10,822  (2,714) 8,108 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired     (24,692) 2,714  (21,978)

The additional paid-in capital includes share premium, merger reserve and capital redemption reserve and can be summarised as below:

      27 July 2012 30 July 2011
      £’000 £’000

Share premium      46,689 46,689
Merger reserve      3,144 851
Capital redemption reserve      1,238 1,238

Additional paid-in capital      51,071 48,778

The merger reserve includes the additional paid-in capital for the acquisition of Occam, Tactical Solutions, Response One, Pragma, Incite, Amaze and 
Branded3.

7. STAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
       2013 2012
       Number Number

Production      1,888 2,026
Sales      665 450
Administration      478 418

       3,031 2,894

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
       2013 2012
       £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries      89,563 94,010
Social security costs      8,694 9,205
Other pension costs      2,237 2,872

       100,494 106,087
Share-based payment (note 33)      4,919 4,227

       105,413 110,314
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8. NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS
Non-underlying items disclosed on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement included in respect of continuing operations are as follows:

      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Expense/(income)
Restructuring items
Redundancies, impairments and other charges      7,538 6,699
Provision releases      (292) –
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment      (271) (1,421)
Operating losses from non-continuing sites      1,723 601

       8,698 5,879
Other
Amortisation of acquired intangibles       5,314 3,729
Impairment of available for sale asset      1,581 –
Costs associated with the acquisition of subsidiaries and other investments    641 1,384
Contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration     3,489 6,827
Remaining other non-underlying expenses      40 17

       19,763 17,836
Income tax credit      (5,090) (4,737)

       14,673 13,099

Restructuring items
Current period
Included within redundancies, impairment and other charges are redundancies and other charges of £2,439,000 relating to the closure of the Leeds 
site. Also included are redundancies and other charges of £3,797,000 relating to restructuring activities in Head Office, Books, Point of Sale and 
Exhibition and Events businesses. An impairment charge of £624,000 was recognised in respect of a number of Direct Response’s assets. The activities 
of the sites and businesses are recorded within the Print Services segment. Redundancy and restructuring costs of £386,000 were recorded in the 
Consultancy business, part of the Marketing Services segment. 

Profit on disposal of fixed assets includes a £255,000 gain on disposal of plant and machinery within the Print Services segment and a gain of £16,000 
in the Marketing Services segment.

Revenue of £5,643,000 and operating losses of £1,723,000 relate to the operating results arising after the decision to close the Leeds site, within Print 
Services segment.

Prior period
Included within redundancies, impairment and other charges are redundancies and other charges of £4,333,000 relating to the closures of the Blackburn 
and Westerham sites. Also included are redundancies and other charges of £1,314,000 relating to restructuring activities in the Direct Response, Point 
of Sale and Exhibition and Events businesses. The activities of the sites and businesses are recorded within the Print Services segment. An impairment 
charge of £832,000 was recognised in respect of the disposal of the Crayford building. Redundancy costs of £220,000 were recorded in the Data 
Marketing business, part of the Marketing Services segment. 

Profit on disposal of fixed assets includes a £1,421,000 gain on disposal of plant and machinery following the closure of the Blackburn and Westerham 
sites, all within the Print Services segment.

Revenue of £2,083,000 and operating losses of £601,000 relate to the operating results arising after the decision to close Blackburn and Westerham 
sites.
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8. NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS CONTINUED
Other
Current period
Amortisation of acquired intangibles relates to customer relationships and proprietary techniques acquired with Amaze and Branded3, in the current 
period as well as to customer relationships, proprietary techniques and in-house developed software acquired with Incite, Occam, Pragma, Response 
One and Tactical Solutions in prior periods. Costs associated with the acquisition of subsidiaries include £641,000 in respect of the Amaze and 
Branded3 acquisitions. Following the change in accounting policy, as set out in note 6, amounts paid to selling shareholders of £3,489,000 in respect  
of acquisitions is required to be treated as remuneration and is recorded in the Marketing Services segment.

Other non underlying items include an additional consideration of £460,000 paid to the selling shareholders of Incite, £268,000 of costs in relation to the 
acquisition of tax losses of former Magazine Printing businesses and a credit of £735,000 in relation to the revaluation of the Group’s option to purchase 
the remaining 10% of the equity in Tactical Solutions.

Prior period
Amortisation of acquired intangibles relates to customer relationships, in-house developed software and proprietary techniques acquired with Incite, 
Occam, Pragma, Response One and Tactical Solutions. Costs associated with the acquisition of subsidiaries and investments include £970,000 in 
respect of the Incite, Pragma and Response One acquisitions and £414,000 in respect of the Easypress Group and Sponge investments. Amounts paid 
to selling shareholders of £6,825,000 in respect of acquisitions was required to be treated as remuneration and was recorded in the Marketing Services 
segment.

Tax
In the current period, the tax credit relates to the items discussed above, losses recognised for the former Magazine Printing business and to the 
revaluation of deferred tax liabilities following the substantial enactment of the reduction of the corporate tax rate from 23% to 20% (2012 – 25%  
to 23%).

9. INVESTMENT INCOME
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Interest on bank deposits      2 6
Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets (note 27)     12,318 15,009
Release of notional interest on contingent consideration payable     117 –
Notional interest on loan notes receivable       161 224

      12,598 15,239

10. FINANCE COSTS
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans      1,089 1,486
Finance lease charges      39 –
Notional interest on deferred consideration payable      – 71

       1,128 1,557
Finance charge on retirement benefit obligations (note 27)     11,945 13,907

       13,073 15,464
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11. INCOME TAX CHARGE/(CREDIT)
Income tax on the profit as shown in the Consolidated Income Statement is as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

United Kingdom corporation tax charge/(credit) at 23.67% (2012 – 25.35%):
Current period      4,701 3,842
Adjustments in respect of prior periods      (748) 28

Total current tax charge      3,953 3,870

Deferred tax on origination and reversal of temporary differences:
United Kingdom deferred tax credit      (2,399) (1,303)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods      (87) (988)

Total deferred tax credit (note 26)      (2,486) (2,291)

Total income tax charge      1,467 1,579

The income tax charge/(credit) on the profit/(loss) before and after non-underlying items is as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Tax charge on profit before non-underlying items      6,557 6,316
Tax credit on non-underlying items      (5,090) (4,737)

       1,467 1,579

The charge can be reconciled to the profit before tax shown in the Consolidated Income Statement is as follows:
       2012
      2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Profit before tax      7,060 6,392

Tax calculated at a rate of 23.67% (2012 – 25.35%)      1,671 1,620
Non-deductible charges on impairment of assets      473 –
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes      1,698 2,813
Non-taxable income      (174) (12)
Effect of alternative use tax basis on sale of buildings      – (957)
Effect of change in UK corporate tax rate      (1,366) (925)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods      (835) (960)

Total income tax charge      1,467 1,579

Income tax on the profit/(loss) as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

United Kingdom corporation tax credit at 23.67% (2012 – 25.35%)     (593) –
Deferred tax on origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 26)    4,792 (2,049)

Total income tax charge/(credit)      4,199 (2,049)
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12. ACQUISITIONS
Amaze
On 28 March 2013, the Group acquired 100% of all the issued share capital of Amaze plc (Amaze), a marketing and technology consultancy business. 
Goodwill arising on the acquisition relates to the value of future growth from new customers and of the assembled workforce.

Provisional purchase price allocation 
      Historical Fair value Fair value of
     net assets adjustments net assets
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Customer relationships     – 4,783 4,783
Property, plant and equipment     700 – 700
Trade and other receivables     2,697 – 2,697
Bank balances and cash     1,030 – 1,030
Finance leases     (41) – (41)
Trade and other payables     (6,209) 1,774 (4,435)
Provision for repairs     – (181) (181)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)     147 (949) (802)

Net assets acquired     (1,676) 5,427 3,751

Goodwill arising on acquisition         11,551

Total consideration        15,302

The fair value of the components of the total consideration payable are as follows:
         £’000

Cash consideration payment in the current period        15,279
Working capital payment in the current period        23

Total consideration         15,302

The acquisition had the following impact on investing cash outflows in the current period:
         £’000

Cash paid        15,302
Less cash acquired        (1,030)

Net cash outflow        14,272

At the acquisition date, it was estimated that all the trade and other receivables were collectible.

The deferred consideration is dependent upon the level of EBITDA achieved by Amaze for the period ending 31 December 2013. The total consideration 
payable is capped at £25,000,000 excluding a working capital adjustment of £23,000.

It is not expected that any of the goodwill will be deductible for income tax purposes.

The post-acquisition impact of Amaze on the Group’s revenue and operating profit are as follows:
       2013
       £’000

Revenue       6,340
Operating profit       511

Had Amaze been acquired at the beginning of the current period, it would have had the following incremental impact on the Group’s revenue and 
operating profit in the current period:
       Pro Forma
       2013
       £’000

Revenue       11,774
Operating profit       1,129
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Branded3
On 16 May 2013, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of shares in Branded3 Search Limited (Branded3), a provider of search optimisation and digital 
marketing services. Goodwill arising on the acquisition relates to the value of future growth from new customers and of the assembled workforce.

Provisional purchase price allocation
      Historical Fair value Fair value of
     net assets adjustments net assets
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Proprietary techniques     − 2,666 2,666
Property, plant and equipment     66 − 66
Trade and other receivables     1,098 137 1,235
Bank balances and cash     1,432 − 1,432
Trade and other payables     (867) 1 (866)
Provision for repairs      (10) (10)
Deferred tax liabilities     (5) (533) (538)

Net assets acquired     1,724 2,261 3,985

Goodwill arising on acquisition         7,773
Consideration required to be treated as remuneration        7,908

Total consideration        19,666

The fair value of the components of the total consideration payable are as follows:
         £’000

Cash consideration payment in the current period        8,676
Fair value of 1,413,906 St Ives plc ordinary shares issued as at 16 May 2013      2,135
Working capital payment in the current period        688
Estimated future consideration payable in cash and shares       8,167

Total consideration payable        19,666

The acquisition had the following impact on investing cash outflows in the current period:
         £’000

Cash paid        9,364
Less cash acquired        (1,432)

Net cash outflow        7,932

At the acquisition date, it was estimated that all the trade and other receivables were collectible.

Deferred consideration is payable in four tranches which are dependent upon the level of EBITDA achieved by Branded3 in the three months period 
ending 2 August 2013, the period ending 31 January 2014, the period ending 31 January 2015 and the period ending 31 January 2016. The total 
consideration payable is capped at £25,000,000 excluding a working capital adjustment of £688,000.

It is not expected that any of the goodwill will be deductible for income tax purposes.

The post-acquisition impact of Branded3 on the Group’s revenue and operating profit are as follows:
       2013
       £’000

Revenue       1,288
Operating profit       614

Had Branded3 been acquired at the beginning of the current period, it would have had the following incremental impact on the Group’s revenue and 
operating profit in the current period:
       Pro Forma
        2013
       £’000

Revenue       3,167
Operating profit       1,300
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13. DIVIDENDS
       2013 2012
     Per share  £’000 £’000

Final dividend paid for the 52 weeks ended 29 July 2011    3.50p – 3,756
Interim dividend paid for the 26 weeks ended 27 January 2012    1.75p – 2,018
Final dividend paid for the 52 weeks ended 27 July 2012    4.00p 4,792 –
Interim dividend paid for the 27 weeks ended 1 February 2013    2.00p 2,378 –

Dividends paid during the period      7,170 5,774

Proposed final dividend at the period end of 4.50p per share (2012 – 4.00p per share)  4.50p 5,469 4,792

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval by shareholders at the 2013 Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability  
in these financial statements.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Number of shares
       2013 2012
      ‘000 ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share   119,877 114,017
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
 Share options      3,745 1,212

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share   123,622 115,228

Earnings per share
     2013   2012 (Restated)

     Earnings  Earnings
     Earnings per share Earnings per share
    £’000 pence £’000 pence

Earnings and basic earnings per share from continuing activities
Underlying earnings and underlying earnings per share   20,291 16.93 17,795 15.61
Non-underlying items    (14,616) (12.20) (12,879) (11.30)

Earnings and basic earnings per share    5,675 4.73 4,916 4.31

Earnings and diluted earnings per share from continuing activities
Underlying earnings and underlying earnings per share   20,291 16.41 17,795 15.44
Non-underlying items    (14,616) (11.82) (12,879) (11.18)

Earnings and diluted earnings per share    5,675 4.59 4,916 4.27

Underlying earnings is calculated by adding back non-underlying items, as adjusted for tax, to the profit/(loss) for the period (see note 8).
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
   Land and  Land and  Fixtures, fittings,
   buildings  buildings Plant and equipment and
   Freehold Long leases machinery motor vehicles Total
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation:
At 30 July 2011   47,055 7,833 121,908 10,152 186,948
Acquisitions   – 29 115 386 530
Additions   – 29 5,071 370 5,470
Disposals    (7,003) (56) (17,222) (1,076) (25,357)
Reclassification – non-current assets   – – (218) 117 (101)

At 27 July 2012   40,052 7,835 109,654 9,949 167,490
Acquisitions   – 325 281 160 766
Additions   37 67 5,997 1,196 7,297
Disposals   – (81) (15,860) (1,475) (17,416)
Reclassification – non-current assets   458 – (399) – 59

At 2 August 2013   40,547 8,146 99,673 9,830 158,196

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
At 30 July 2011   13,094 2,833 100,814 7,831 124,572
Charge for the period   742 594 5,737 764 7,837
Impairment losses   832 – – – 832
Disposals    (3,803) (43) (17,155) (1,044) (22,045)
Reclassification – non-current assets   – – (44) (23) (67)

At 27 July 2012   10,865 3,384 89,352 7,528 111,129
Charge for the period   742 532 5,480 728 7,482
Impairment losses   – – 624 – 624
Disposals   – (81) (15,828) (1,421) (17,330)
Reclassification – non-current assets   53 – 6 – 59

At 2 August 2013   11,660 3,835 79,634 6,835 101,964

Net book value:
At 2 August 2013   28,887 4,311 20,039 2,995 56,232

At 27 July 2012   29,187 4,451 20,302 2,421 56,361

Impairment losses of £624,000 are recorded against assets held within the Direct Response businesses. In the prior period, impairment losses of 
£832,000 arose on disposal of the freehold building at the Crayford site. 

The Group has freehold land, included within property, plant and equipment, with a book value of £4,432,000 (2012 – £4,385,000), which has not been 
depreciated. The amount of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment is £54,504,000 (2012 – £75,615,000). 

Included within property, plant and equipment are items held under finance leases of £368,000 (2012 – £Nil).
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16. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
        £’000
       (Restated)

Cost and carrying amount of goodwill
At 30 July 2011       62,253
Acquisitions       8,571

At 27 July 2012       70,824
Acquisitions       19,324

At 2 August 2013       90,148

Goodwill is allocated amongst the following cash-generating units (‘CGUs’) or groups of CGUs:
        £’000

SP Group       31,322
Service Graphics       14,952
Data Marketing       15,748
Digital Marketing       19,324
Pragma       219
Incite       601
Tactical Solutions       7,982

        90,148

SP Group and Service Graphics are reported within the Print Services segment. Data Marketing, Tactical Solutions, Pragma, Incite and Digital Marketing 
are reported within the Marketing Services segment. The Amaze and Branded3 CGUs are presented together as Digital Marketing. 

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. As Digital Marketing 
businesses, Amaze and Branded3 were acquired in the period; total consideration payable has been used as value-in-use.

The recoverable amount of the Digital CGU was tested by reference to the market value at 2 August 2013. The recoverable amounts of the other CGUs 
are determined using value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates 
and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs (and therefore profits and losses) during the forecast period. Management estimates discount 
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Changes in selling prices 
and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from 
the most recent medium-term business forecasts with a terminal value calculation. The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations and the 
sensitivities to the key revenue growth and pre-tax discount rate assumptions are detailed below.

   SP Service Data   Tactical
  Group Graphics Marketing Pragma Incite Solutions

Value-in-use assumptions:    
Pre-tax discount rate  10.97% 10.97% 10.97% 10.97% 10.97% 10.97%
Terminal growth used in terminal value calculation  2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Average annual revenue growth used in 
 five year forecast calculation  3.3% 3.6% 7.7% 0.0% 7.7% 6.8%
Excess of value-in-use over carrying value (£’000)  59,700 6,378 12,059 2,444 19,840 12,959
Sensitivity of value-in-use to changes in key  
 growth assumption:  
Decrease in annual revenue growth in five year forecast 
 calculation resulting in potential impairment  18.7% 0.6% 10.8% 24.9% 26.8% 1.4%
Increase to pre-tax discount rate resulting  
 in potential impairment  23.0% 13.8% 15.3% 18.0% 33.4% 18.5%
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Other intangible assets
    Computer Customer Proprietary
    software relationships techniques Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:   
At 30 July 2011    8,088 8,641 – 16,729
Acquisitions    1,103 19,964 2,650 23,717
Additions    613 – – 613
Reclassifications     101 – – 101
Disposals    (78) – – (78)

At 27 July 2012    9,827 28,605 2,650 41,082
Acquisitions    – 4,784 2,666 7,450
Additions    420 – – 420
Disposals    (199) – – (199)

At 2 August 2013    10,048 33,389 5,316 48,753

Accumulated amortisation:   
At 30 July 2011    4,333 874 – 5,207
Charge for the period    1,499 2,856 201 4,556
Reclassifications     67 – – 67
Disposals    (73) – – (73)

At 27 July 2012    5,826 3,730 201 9,757
Charge for the period    1,518 4,280 351 6,149
Disposals    (192) – – (192)

At 2 August 2013    7,152 8,010 552 15,714

Net book value:   
At 2 August 2013    2,896 25,379 4,764 33,039

At 27 July 2012    4,001 24,875 2,449 31,325

17. AVAILABLE FOR SALE ASSETS
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Carried at fair value:
Unlisted shares      1,517 2,050
Convertible loan stock      – 1,000

      1,517 3,050

The Group holds a non-controlling interest of 15.75% in Easypress Group Ltd. These shares are not held for trading and accordingly are classified  
as available for sale.

18. INVENTORIES
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Raw materials      3,279 3,694
Work-in-progress      4,797 3,338
Finished products      30 6

       8,106 7,038

There was no material write-down of inventories in either period.
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19. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Amounts receivable for the sale of goods and services     53,611 65,502
Allowance for doubtful debts      (1,330) (1,945)

Trade receivables       52,281 63,557
Other receivables      3,915 10,138
Prepayments and other assets      11,401 15,803

       67,597 89,498

Trade and other receivables include an amount of £1,708,000 (2012 – £4,023,000) that is receivable in more than one year. The Directors consider that 
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Other non-current assets
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Other receivables       724 –

Cash and cash equivalents
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents      15,581 12,109

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  
The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair value.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Contract designated as fair value through profit and loss     735 –
Forward foreign currency contracts       – 76

       735 76

Financial liabilities
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Forward foreign currency contracts       44 –

The Contract designated as fair value through profit and loss relates to an option to acquire the remaining 10% of equity in Tactical Solutions Limited. 
The option is exercisable during the two months following the period end date for each of the next three financial periods. All forward foreign currency 
contracts are designated and effective as hedging instruments.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
       2012
       2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Trade payables      38,010 36,087
Accruals for goods and services      14,443 17,362
Other taxes, social security and employee related liabilities     14,382 16,182
Other payables      8,263 10,488

       75,098 80,119

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value.
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22. LOANS
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Bank loans      30,000 25,000
Others      – 550

       30,000 25,550

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
Between two and five years      30,000 25,550

Bank loans
In June 2013, the Group negotiated an increase its revolving multicurrency loan facility from £55 million to £70 million. Up to £15 million may be drawn 
as an overdraft facility. The multicurrency loan facility expires on 31 October 2015. Interest on loan drawdowns is charged at LIBOR plus a margin which 
varies between 2.00% and 2.50%, depending on the ratio of the Group’s net debt to EBITDA excluding non-underlying items. Interest on overdraft 
drawdowns is charged at 2.00% over UK base rate. 

As at 2 August 2013, the Group’s outstanding loans, within this facility, were £30.0 million (2012 – £25 million). The undrawn portion of this facility at  
2 August 2013 was £40 million (2012 – £30 million). 

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the loans approximates their fair value.

23. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
     Present value of  Present value of
    Minimum lease minimum lease  Minimum lease minimum lease
    payments payments payments payments

    2013 2013 2012 2012
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year    239 169 – –
Between two to five years    633 576 – –

    872 745 – –
Less finance charges
Present value of lease obligations    (127) – – –

    745 745 – –

Current     169  –
Non-current    576  –

     745  –

24. DEFERRED INCOME

      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Advance billings and other deferred income      4,320 824
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25. PROVISIONS
      Provision for Provision for
     repairs reorganisation Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 30 July 2011     1,158 1,156 2,314
Charged to the Consolidated Income Statement     258 3,144 3,402
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement     (133) – (133)
Utilised during the period     – (3,045) (3,045)

Balance at 27 July 2012     1,283 1,255 2,538
Charged to the Consolidated Income Statement     506 1,066 1,572
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement     – (292) (292)
Acquisition     191 – 191
Utilised during the period     (154) (1,074) (1,228)

Balance at 2 August 2013     1,826 955 2,781
Current      670 955 1,625
Non-current     1,156 – 1,156

      1,826 955 2,781

Provision for repairs
Where the Group is committed under the terms of a lease to make repairs to leasehold premises, provision for repairs is made for these estimated costs 
over the period of the lease. It is anticipated that these liabilities will crystallise between 2014 and 2018.

Provision for reorganisation
The provision for reorganisation relates primarily to the remaining costs in respect of plant closures and relocation and comprises redundancy payments, 
plant relocation, onerous property and other costs, which are expected to be settled by the end of the 2014 financial period. The charge in the current 
period relates principally to the closure of the Leeds sites within the Direct Response business, as well as to restructuring activities within head office,  
all of which are included within the Print Services segment. 

26. DEFERRED TAX
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 20% (2012 – 23%).

The total movement in the deferred tax liability is as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

At the beginning of the period      5,349 3,927
Acquisitions      1,340 5,762
Credit to the Consolidated Income Statement (note 11)     (2,486) (2,291)
Items taken directly to equity       4,228 (2,049)

At the end of the period      8,431 5,349

The individual movement in the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) is as follows:

  Accelerated Retirement  Short-term Derivative  Acquired
 tax  benefits Rolled over timing financial Share intangible
 depreciation obligations capital gains differences instruments  options assets Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 30 July 2011 4,869 (3,073) 709 (1,057) 1 – 2,478 3,927
Acquisitions 34 – – – – – 5,728 5,762
(Credit)/charge to the Consolidated  
 Income Statement (803) 539 (617) 291 – – (1,701) (2,291)
Items taken directly to equity  – (2,063) – – 14 – – (2,049)

Balance at 27 July 2012 4,100 (4,597) 92 (766) 15 – 6,505 5,349
Acquisitions (150) – – – –   1,490 1,340
Reclassification – – – 240 – (240)    
Credit to the Consolidated  
 Income Statement (178) (197) (12) (135) – (195) (1,769) (2,486)
Items taken directly to equity  – 4,794 – – (2) (564) – 4,228

Balance at 2 August 2013 3,772 – 80 (661) 13 (999) 6,226 8,431
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 
deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 

At 2 August 2013, deferred tax assets in respect of losses, at current tax rates, all of which have an unlimited life, are as follows:
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Unrecognised deferred tax in respect of trading losses     251 289
Unrecognised deferred tax in respect of capital losses     779 896

       1,030 1,185

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates defined contribution schemes for all qualifying employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group 
in funds under control of the trustees. Payments to the schemes are expensed to the Consolidated Income Statement as they fall due. The total expense 
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for continuing operations of £949,000 (2012 – £672,000) represents contributions payable to these 
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. At 2 August 2013, contributions of £183,000 (2012 – £162,000) due in respect 
of the 2013 reporting period had not been paid over to the schemes. The amounts were paid over subsequent to the balance sheet date, within the 
requisite time limits.

Defined benefits scheme – St Ives Group
The Group operates the St Ives defined benefits pension scheme, with assets held in separate trustee administered funds. This scheme was closed  
to new entrants from 6 April 2002, and closed to future benefit accruals with effect from 31 August 2008. 

The most recent full actuarial valuations of the scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefits obligations were carried out in April 2013  
by Jonathan Punter, Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries, Punter Southall & Co Ltd, (‘the actuary’) who is independent of the Group. This valuation  
was updated at 2 August 2013. The present value of the defined benefits obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost,  
were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:
       2013 2012
      per annum per annum

Discount rate      4.75% 4.50%
Expected rate of inflation      3.10% 2.70%
Expected rate of salary increases      nil nil
Future pension increases      2.95% 2.65%

Post-retirement mortality in the 2013 and 2012 calculation is in accordance with the S1PA tables with an allowance of 1% lighter mortality for females. 
Future improvements from 2004 have been assumed in line with the 2009 CMI model and a long-term improvement of 1% per annum. No adjustment 
has been made to the base table for males.

The amount recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefits scheme assets/(liabilities) is as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Present value of funded obligations      (278,313) (270,909)
Fair value of scheme assets      278,397 250,918

Assets/(liabilities)      84 (19,991)

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of the defined benefits scheme are as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Current service cost      200 200
Curtailments      – (397)
Interest on obligation (note 10)      11,945 13,907
Expected return on scheme assets (note 9)      (12,318) (15,009)

       (173) (1,299)

The current service cost was allocated to functional cost lines in the Consolidated Income Statement. Expected return on assets is recorded under 
investment income and interest on obligation is recorded under finance costs. The actual return on scheme assets was a profit of £35,832,000  
(2012 – £13,240,000).The cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated Comprehensive Income is £32,067,000.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED
Changes in the present value of defined benefits obligations are as follows:
      53 weeks to 52 weeks to
      2 August 27 July
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Opening defined benefits obligation      270,909 258,269
Service cost      200 200
Interest cost      11,945 13,907
Curtailments and settlements      – (1,338)
Age-related rebates      2 39
Actuarial losses      6,315 9,487
Benefits paid      (11,058) (9,655)

Closing defined benefits obligation      278,313 270,909

At 2 August 2013, contributions of £183,000 (2012 – £183,000) due in respect of the 2012 reporting period had not been paid over to the schemes.  
In the prior period, curtailments and settlements of £1,338,000 included Patrick Martell’s transfer out value of £941,000 which was paid on 1 March 2012.

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
      53 weeks to 52 weeks to
      2 August 27 July
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Opening fair value of scheme assets      250,918 245,974
Expected returns      12,318 15,009
Actuarial (losses)/gains      23,514 (1,769)
Contributions by employer      2,703 2,261
Age-related rebates      2 39
Benefits paid      (11,058) (9,655)
Settlements      – (941)

Closing fair value of scheme assets      278,397 250,918

The fair value of the scheme assets at the balance sheet date is analysed as follows:
     Long-term  Long-term
    rate of return  rate of return
    expected at  Value at expected at Value at
    2 August 2013 2 August 2013 27 July 2012 27 July 2012
    per annum £’000 per annum £’000

Equity instruments    7.00% 188,801 6.30% 158,829
Bonds    3.50% 88,466 2.80% 89,440
Other     0.50% 1,130 0.50% 2,649

      278,397  250,918

The scheme assets do not include any of the Group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the Group.  
The expected rates of return on the individual categories of the scheme assets are determined following actuarial advice. The overall expected rate  
of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the anticipated balance in the scheme’s investment portfolio.

The history of the scheme for the current and prior period is as follows:
    2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value of scheme assets   278,397 250,918 245,974 218,218 194,199
Present value of defined benefits obligations   (278,313) (270,909) (258,269) (251,105) (232,482)

Net surplus/(obligations)   84 (19,991) (12,295) (32,887) (38,283)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities   (7,456) 9,487 2,700 8,844 (1,462)

Percentage of total scheme obligation   (2.7%) 3.5% 1.0% 3.5% (0.6%)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets   23,514 (1,769) 18,775 16,431 (4,049)
Percentage of scheme assets   8.4% (0.7%) 7.6% 7.5% (2.1%)

The Group currently contributes £2,200,000 to the scheme. The scheme’s triennial valuation was as at April 2013 and discussions with the scheme 
trustee are therefore underway for the future funding levels.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s Treasury function is responsible for managing the Group’s exposure to financial risk and operates within a defined set of policies and 
procedures reviewed and approved by the Board.

Interest rate risk
The Group carries a cash flow risk where there are changes in the interest rate levied on the Group’s borrowings as currently interest on the majority of 
the Group’s borrowings is at floating rates. The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings and bank borrowings. Group policy 
is to constantly review the exposure risk to interest rate fluctuations in relation to the risk as a proportion of Group earnings and wherever possible with 
matching short-term deposits of surplus funds. The Group is not subject to fair value interest rate risk as the majority of debt is at floating rates.

Interest rate management
An analysis of financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate risk is set out below:

Financial assets subject to interest rate risk
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Pound sterling      14,592 11,566
US dollar      595 160
Euro      339 383
Singapore dollar      54 –
Japanese yen      1 –

       15,581  12,109

The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, all of which attract interest at floating rates based upon LIBOR or equivalent 
measures.

Financial liabilities subject to interest rate risk
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Pound sterling bank loans      30,000 25,000

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise loan borrowings which bear interest at floating rates based upon LIBOR, and overdraft borrowings which bear 
interest at floating rates based upon UK base rate.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The analysis shows the additional charge to Consolidated Income Statement assuming that the amount of the liability outstanding at the balance sheet 
date was outstanding for the entire period.
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

100% movement in Sterling LIBOR      153 140

The changes would not have impacted other equity reserves as all interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are subject to floating interest rates  
and their fair values do not fluctuate with changes in interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk
From time to time the Group enters into contracts to supply goods to customers trading in continental Europe at prices denominated in Euros,  
to customers trading in the USA at prices denominated in US dollars, to customers trading in Japan at prices denominated in Japanese yen and  
to customers trading in Singapore at prices denominated in Singapore dollars.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
Forward foreign exchange contracts
The Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts and to manage the risk associated 
with anticipated sale and purchase transactions. Basis adjustments are made to the carrying amount of non-financial hedged items when the anticipated 
sale or purchase transaction takes place.

The following table details the forward currency contracts outstanding at the period end:
     Average
    exchange rate Foreign Contract
    Pound sterling: currency value Fair value
    foreign currency ‘000 £’000 £’000

Sell US dollars (up to 12 months)    1.54 142 92 (1)
Sell Euros (up to 12 months)    1.20 1,150 956 (43)

Forward foreign exchange contracts have been used to hedge the exchange rate risk arising from these commitments which are designated as cash 
flow hedges. As at 2 August 2013, the aggregate amount of unrealised profits under forward foreign exchange contracts deferred in the hedging reserve 
relating to the exposure on trade receivables and anticipated sale transactions amounted to £50,000. It is anticipated that the sales will be made in the 
12 months following the balance sheet date. 

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, which represent the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their 
assessment of the current economic environment. The Group’s credit risk is relatively low as the Group maintains credit insurance up to a maximum 
aggregate claim in any one year of £8.2 million. In addition, its UK subsidiaries’ sales are principally with a large number of counterparties and customers 
in the UK, and are denominated in Pound sterling.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. Trade receivables include an amount with a single large 
customer which represents more than 10% of the total balance. This customer has the highest credit score attributable under the credit scoring method 
used by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £9.0 million (2012 – £16.2 million) which are past due at the 
reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of impaired receivables
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Between 0 and 59 days      88 –
Between 60 and 89 days      – 767
Between 90 and 119 days      395 810
120 days and above      847 368

       1,330 1,945

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Balance at the beginning of the period       1,945 2,034
Impairment losses recognised       281 239
Amounts written-off as uncollectible      (48) (318)
Impairment losses reversed      (848) (10)

Balance at the end of the period       1,330 1,945

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the quality of the trade receivable from the date the credit 
was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated, and being 
covered by credit insurance arrangements. Accordingly, the Directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance 
for doubtful debts.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables:
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Between 0 and 59 days      7,390 14,894
Between 60 and 89 days      1,437 1,310
Between 90 and 119 days      149 –

      8,976 16,204

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to maintain flexibility with respect to its liquidity position, by utilising short-term cash deposits and, where necessary, short-term 
bank borrowings for working capital and longer-term borrowings for capital expenditure requirements. The Group negotiated an increase in its three  
year revolving multicurrency facility from £55.0 million to £70.0 million in the current period. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of £15.0 million 
to fund short-term working capital requirements. The contractual maturities of drawn down borrowings, as well as undrawn facilities, are detailed in  
note 22.

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will each be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings 
disclosed in note 22, cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained 
earnings as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The above risks are adhered by the Group in the current and the prior financial period.

29. SHARE CAPITAL
       Ordinary shares
      Number of 10p each
      of shares £’000

Issued and fully paid:
At 27 July 2012      119,826,366 11,983
Issued in the period      1,877,063 188

At 2 August 2013      121,703,429 12,171

All authorised and issued share capital is represented by equity shareholdings.

30. ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL
      Capital 
    Share Merger redemption
    premium Reserve reserve Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 30 July 2011    46,689 851 1,238 48,778
Issue of share capital    – 2,250 – 2,250
Transfer of contingent consideration deemed as remuneration   – 43 – 43

Balance at 27 July 2012    46,689 3,144 1,238 51,071
Issue of share capital    – 393 – 393
Transfer of contingent consideration deemed as remuneration   – 401 – 401

Balance at 2 August 2013    46,689 3,938 1,238 51,865
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Reconciliation of cash generated from operations
       2012
       2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Profit from continuing operations      7,535 6,617

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment      7,482 7,837
Impairment losses      2,205 832
Amortisation of intangible assets      6,150 4,556
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment      (280) (1,605)
Increase in deferred income      2,075 436
Share-based payment charge      1,281 766
Settlement of share based payment      (221) –
Increase in derivatives      (616) –
Cash contributions to defined benefit pension schemes     (2,503) (2,458)
Increase in contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration    1,844 4,113
Increase in provisions      53 225

Operating cash inflows before movements in working capital     25,005 21,319
(Increase)/decrease in inventories      (1,069) 212
Decrease/(increase) in receivables      21,279 (14,955)
(Decrease)/increase in payables      (9,283) 1,532

Cash generated from operations      35,932 8,108

Analysis of net debt
  27 July     2 August
  2012 Cash flow Acquired Reclassify FX gains 2013
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 and losses £’000

Cash and cash equivalents  12,109 3,483 – – (11) 15,581
Finance lease obligations due less than one year  – (37) (46) (86) – (169)
Finance lease obligations due more than one year  – (639) (23) 86 – (576)
Bank loans  (25,550) (4,450) – – – (30,000)

   (13,441) (1,643) (69) – (11) (15,164)

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet) comprise cash at bank and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less. The effective interest rates on cash and cash equivalents are based on 
current market rates.

32. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided      250 1,921

At 2 August 2013, the Group had outstanding commitments for the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

    2013  2012
    Land and  2013 Land and 2012
    buildings Other buildings Other
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year    2,656 1,566 1,680 1,758
Between two and five years    8,028 1,408 6,410 1,894
After five years    – – 4,678 3

     10,684 2,974 12,768 3,655

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company operates a number of share-based payment schemes for certain employees of the Group. IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment has been 
applied to all share-based rewards:

Discretionary Executive Share Option Scheme 2001 (‘ESOS 2001’)
Executive Directors and certain members of senior management have been granted share options under the Company’s discretionary share option 
schemes. Details of the ESOS 2001 Scheme are included on pages 48 and 57 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

A reconciliation of the movement is shown below:
        Weighted average  
     Number of options  exercise price

     2013 2012 2013 2012
    ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Outstanding at the beginning of the period    2,082 2,232 0.66 0.66
Granted during the period    – – – –
Lapsed during the period    – (150) – 0.62
Exercised during the period    (1,832) – 0.66 –

Outstanding at the end of the period    250 2,082 0.64 0.66

Exercisable at the end of the period    250 – 0.64 –

Long-term Incentive Plan 2010 (the ‘LTIP’)
Executive Directors and certain members of senior management have been granted nil-cost share options under the Company’s long-term incentive 
plan. Details of the LTIP are included on pages 48 and 59 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

      2013 2012
      ‘000 ‘000

Number of options:     
Outstanding at the beginning of the period      3,245 1,197
Granted during the period      1,990 2,251
Lapsed during the period      (383) (203)

Outstanding at the end of the period      4,852 3,245

Exercisable at the end of the period      – –

The fair value of the options granted in the current period under the LTIP scheme were measured using a Black-Scholes options pricing model.  
The inputs to the model are:
       LTIP

Weighted average mid-market share price        £0.95
Weighted average exercise price       £Nil
Expected life       3 years
Expected volatility       30.00%
Risk free rate       2.00%
Dividend yield       5.00%
Weighted average fair value of the options        £1.10



100 St Ives plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Save As You Earn Share Option Plan (‘Sharesave Plan’)
The Company has granted share options to eligible employees under an HMRC-approved all-employee Sharesave Plan. Details of the SAYE Scheme are 
included on pages 48 and 57 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

A reconciliation of the movement in the share options is shown below:
        Weighted average  
     Number of options  exercise price

     2013 2012 2013 2012
    ‘000 ‘000 £‘ £‘

Outstanding at the beginning of the period    976 – 0.66 –
Granted during the period    999 995 1.09 0.66
Lapsed during the period    (128) (19) 0.73 –
Exercised during the period    (6) – 0.67 –

Outstanding at the end of the period    1,841 976 0.88 0.66

Exercisable at the end of the period    – – – –

The fair value of the options granted in the current period under the SAYE scheme were measured using a Black-Scholes options pricing model.  
The inputs to the model are:
       SAYE 

Weighted average mid-market share price       £1.36
Weighted average exercise price       £1.09
Expected life       3 years
Expected volatility       30.00%
Risk free rate       2.00%
Dividend yield       5.00%
Weighted average fair value of the options       £1.39

Share-based contingent consideration required to treated as remuneration
The Group recognised a share based charge of £3,639,000 (2012 - £3,460,000) relating to contingent consideration for the acquisition of Tactical 
Solutions, Response One, Pragma, Incite and Branded3.

The Group recognised a total charge of £4,919,000 (2012 – £4,227,000) relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The exercise price 
of options outstanding at 2 August 2012 ranges between £Nil and £1.09. 

Deferred Bonus Scheme
On 2 November 2012, pursuant to the Directors and Senior Executives Deferred Bonus Scheme outlined on page 47 of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report, a portion of the net bonus payable to Patrick Martell, Matt Armitage and Lloyd Wigglesworth in respect of the 2012 financial period was used 
to purchase 262,232 ordinary shares in the Company from the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) on behalf of these Directors at 101.45 pence per 
share.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this 
note. No material related party transactions have been entered into during the current period, which might reasonably affect the decisions made by the 
users of these financial statements.

On 2 November 2012, shares in the Company were purchased from the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust on behalf of Patrick Martell, Matt Armitage and 
Lloyd Wigglesworth as outlined in note 33. 

No other executive officers of the Company or their associates had material transactions with the Group during the period.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors and other executives who are key management personnel of the Group is set out below in aggregate for each of the 
categories specified in International Accounting Standard 24 − Related Party Disclosures:
       2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits      1,945 2,095
Post-employment benefits      19 19
Termination benefits      3 –
Share-based payment      592 427

       2,559 2,541

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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35. LIST OF PRINCIPAL UNDERTAKINGS
The principal trading subsidiaries of the Company as at 2 August 2013 are shown below. All are wholly-owned subsidiaries; with the exception of Tactical 
Solutions (UK) Limited and Flare Limited which are 90% owned. With the exception of any marked (†) which are owned directly, all are owned via wholly-
owned intermediate holding companies.

The following companies are incorporated and registered in England and Wales:
     Nature of Business Location

Amaze (Holdings) Limited    Marketing Services Manchester
Amaze Communications Services Holdings Limited    Marketing Services Manchester
Amaze Communications Services Limited    Marketing Services Manchester
Amaze Europe Limited    Marketing Services Manchester 
Amaze Technology Limited    Marketing Services Manchester
Amaze plc    Marketing Services Manchester
Branded3 Search Limited    Marketing Services Leeds
Clays Limited    Print Services Bungay 
Flare Limited    Marketing Services Chester 
Incite Marketing Planning Limited †    Marketing Services London
Pragma Consulting Limited    Marketing Services London
Response One Limited    Marketing Services London
Occam DM Limited †    Marketing Services Chilcompton
St Ives Burnley Limited    Print Services Burnley
St Ives Direct Bradford Limited    Print Services Bradford
St Ives Management Services Limited    Print Services London
Service Graphics Limited †    Print Services London & other UK sites
SP Group Limited †    Print Services Birmingham/Redditch
Tactical Solutions (UK) Limited †    Marketing Services Chester
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ST IVES PLC

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of St Ives plc for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013, which comprise the Parent Company 
Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 16. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). This report is made solely to the Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Parent Company financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Parent Company 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 2 August 2013;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the Parent 

Company financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by us; or
• the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of St Ives plc for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013.

Kate J. Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London

1 October 2013
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

       27 July
      2 August 2012
      2013 (Restated)**
     Note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets   
Tangible assets     5 33,164 33,928
Investments     6 165,970 141,070

      199,134 174,998

   
Current assets   
Debtors – amounts falling due within one year     7 7,217 13,998
Debtors – amounts falling due after more than one year    7 240 –

      7,457 13,998
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year     8 (33,755) (29,523)

Net current liabilities      (26,298) (15,525)

Total assets less current liabilities      172,836 159,473
   
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year    8 (30,000) (25,000)
Provision for liabilities     10 (226) (551)

Net assets      142,610 133,922

Capital and reserves   
Share capital     11 12,171 11,983
Share premium account     11 46,689 46,689
Other reserves     12 11,154 8,438
Profit and loss account     13 72,596 66,812

Total equity      142,610 133,922

** The results for the prior period have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services (note 16).

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 October 2013 and signed on its behalf by

Patrick Martell Matt Armitage
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements. Further detail is contained in the Directors’ Report on pages 40 to 42.

(a) Accounting convention
The financial statements of the Company are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for revaluation of certain land and buildings and 
financial instruments.

(b) Accounting period
The financial statements are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 2 August 2013 (‘the financial period’). Comparative figures are for the 52 weeks ended 
27 July 2012.

(c) Tangible fixed assets
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or assets in the course of construction. On other assets it is provided on cost or revalued amounts in equal 
annual instalments over the estimated lives of the assets. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:

Freehold buildings        2% – 4%
Long leases       Period of lease
Plant and machinery        10% – 331/3%
Fixtures, fittings and equipment        10% – 331/3%
Motor vehicles        20% – 25%

As permitted by Financial Reporting Standard 15 − Tangible Fixed Assets (‘FRS 15’), those freehold buildings valued at 31 July 1985 continue to be 
carried at that value, subject to depreciation.

(d) Investments
Investments are stated at historical cost, less any provision for impairment.

(e) Tax
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax,  
at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates and law. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items 
of income and expenditure in tax computations in periods different from those in which they are included in financial statements.

Deferred tax is not provided on timing differences from the revaluation of fixed assets where there is no commitment to sell the asset, or on unremitted 
earnings where there is no commitment to remit these earnings. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than 
not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(f) Provision for repairs
As the Company is committed under the terms of a lease to make repairs to leasehold premises, provision is made for the estimated cost of repairs over 
the lease period.
 
(g) Foreign currencies
Where foreign currency borrowings have been used to finance or provide a hedge against equity investments in overseas subsidiaries, exchange gains 
or losses on the borrowings have been offset in reserves to the extent that they do not exceed the associated exchange differences arising on the 
retranslation of net investments.

The transactions of the Company denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Pound sterling at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Amounts receivable and payable denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the rates ruling at that date. These 
exchange differences are included in profit on ordinary activities before tax.
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(h) Share-based payments
The Company makes equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees, which are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value 
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Company’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value of share options issued is measured using a binomial model. The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural 
considerations.

The cumulative expense is reversed when an employee in receipt of the share options terminates service prior to the completion of vesting period.  
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified on termination of the employment, the total fair value of the share-based payments is recorded 
in the Profit and loss account.

(i) Derivative financial instruments
The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Company uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange for the purchase of capital equipment denominated in foreign currencies and 
the sale of goods similarly denominated.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written principles on the use  
of financial derivatives consistent with the Group’s risk management strategy. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments  
for speculative purposes.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges of forecast transactions are recognised 
directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account. If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or 
forecast transaction results in the recognition of an asset or liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains and losses 
on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For the hedges that do not 
result in the recognition of an asset or liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the profit and loss account in the same period in which the 
hedged item affects the net profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.  
If a hedge transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the profit and loss 
account for the period.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are 
not closely related to those of their host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in the profit 
and loss account.

Those derivatives which are not designated as hedges are classified as held for trading and gains and losses on those instruments are recognised 
immediately in the profit and loss account.

(j) Pension costs
The Company operates a defined benefits pension scheme and a defined contribution pension scheme. The Company accounts for the defined benefits 
pension scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme under the provisions of FRS 17. Pension costs for the Company’s defined contribution 
scheme are charged against profits as payable. Further details are set out in note 14.

(k) Leases
Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in equal annual amounts over the periods of leases.

(l) Cash flows
A statement of cash flows has not been prepared for the Company as, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 1 (Revised): ‘Cash Flow 
Statements’ (‘FRS 1’), cash flow information has been shown in the financial statements of the ultimate parent company.

2. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no profit and loss account of the Company is included in these financial statements.  
The profit for the financial period for the Company was £11.0 million (2012 – £14.0 million).

3. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Fees paid to the auditors in respect of their audit of the Company were £105,000 (2012 – £68,000).
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

4. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
      2013 2012
      Number Number

Sales       2 14
Administration      52 36

      54 50

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
       2012
      2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries      4,317 4,222
Social security costs      336 372
Other pension costs       93 93
Share-based payment       4,919 4,227

      9,665 8,914

5. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
   Land and  Land and  Fixtures, fittings,
   buildings  buildings Plant and equipment and
   Freehold Long leases machinery motor vehicles Total
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation:          
At 30 July 2011   46,121  6,736  3,491  2,211  58,559 
Additions   −  29  24  332  385 
Transfers from subsidiaries   314  −  −  −  314 
Disposals   (6,994) −  −  (21) (7,015)

At 27 July 2012   39,441  6,765  3,515  2,522  52,243 
Additions   37  55  53  277  422 
Transfers from subsidiaries   399  −  −  −  399 

At 2 August 2013   39,877  6,820  3,568  2,799  53,064 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:          
At 30 July 2011   13,035  3,060  2,518  773  19,386 
Charge   691  300  251  375  1,617 
Impairment   832  −  −  −  832 
Transfers from subsidiaries   300  −  −  −  300 
Disposals   (3,799) −  −  (21) (3,820)

At 27 July 2012   11,059  3,360  2,769  1,127  18,315 
Charge   705  206  239  435  1,585 

At 2 August 2013   11,764  3,566  3,008  1,562  19,900 

Net book value:     
At 2 August 2013   28,113  3,254  560  1,237  33,164 

At 27 July 2012   28,382  3,405  746  1,395  33,928 

The Company has freehold land with a book value of £4,320,000 (2012 – £4,320,000) which has not been depreciated. 

The net book value of the Company’s land and buildings includes £186,000 (2012 – £192,000) in respect of assets revalued on 31 July 1985.  
The historical written down cost of these assets would have been £72,000 (2012 – £76,000).
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6. INVESTMENTS HELD AS FIXED ASSETS
     Shares in 
    subsidiaries  Loans to Available for
    at cost subsidiaries sale assets Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 28 July 2012 (Restated)    129,245 9,325 2,500 141,070
Additional shares issued by the subsidiaries    5 − − 5
Acquisitions    − − 597 597
Loan advances    − 32,629 − 32,629
Loan repayments    − (6,750) − (6,750)
Impairment    − − (1,581) (1,581)

At 2 August 2013    129,250 35,204 1,516 165,970

All of the above are unlisted investments. The principal trading subsidiaries are listed in note 35 of the Group financial statements.

Additional shares at cost relate to the shares issued in Occam DM Limited. Other available for sale assets represent investments in EasyPress Group 
Limited and Sponge Limited, as disclosed in note 17 of the notes to the Group financial statements. The investment in Sponge Limited was impaired  
in the period by £1,581,000 based on their current financial performance.

7. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Within one year  
Amounts owed by Group undertakings      982 6,890 
Loans receivable       – 2,456 
Other debtors      1,483 959 
Tax recoverable      2,586 2,427 
Prepayments and accrued income      1,431 1,205 
Derivative assets      735 61 

      7,217 13,998

After more than one year  
Deferred tax      240 −

      240 −

The amounts of deferred tax provided in the financial statements are as follows:
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation      (408) (413)
Other timing differences      648 28

      240 (385)
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

8. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
       2012
      2013 (Restated)
      £’000 £’000

Within one year  
Amounts owing to Group undertakings      13,999 15,144
Bank loans and overdrafts (note 9)      10,340 3,694
Consideration payable on purchase of subsidiaries      – 2,221
Trade creditors      727 1,565
Derivative liabilities      29 –
Other creditors including tax and social security      5,502 5,352
Accruals and deferred income      3,158 1,547

      33,755 29,523

 
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

After more than one year  
Bank loans and overdrafts (note 9)      30,000 25,000

      30,000 25,000

9. BORROWINGS AND FINANCE OBLIGATIONS
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Within one year  
Bank overdrafts      10,340 3,694

      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

After more than one year  
Bank loans      30,000 25,000

Bank overdrafts and loans
In June 2013, the Group negotiated an increase its revolving multicurrency loan facility from £55 million to £70 million. Up to £15 million may be drawn  
as an overdraft facility. Interest on loan drawdowns is charged at LIBOR plus a margin which varies between 2.00% and 2.50%, depending on the ratio 
of the Group’s net debt to EBITDA excluding non-underlying items. Interest on overdraft drawdowns is charged at 2.00% over UK base rate. 

As at 2 August 2013, the Company’s outstanding loans, within this facility, were £30 million (2012 – £25 million). The undrawn portion of this facility  
at 2 August 2013 was £40 million (2012 – £30 million). 

The Company’s overdraft is guaranteed by certain United Kingdom subsidiary undertakings and the Company guarantees the loans and overdrafts 
of those United Kingdom subsidiary undertakings. At 2 August 2013, the aggregate liability for the Company under this guarantee amounted to 
£53,577,000 (2012 – £35,772,000). The aggregate value of the Company’s loans and overdraft liabilities guaranteed by certain United Kingdom 
subsidiaries amounted to £13,238,000 (2012 – £14,377,000).

As at 2 August 2013, there was no loan or overdraft secured against the assets of the Company (2012 – £Nil). The Directors consider that the carrying 
amount of the loans and overdrafts approximates their fair value.

The Company has guaranteed amounts payable to certain suppliers of one of its trading subsidiaries. The maximum aggregate liability under these 
guarantees is £812,000. 

10. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
     Provision for 
     repairs Deferred tax Total
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 28 July 2012     166  385  551 
Charge to profit and loss account     60  −  60 
Transfer to debtors due more than one year     −  (385) (385)

Balance at 2 August 2013     226  −  226 
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11. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT
      Ordinary shares Share premium
     Number  of 10p each account
     of shares £’000 £’000

Allotted and fully paid:      
At 28 July 2012 (Restated)     119,826,366  11,983  46,689 
Issue of share capital      1,877,063  188  − 

At 27 July 2012     121,703,429  12,171  46,689 

All authorised and issued share capital is represented by equity shareholdings. 

The following shares were issued as partial consideration in respect of acquisitions made during the current and prior period:
       Consideration
       Number of  received
      shares issued £’000

Pragma Holdings Limited      60,135  93 
Branded3 Search Limited      1,413,906  2,135 
Incite Marketing and Planning Limited      403,022  631 

       1,877,063  2,859 

Further details of these acquisitions are contained in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. 

12. OTHER RESERVES
  Capital
 Merger  redemption Share option ESOP Treasury Hedging
 Reserve reserve reserve reserve shares reserve Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 28 July 2012 (Restated) 3,144  1,238  4,351  (356) −  61  8,438 
Issue of share capital 393 −  (221) 1,967   −  2,139 
Purchase of own shares −  −  −  (1,811) (62) −  (1,873)
Transfer of contingent consideration  
 deemed as remuneration 401 −  (3,344) −  −  −  (2,943)
Recognition of share-based payments −  −  4,919  −  −  −  4,919
Deferred tax on share-based payments −  −  564  −  −  −  564 
Gains on cash flow hedges:       
Transferred to underlying hedged items −  −  −  −  −  (61) (61)
Arising on forward currency contracts −  −  −  −  −  (29) (29)

Balance at 2 August 2013 3,938  1,238  6,269  (200) (62) (29) 11,154 

The merger reserve includes the additional paid in capital for the acquisitions of Occam, Tactical Solutions, Response One, Pragma, Incite, Amaze and 
Branded3.

During the period, the Group’s employee benefit trust acquired 1,480,717 shares in the Company at the market value.

On 2 November 2012, pursuant to the Directors and Senior Executives Deferred Bonus Scheme outlined on page 49 of the Directors’ Report, a portion 
of the net bonus payable to Patrick Martell, Matt Armitage and Lloyd Wigglesworth in respect of the 2012 financial period was used to purchase 262,232 
ordinary shares in the Company from the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) on behalf of these Directors at 101.45 pence per share. During the 
period 1,845,549 additional ordinary shares were purchased from EBT to satisfy options exercised under the Group’s share options schemes (note 33). 

When the shares were purchased from the EBT on behalf of the employees, an amount equivalent to their original cost of £1,967,000 was released from 
the ESOP reserve with the difference of £1,369,000 between the fair value of the awards and the original cost to the EBT of the shares taken directly to 
the retained earnings. 

During the period share based contingent charge of £3,344,000 relating to the past acquisitions was released from share option reserve with the 
difference of £3,331,000 between the financial liability and the original cost of the shares taken directly to the retained earnings. 

As at 2 August 2013, the Company held a portfolio of treasury shares consisting of 40,000 ordinary shares.
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13. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
       (Restated)
       £’000

Balance at 28 July 2012       66,812
Net profit for the financial period       10,992
Issue of share capital       (1,369)
Transfer of share-based contingent consideration deemed as remuneration     3,331
Dividends paid on equity shares       (7,170)

Balance at 2 August 2013       72,596

The adjustment to retained earnings in respect of the recognition of share-based payments is explained in note 12 above. 

14. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company participates in both the defined benefits and defined contribution schemes operated by St Ives plc. The defined benefits scheme is a 
multi-employer scheme, the assets and liabilities of which are held in separate trustee-administered funds. The pension costs are based on pension 
costs across the Group as a whole. For the defined contribution scheme, the profit and loss charge represents contributions payable.

The pension costs of the Company are disclosed in note 4.

For the purpose of FRS 17, the Company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the defined benefits scheme on a 
consistent and reasonable basis. Accordingly, the Company accounts for the defined benefits scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 

The defined benefits scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from 6 April 2002 and closed to future benefit accrual from 31 August 2008.  
There are no contributions to fund future defined benefit accrual after 31 August 2008. Regular contributions of £2,200,000 were made in the period.  
The Scheme’s triennial valuation was as at April 2013 and discussions with the Scheme Trustee are therefore underway for the future funding levels.

The Group is required to account for the defined benefits scheme under International Accounting Standard 19 − Employee Benefits (‘IAS 19’).  
The IAS 19 disclosures, included in note 27 of the notes to the Group financial statements, have been based on the results of the actuarial valuation  
of the defined benefits scheme as at 6 April 2013 adjusted to allow for the assumptions and actuarial methodology required by IAS 19 and updated  
to 2 August 2013 by the scheme’s actuary. These disclosures show that the scheme’s assets represented 100.0% of the scheme’s liabilities (2012 – 
92.6%).

15. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
      2013 2012
      £’000 £’000

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided      250 –

16. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
In January 2013, the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued revised guidance in respect of IFRS 3 
“Business Combinations”. Under this guidance, contingent consideration for acquired subsidiaries where the selling shareholders continue to be 
employed by the Group, but which is automatically forfeited upon termination of employment, is now required to be classified as remuneration for  
post-combination services. Prior to this revised guidance, the contingent consideration could be treated for accounting purposes as either consideration 
or remuneration depending on the substance of the transaction. 

Previously the Group reached an overall conclusion based on a balanced assessment of all indicators, including whether payments are dependent 
on continuing employment and determined that these amounts were consideration rather than remuneration. The Group has accordingly changed its 
accounting policy to conform with the revised guidance, and the prior period comparatives have been re-stated. This change in accounting policy has  
no impact on net cash flow or net debt.

The impact of the prior period adjustments on the previously reported Company Balance Sheet are summarised as follows:

   52 weeks to 27 July 2012

     Previously
     Reported Adjustments Restated 
     £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments     152,524  (11,454) 141,070 
Net current liabilities     (34,801) 5,278  (29,523)
Share premium account     58,007  (11,318) 46,689 
Other reserves     2,054  6,384  8,438 
Profit and loss account     68,054  (1,242) 66,812 

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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FIVE YEAR RECORD

    52 weeks to 52 weeks to  
   53 weeks to 27 July  29 July 52 weeks to 52 weeks to
   2 August  2012 2011  30 July 31 July 
   2013 (Restated)** (Restated)**  2010 2009
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue     
Marketing Services   64,062 47,049  14,054  888  – 
Print Services   252,974 280,327  282,736  290,542  386,782 

   317,036 327,376  296,790  291,430  386,782 

Profit/(loss) from operations before non-underlying items
Marketing Services   7,567 4,011  450  (216) – 
Print Services   19,731 20,442  20,870  18,968  10,150 

   27,298 24,453  21,320  18,752  10,150 
Non-underlying items*   (19,763) (17,836) (5,860) (4,622) (14,532)

Profit/(loss) from operations   7,535 6,617 15,460  14,130  (4,382)
Investment income   12,598 15,239  13,973  13,267  12,857 
Finance costs   (13,073) (15,464) (14,388) (14,222) (15,716)

Profit/(loss) before taxation   7,060 6,392  15,045  13,175  (7,241)
Income tax (charge)/credit   (1,467) (1,579) (3,072) (1,974) 916 

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities after taxation   5,593 4,813 11,973  11,201  (6,325)
(Loss)/profit on discontinued operations   – –  (18,585) (3,463) (8,233)

Profit/(loss) for the period   5,593 4,813  (6,612) 7,738  (14,558)

Earnings per share (continuing operations)     
Basic (pence)   4.73 4.31  11.63  10.87  (6.14)

Before non-underlying items (pence)   16.93 15.61  14.45  11.83  4.94 

Balance sheet     
Property, plant and equipment   56,232 56,361  62,376  107,438  122,178 
Goodwill   90,148 70,824  62,253  54,383  46,274 
Other intangible assets   33,039 31,325  11,522  4,683  1,215 
Other non-current assets   2,325 3,050  2,429  5,052  8,008 
Assets held for sale   – –  –  2,140  1,282 
Other current assets   92,019 108,721  88,558  89,402  98,218 
Other current liabilities   (85,411) (86,264) (75,499) (84,606) (113,717)
Non-current liabilities   (40,163) (52,080) (17,597) (48,606) (41,390)

Net assets   148,189 131,937  134,042  129,886  122,068 

Revenue and profit/(loss) from operations before non-underlying items is shown by business segment. The figures for Print Services segment for the 
periods ended 1 August 2008 and 31 July 2009 include the results of the operations previously classified within the Media and Commercial segments, 
including those of the Magazine printing business. 

The Five Year Record is not audited.

* Non-underlying items comprise restructuring costs, provision releases, operating results of non-continuing sites, net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, acquisition 
costs, consideration required to be treated as remuneration amortisation of acquired intangibles and other one-off items.

** The results for the prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy on contingent consideration required to be treated as remuneration for post combination 
services.
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Financial year ended 27 July 2012 

Record date for final dividend 
Annual General Meeting 
Payment date for final dividend of 4.00 per ordinary share  
 
Financial year ended 2 August 2013 

Half year end 1 February 2013
Announcement of Half year results 12 March 2013
Record date for interim dividend 12 April 2013
Payment date for interim dividend of 2.00p per ordinary share 3 May 2013
Financial year end 2 August 2013
Announcement of Full year results 1 October 2013
Earliest date for IMS 11 October 2013
Annual General Meeting 26 November 2013
Ex-dividend date 27 November 2013
Record date for proposed final dividend 29 November 2013
Latest date for IMS 20 December 2013
Payment date for proposed final dividend of 4.50p per ordinary share  20 December 2013*
 
Financial year ended 1 August 2014 

Half year end 31 January 2014
Announcement of Half year results March 2014
Financial year end 1 August 2014

* If approved by shareholders at the 2013 Annual General Meeting the proposed final dividend will be paid on 20 December 2013.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Further information about the Group can be found on our website: www.st-ives.co.uk

This year’s Annual Report and Accounts, as well as copies of past years’ Annual Reports and Accounts, Half year and Interim Management Statements 
and Shareholder circulars, are available to view and download from our website. Regulatory announcements and press releases made during the year, 
and in past years, are also available to view in the Regulatory News section of the Investor Relations area of the website.

Should you wish to receive further copies of the Annual Report and Accounts or a copy of our Environmental Performance report, please contact the 
Company Secretary, St Ives plc, One Tudor Street, London EC4Y 0AH.

SHARES
St Ives plc ordinary shares of 10 pence each are listed on the London Stock Exchange and trade under the symbol: SIV. Our International Securities 
Identification Number (ISIN) is GB0007689002 and our Stock Exchange Daily Official List (SEDOL) number is 768900. 

Share price information and our latest regulatory announcements can be obtained from the Stock Exchange website, www.londonstockexchange.com

SHAREHOLDING ENQUIRIES
St Ives plc’s register is maintained by Capita Asset Services, who are able to deal with shareholders’ queries, including in respect of any of the  
following matters:

• transfer of shares
• change of name or address
• registering the death of a shareholder
• lost share certificates
• lost or out of date dividend warrants
• the payment of dividends directly into a bank or building society account.

Their contact details are: St Ives plc Shareholder Services, Capita Asset Services, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.

Capita’s shareholder helpline telephone number is 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10 pence per minute plus network extras). If you are calling from 
overseas, please telephone + 44 208 639 3399. Lines are open from 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., Monday to Friday.

Alternatively, you can email your query to our registrars at ssd@capitaregistars.com although, for legal reasons, they may subsequently require you  
to confirm any instruction in writing. 

OUR PRINCIPAL ADVISERS
Stockbrokers:
Numis Securities Limited, The London Stock Exchange Building, 10 Paternoster Square, London EC4M 7LT

Financial Advisers:
N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited, New Court, St Swithin’s Lane, London EC4P 4DU

Bankers:
HSBC Bank plc, 76 Edgware Road, London W2 2EQ

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, PO Box 2 AG, 63 Piccadilly, London W1A 2AG

Solicitors:
Herbert Smith Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London EC2A 2EG

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Design & Production
www.carrkamasa.co.uk

This publication is printed on UPM Fine Offset.  
The material used is derived from sustainable and 
renewable sources. The Paper and Printer are both  
FSC and ISO14001 accredited – all inks are vegetable 
based and all pulp is Elemental Chlorine free (ECF).

St Ives plc
Registered in England & Wales No. 1552113
Registered office
One Tudor Street
London EC4Y 0AH

http://www.carrkamasa.co.uk


One Tudor Street
London
EC4Y 0AH

Telephone  020 7928 8844
Fax  020 7902 6436
Email  marketing@st-ives.co.uk
Website  www.st-ives.co.uk
Twitter  @StIvesGroup
LinkedIn  St Ives plc
Google+  St Ives Group

http://www.st-ives.co.uk/
https://twitter.com/StIvesGroup
https://plus.google.com/108740929882026156902/posts
http://www.linkedin.com/company/712129
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